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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
¥ I Bt

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “"Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates its business through three segments, namely
integrated plastic solutions segment, electronic cigarette (the
“e-cigarette”) products segment and medical consumable products
segment. The integrated plastic solutions segment engages in mould
design and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The e-cigarettes products segment engages
in the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarette products. The Group's
medical consumable products segment engages in the manufacturing
and sales of disposable face masks products under our own brand name
of "CAREWE". The Group distributes our products within the domestic
market and to overseas markets, including Europe, Asia and the United
States (the “U.S.”). The Group has also obtained the Authorised Economic
Operator ("AEQ") Certificate issued by the China Customs, which could
improve the operational efficiency of the Group.

In 2024, the business environment remained volatile due to widespread
global inflation and uncertainties surrounding the global economic
slowdown. These factors contributed to subdued consumer sentiment
and more cautious spending behaviour, which in turn affected consumer
demand and sales orders. As a result, the Group recorded a decrease in
revenue and resulted in a loss after tax during the year. Despite these
uncontrollable external challenges and the unpredictable environment,
the Group has remained committed to investing in research and
development to drive long-term growth. A research and development
centre has been established at our Shenzhen office, with a primary focus
on developing new products for integrated plastic solutions segment and
advancing the core technology of e-cigarettes, including atomization, coil
technology and other related innovations.

During the Year, the Group's total revenue amounted to approximately
HK$539.6 million (2023: HK$697.5 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 22.6%. The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$110.1 million (2023: HK$135.9 million) with a gross
profit margin of approximately 20.4% (2023: 19.5%).
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The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$13.7 million (2023: profit of HK$23.5
million). Basic loss per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company were approximately 2.20 HK cents (2023: earnings per share
of 3.78 HK cents).

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

Global uncertainties such as international trade frictions, geopolitical
disruptions, inflationary pressures and economic volatility are expected
to persist, further complicating the business environment. In response,
we are committed to broadening our customer base by targeting those
in need of high-quality e-cigarettes and plastic products. In addition,
with the backing of our research and development centre, the Group's
core technologies and competitive strengths will be substantially
enhanced. This will facilitate the expansion of our product offerings,
including but not limited to e-cigarette products, plastic products and
medical consumable products, providing momentum for long-term
growth. Meanwhile, the Group will focus on enhancing cost efficiency
to strengthen its competitiveness. With these strategic initiatives, we
remain optimistic about the Group's prospects.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere gratitude
towards the continual support from the shareholders and the valuable
contributions of the staff. The management team will continue to fulfill
its duties to create more values for the shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE R iR

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions business division was
mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic injection
moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic components
employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated internally or by our
subcontractors.

The Group has the expertise to engineer and fabricate plastic injection
moulds with cavities, enabling the precise design and production of
plastic components tailored to the desired and customised design,
features and specifications. The Group has the technical capabilities
to fabricate moulds that meet the MT1 precision level as defined by
the “National Standard of the People's Republic of China GB/T14486-
2008-Dimensional Tolerances for Moulded Plastic Parts” (2 A R IEF1
BIBIZR 1R 4EGB/T14486-2008- ERHEZE 4 R ~H A %) which is the highest
precision level under the national guidelines. By utilising the plastic
injection process and applying the plastic injection moulds fabricated
by the Group or external subcontractors in limited cases, the Group
manufactures plastic components for office furniture, office electronic
products, home appliances, communication products, automobiles and
solar system.

Manufacturing of e-cigarette products

The Group manufactures e-cigarette products as an original equipment
manufacturer ("OEM") and sells to overseas and the People's Republic
of China (the “PRC"). Such e-cigarette products include disposable
e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery rods, clearomisers,
liquidpods and heated tobacco device. The Group obtained the Tobacco
Monopoly Production Enterprise License issued by the State Tobacco
Monopoly Administration of the People’'s Republic of China in respect of
OEM with validity period up to 2025.

In 2023, we established a research and development centre at our
Shenzhen office, dedicated to advancing core e-cigarette technologies.
This initiative focuses on improving atomization technology, innovating
coil design, and driving other key advancements in the e-cigarette sector.
The Group anticipates that this investment in research and development
will not only accelerate the development of new e-cigarette products,
but also enhance competitiveness, seize business opportunities, and
strengthen collaborations with other e-cigarette brands to foster deeper
partnerships. This effort aligns with the Group's strategic growth in the
e-cigarette segment.

Manufacturing of medical consumable products

The Group manufactures disposable face masks by utilising the
cleanroom facilities in the Group's production plant in Huizhou and
acquiring disposable face mask production machines since 2020, as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020. Apart
from this, the Group also engages in the manufacturing and sales of
medical devices products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS (conTINUED)
Manufacturing of medical consumable products (Continued)

The cleanroom facility in Huizhou has obtained the pharmaceutical
industry standards of “YY/T 0033-2000 Good manufacture practice
for sterile medical devices” issued by the National Medical Products
Administration in the PRC. The manufacturing quality system has
also fulfilled the standard of EN ISO13485:2016 Medical Devices
Quality Management Systems as certified by the Société Générale
de Surveillance S.A. ("SGS"). In addition, the Group has been granted
Medical Device Manufacturing Enterprise License (& & 284 4 = 5F 7] 75)
on medical device production issued by the National Medical Products
Administration in the PRC.

The procedure face masks were tested and proved to have attained
the standard of ASTM F2100 Level 3 in the U.S. and the standard of
EN14683 Type IIR in Europe. Apart from the procedure face masks, the
Group also developed face masks with higher level of protection, such
as particulate face masks — KN95 and FFP2. The particulate face mask —
KN95 has passed the requirements of GB2626-2019 standard in the PRC
and NIOSH N95 — Pre-Certification Test issued by the ICS Laboratories
in the U.S. In addition, the particulate face mask — FFP2 also passed the
requirements of EN 149:2001+A1:2009 standard, credited as FFP2 NR
protective respirator, and certified with CE Mark (through SGS Fimko Qy,
Notified Body #0598) granted by the SGS. Furthermore, the Group has
obtained the Section 510(k) premarket notification ("PMN") clearance
from the United States Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") in August
2022 on our surgical particulate face masks — N95 and FFP2, indicating
that our particulate face mask products are both safe and effective for
medical and surgical use, meeting all legal requirements for sale and
marketing in the U.S.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$539.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$157.9
million, or approximately 22.6%, from approximately HK$697.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions segment for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$445.6 million,
accounting for approximately 82.6% of our total revenue and
representing a decrease of approximately HK$126.8 million, or
approximately 22.2%, from segment revenue of approximately HK$572.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This was primarily due
to declining demand in consumer product markets, which resulted in a
decrease in sales orders from the Group's major customers during the
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BBt R IR 7 i

FINANCIAL REVIEW (cOoNTINUED)
Revenue (Continued)

The e-cigarette products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$91.0 million, accounting for
approximately 16.9% of our total revenue and representing a decrease
of approximately HK$31.7 million, or approximately 25.8%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$122.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily caused by a decrease in
sales orders for e-cigarette products during the year.

The medical consumable products segment revenue for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$3.0 million, accounting for
approximately 0.5% of our total revenue and representing an increase
of approximately HK$0.6 million, or approximately 25.0%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The growth was mainly due to an increase in sales of
medical device products during the year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$110.1 million (2023: HK$135.9 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 20.4% (2023: 19.5%).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2024 was
approximately HK$98.6 million (2023: HK$122.9 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 22.1% (2023: 21.5%). The increase in gross profit
margin was mainly due to a higher proportion of high-margin products
in the product mix starting from the second half of the year.

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2024 was
approximately HK$11.1 million (2023: HK$15.2 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 12.2% (2023: 12.4%).

Segment gross profit for medical consumable products for 2024
was approximately HK$0.4 million (2023: gross loss HK$2.2 million),
representing a gross profit margin of 13.3% (2023 gross loss margin
91.7%). The Group provided an allowance for inventories on slow-
moving medical consumable products for the year ended 31 December
2023, and it resulted in a gross loss for medical consumable products.
However, there was no such provision made for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (cONTINUED)
Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$8.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$7.6
million, or approximately 47.2%, from approximately HK$16.1 million for
the same period in 2023. The decrease was resulted from the decrease
in rental income and termination fee income. In 2023, the Group leased
the new factory premises to an independent third party; however, the
lease was terminated within the same year and a termination fee was
received from the tenant for early termination for the year ended 31
December 2023. No such termination fee income was received for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December
2024 were approximately HK$5.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$1.0 million, or approximately 21.7%, from
approximately HK$4.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The increase was primarily driven by higher sales volume from certain
customers who required our delivery services during the year.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 were approximately HK$116.7 million, which was
similar to that for the year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$114.8 million.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$2.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$2.6
million, or approximately 48.1%, from approximately HK$5.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the
repayment of secured bank borrowings with higher interest rates during
the year.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
approximately HK$2.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$0.4 million, or approximately 16.0%, from approximately HK$2.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was because
the super deduction that was previously available was not eligible to be
claimed for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Loss/Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, loss for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$13.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$37.2 million, or approximately 158.3%, from the profit
of approximately HK$23.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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'MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREnt R iR

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$129.5 million (2023: HK$132.6 million). Interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$31.2
million (2023: HK$61.9 million) with weighted average effective interest
rate of approximately 3.76% per annum (2023: 3.91% per annum). As at
31 December 2024, interest-bearing borrowings are wholly repayable
within two years since its inception and are denominated in Renmenbi.
The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024, calculated based on
the total borrowings to the equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was 5.6% (2023: 8.8%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transaction of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, U.S.
dollars and Renminbi. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations
by entering into foreign currency forward contracts, if necessary. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts. The Group will continue to evaluate the
Group's foreign currency exposure and take actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has made no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain buildings and certain right-of-use
assets in respect of the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$168.1 million (2023: HK$374.7
million) and key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$13.9 million (2023: HK$32.6 million) were pledged as
security for bank facilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any other significant
capital commitment (2023:HK$181,000).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2024 which
may have a significant effect on the assets and liabilities or future
operations of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group has 917 employees as at 31 December 2024. The total staff
costs during the year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$151.8 million, which was similar to that for the year ended 31
December 2023 of approximately HK$151.8 million. The Group's
remuneration policy is to compensate its employees based on their
performance, qualifications and the Group's operational results.
Remuneration of employees includes basic salaries, performance
bonus and share options. Directors and senior management of the
Group receive compensation in the form of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonus, share options, defined contribution plans and other
benefits in kind with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses its Directors and senior management for expenses which
are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to
the Group or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the
Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages (including incentive plans) of its Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things, market
level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies,
the respective responsibilities of its Directors and senior management
and the performance of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has no plan to make material investments or increase its
capital assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries have not purchased, redeemed
or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2024.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK1.5 cents per share).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS - tBREIGHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Overview

This "Environmental, Social, and Governance Report” (referred to as
the "ESG Report” or “Report”), is being presented by Tian Chang Group
Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (referred to as "Tian
Chang’, the "Group” or "We"). The purpose of this Report is to disclose
the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") initiatives, programs
and performance about the Group's activities during the period from
1st January 2024 to 31st December 2024 (referred to as the "Reporting
Period”, "FY2024", or "2024").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The scope of this ESG Report includes the Group's office operations in
Hong Kong, namely Tian Chang Industrial Limited, Sun Leader Mould
Industrial Limited and Tian Hong New Materials Technology Limited.
In addition, operations of integrated plastic solutions, manufacturing
of electronic cigarette (the “"e-cigarettes”) products and medical
consumable products in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") are
also covered in this ESG Report, which included Tian Chang Industrial
(Shenzhen) Limited* (REEZ(XII)ER AT, Hui Zhou Tian Chang
Industrial Company Limited* (MM AEZTEEGMR A F]), Sun Leader
Mould Industrial (Shenzhen) Limited* (FTF3EEEA (RYI) AR AR, Sun
Leader Mould Industrial (Huizhou) Limited* (BT FZE AT (FMN) AR
/7)) and Tian Hao New Materials Technology (Hui Zhou) Limited* (K&
SRR (N B R AR,

The Group considers that the above subsidiaries are relatively significant
from environmental and social perspectives, therefore, the relevant data
from these subsidiaries are collected and included in this ESG Report.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd., Tian Chang Investments Limited, Sun
Leader Holdings Limited, Tian Chang Holdings Limited and Guang Dong
Tian Yuan Electronic Technology Limited* (B AE TR AR AR
are excluded from this ESG Report as they have no business operation
and thus their contributions are immaterial to the Group.

For identification purpose only.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Please refer to the Stock
Exchange Content Index in this report for information on the location of
specific disclosures.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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RIE ~ HHBREIGIRS

Reporting Principles e R A

In the process of preparation of this Report, the Group have adhered to MR EARIRE HEREARE N BEREH - K
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as the S£BEEM TIRE - & R E ARSI P 5

following: KRS RA - AT AP -
Materiality A materiality assessment was conducted to identify material issues during the Reporting

Period, thereby acknowledging the material issues as the focus for preparation of this ESG
Report. Please refer to the sections headed "Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

B2 BPPETERMFEABRNRENRNEEZSRE  EMRACERNEEREIERER
RE - HEgMERMENER - AHE— B F2HSNHEL2E | M EEME]
B -

Quantitative Supplementary notes are added along with quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report

to explain any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

g1t BIE g REAREMBRENS(LEIRE AR TMIET - AR S8 R a8 R E
IR P52 R AR (AR ZE ~ J70E M R B SR o

Consistency The preparation approach of this ESG Report is substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of disclosure
or calculation methodologies.

—Bt RIRE  HEREGMENREFTEZABELFE -3 UTHKESERFFE T EZS
B BUR AR RE o

Balance This ESG Report is completed based on fact and actual data disclosure to avoid biased
judgement and misleading information to the report readers.

R $%%~ﬁ@&amﬁiﬁﬁﬁéA&Aéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&'Mﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi%%&ﬁﬁ
Bl THEE

Forward-looking Statements A BE 1 R At

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on the current — AR¥R& S A FIE MR - ZERMTIERKE
expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of EREEEBLEEMEMSNTEE - {
the Group about the businesses and the markets in which it and its &t J88] - Ea RBERMEL o ZZaEMRE
subsidiaries operate. The forward-looking statement is not a guarantee  MLITIEH R R RIBERE - WX HHER - T
of future performance and is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and ﬁﬁ;ﬁ.?&ﬁﬁlﬁiT HINEEFATE - R
factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, the actual outcomes - B4R T B AR A PR R AR R TSR
and returns may differ materially from the assumptions and statements ﬁﬁﬁ%—,ﬁ\ °

in this Report.

AEEBZRERA 13
zozzﬁﬁﬁ
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Contact and Feedback

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and we
welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on this ESG
Report. Please share any comments or suggestions regarding the
Group's ESG performance by info@hktcgroup.com.

Bk i e I BR

AEEFEEGRLEHEARE  BYRMY
BENEZHEEZ - MELEEHARE
EhERBEATMNERIEH HAB
info@hktcgroup.com o F EE AL EIRIE « #
g MERER ARk iEE -

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
B - tERERAEER

The Board
E5g

The ISO
Department

ISO RE& &R

The Board Statement

The Board takes overall responsibility for our ESG strategy, overseeing
the executive management in developing the approach and execution
of the strategy, as well as the associated reporting. The Group has a
clear organisational hierarchy to carry out different parts of operations
within the Group. The Board is responsible for overseeing long-term
sustainable development for all operating companies under the Group,
determining the Group's ESG approach and supervising the relevant
department in providing relevant policies with appropriate measures.
Furthermore, to attain the goal of sustainable development and meet
the stakeholders’ expectations, the Board will ensure close cooperation
between all departments and formulate clearer ESG objectives and
targets for the Group.

14 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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The Board Statement (Continued)

The Board exercises diligent oversight of ESG issues, reflecting the
Group's unwavering commitment to promoting sustainable development
throughout its business operations. Environmental considerations are
integrated into the decision-making processes, ensuring a harmonious
equilibrium among economic growth, environmental stewardship, and
societal well-being. The Board actively monitors and addresses ESG
challenges and opportunities, fostering long-term value creation while
upholding responsible business practices.

The ISO Department

The Group has accredited ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certifications, the
ISO department under the Board is mainly responsible for reviewing
ESG strategies and policies and act as a coordinator to oversee ESG
performance in our factories and operations. The ISO department sets
2021 as the baseline for the target reduction of different environmental
performance with the Board's approval. The I1SO department also closely
monitors and assesses the achievability of the targets. In addition,
information and management on sustainability risks and performance
are reported to the Board by the ISO department, through meetings
annually.

2030 Environmental target

Setting up ESG environmental targets is crucial for the Group committed
to sustainability and responsible business practices. These targets help
guide and measure our efforts in minimising environmental impacts and
promoting sustainability.

Below is our ESG Environmental targets:

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

EEEEBRHE)

EXeHRE HEhEREHETERE
B BRTASEAREEKEL D REKE
BRMBEAG  RENFEEBRARKEREBR
B BRELEER  REARENL B
ZEERME TS - EFESRBERMEY
RIE - @ RERWRNKEMEE - RER
HEEHE ARBFAEINEHEEER -

ISO B8 % =B

AEEEBHAIS0 9001 FIS0 14001 RE - HIB
EETHISOBRRTFTZTEERERE TR
ERRBEEEE  TEAHHAE  AEEER
MMRERE - L2 RERNEEREE - 1S5S0
EEBE T IA 2021 F AR EUSTH TN EIRIBE R
RUBBEEIE - WRHEESHAE - ISORREI
MEYERRFTEEEMNAERMY - v B
BAREERNERNRBEENREEHEH
ISOBRNERTHRTFRNEFTSER -

2030 FIRIFEEE

RERR e REREEHRAEEERS
RABEXRENASTIEXEEREZEEE - &
LHZEPNIEEMNGERMERLREZE
MR ERFEE TSN -

ATREMOIRE LB REANER

2030 ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS

2030 RIFEEE

~

Reduce energy consumption
intensity, including electricity,
gasoline, and natural gas, by
3% by 2030, using 2021 as
the baseline.

LA2021 1
20304 - 8
(BEED

Reduce water consumption
by 3% by the year 2030, using
2021 as the baseline.

LA2021 FEBE%E -+ Z|

20304 @ BAHEER D
3% o

Reduce hazardous and
non-hazardous waste by
10% by 2030, with 2021
set as the baseline.

L2021 F R EZE - &
20304 © #ERANIER
REEVIRA10% °

Reduce carbon emissions
by 10% by 2030, with

2021 set as the baseline.
A2021SF{ERESE - B
20304 - #5fix HE BUR
10% °

AREEEZERBRAF] 15
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2030 Environmental target (Continued)

By setting the ESG targets, we demonstrate our commitment to
environmental stewardship and sustainable practices. These targets
provide a roadmap for continuous improvement, drive innovation, and
contribute to a greener and more sustainable future.

Stakeholder Engagement

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving
future where we can create long-term value for our stakeholders.
We maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders, including
management, employees, customers, suppliers, business partners,
charity groups and investors, to receive their comments and understand
their expectations on what the ESG issues matter most via meetings,
interviews, and discussions. We have tried to reach our stakeholders
through different channels and consider ESG issues that are deemed
important by both the Group and stakeholders as material ESG issues.

The following table provides an overview of the Group's main
stakeholders and various platforms and communication channels to
reach and respond.

2030 FIRIFEHEW

BBRERE HegRERAR  RMARKRT
HRFEEEMAFEERN A - GLARR
SEMCERM T B WAESH TAIH - IR
BERBFEMAFENARRME TR -

KFESR

ERARENEE  BMEEERBERR
K- BERMANSHEAERBEE - HAIER
hE(BREEE EE TP  HUER X5
B ZEERRKREER)RBAHYE BB
G AR WA E R T BRI
HRE - HEREAFENRIHE - HME
ARTFRBERERNE - WEEIHAEE
MEDEHFEREZNRE HEMEARH
BHRREANZA -

TRERTAEEZERFHERRALERE
BABRZBMEE -

Major Stakeholders Engagement Channels
TERFDE BEEE
Shareholders and investors . Annual General meetings
° Financial reports
. Announcements and circulars
. Company websites
RERREE e REBFRE
o HIBHE
o NEREK
o DR
Customers ° Customer service hotline
° Customer complaint mechanism
° Social media
L Questionnaires
. Customer meetings
LSS o  EPRBAR
o EPIRFHE
o HIEE
e MHw#HE
s EFPEE
Employees . Training, seminars, and briefing sessions
. Performance reviews
== o Il HFEgNESRE

. G
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Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

'4/

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

FHhESHEH®)

Major Stakeholders Engagement Channels
TEHHE BEBEEE
Suppliers ° Supplier evaluation process
° Supplier audit
. Tender selection
Hrem o HERTERIE
o  HERMEZ
o IRIZERE
Communities and NGOs ° Community activities
o Employees volunteer activities
. Sponsor and donation
HERFIEB AR e HEEH
e BIEREED
o EOHIFIBE
Media and the Public ° ESG Reports
° Company website
B AR e R HEgRERAWME
VNS S
Government and ° Written or electronic correspondence
Regulatory Authorities . Phone meetings
TR AN B B s ZEHEXEFBERE
. TiEEH

Materiality Assessment

By maintaining ongoing communication with stakeholders, the Group
gains a comprehensive understanding of their expectations and
concerns. In line with the global sustainability agenda, international best
practices, operational risks and strategies, as well as stakeholder input,
the Group identifies and evaluates material issues for FY2024. To ensure
comprehensive coverage, key stakeholders are engaged in discussions
regarding critical ESG issues. Following internal management
deliberations, validated ESG issues are approved for implementation. A
survey is conducted on the identified material ESG topics to gather input
and feedback from stakeholders, and the results are summarised in the
matrix provided below.

BERMME

BREROGENFESRR ALE2@E T Ht
Wﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%g{ *ETF%ET—IF%’T%E%E‘
HEEEETE @ERRBKEULRFTMNEDN
2R $%@ﬁ§m§lﬁaﬁ$2024ﬂ7fﬂif§*5@§
TME - ABREEEE  FHERBEREOER
R g REREAETH®R AN EER
WwiE - EENRE HERERHELBRE
WESHEUHER - SETHEZIRE - 4
eREREBETALT  LKEFMHENER
MKREE - FEERTETEREEBAETT TR -

AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R
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LQ’R

High Materiality Matrix
= &8
= A 4 5B
‘ 7.0 | health and safety
| mxzenes
10. Supplier management
HEEER
14. Customer satisfaction x
12. Product innovation and EFREE

9. Prohibit child labor and

research

and development e b
ER AR r/ B ‘
‘
’J— O \ 13. Privacy and data security
6. Employment regulations R RBMERS
| mmEn ‘

forced labour
[~ D ) FLETEEHST
b, T
[\

ERRE

11. Product liability

16. Anti-corruption
RES
T

PR R E R
T

1 and waste managemen

R

15.Community building and
development

Impact on Stakeholders
HENENTE

8. Career development and
training

I S p—
B L — ,7 2. Energy and resource usage
— BERAERER

HEERABE BREERR R AEH
)
=] 4
3. Environmental and
’ natural resource
____——— RERRAAR
5. Climate change 4. Use of green and
AR environmentally friendly
raw materials
FERREAER
‘ -
.
& HAKEBEBNTE =
Low Impact on Business High

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group acknowledges the critical influence of environmental
performance on its business operations, particularly in addressing
ongoing challenges related to reducing greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions, conserving energy, and managing waste. Consequently,
the Group has established an environmental management system
to proactively mitigate its environmental impact and promote
sustainable practices.

The environmental management system is established in
accordance with ISO 14001:2015. Also, the Group has an
environmental data collection system to keep track of the
performance and monitor the efficiency of the measures adopted
in the past years.

A1: Emissions

The Group adheres to all applicable national and local laws,
regulations, and industry standards, including the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (PRC), the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution,
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, and the Law of the PRC
on Appraising Environmental Impacts.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1: Emissions (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations in relation to exhaust gas and GHG, emissions, water
and land discharge, and the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

Apart from the above-mentioned compliances with the national
and local laws and regulations, the Group has put additional effort
in regulating gas emissions, waste generation and usage of water
during the daily operation. The Group has established "Procedures
for Managing Wastewater, Exhaust Gas and Noise” which outlined
the daily procedures on reducing emissions on site.

Air Emissions

Vehicular consumption of fuel and power generation relies on
diesel fuel are the major sources of the Group's air pollution. The
exhaust gas generated by the Group includes nitrogen oxides
("NOx"), sulphur oxides ("SOx") and particulate matters ("PM"). To
mitigate air emissions, the Group has well established practices in
place for improving air quality.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's exhaust gas emissions
performance was as below:

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

A:RBE®

N 3:4C )

BERER - AREL B L ABRER
RAEBERIMABERBEN - FKELH
MRS - BEREEREMNELEFTNA
BINERME AR BEERERZENT
WL e

BT batiEsrER M TERERI - A
SEAERFEELETEME T HRBHN
FEEWERMKEE MBS o AR EH
ETDEK BREREEERF] R
DIRAEERMYEIR -

REEHIL

RNEFEHBEWMMEDEEMEE T BRE
MR RAEETRSEANEER
He AEBEAMNEIBERELD
(TNOx]) « & & 1k #([sox]) &1 58 K. ¥
([PM]) e BT R REHER  AEBE
KEVTRENEBERE L UNEERE

=
= °

EREHARN - REBEOERERERD
T

Direct Emissions Unit FY2024 FY2023
biztis {7 2024 HFE ARG
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 63.66 118.70
REYI (NOY NI

Sulphur Oxides (S0.) kg 0.46 0.75*
a L (S0, NS

Particulate Matter (PM) kg 5.07 7.69
FERYIHERL(PM) UNIY

Note: BisE -

* The data has been restated. * BERBEHRL -

AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) A:RE®

A1: Emissions (Continued) A1 BER )

Air Emissions (Continued) REEBEK (4)

The reduction in air emissions this year can also be attributed SEERBNEERENRAZBEER
to a decrease in the frequency of vehicle usage, as well as an FEAEERNEE - URE TEHIREREHD
increased awareness of environmental protection among our staff. B o B LA REH R PIRIE & A E
These factors have led to more efficient operational practices, EMOE TR T RE/LY(NOX) ~ B
contributing to lower emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur SAE W) (SOx) M EEHRL ) (PM) B BERT © $1 4
oxides (S0x), and particulate matter (PM). The measures taken for BB EFIE 0 = R FT R EL R 1B e
reducing air emissions from vehicles and electricity are described BENATHREEREE R —&h i -
under the below section headed "GHG emissions”.

GHG Emissions B E RGN

The major business for the Group is providing integrated plastic
solution services, manufacturing of e-cigarettes products as an
original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") and manufacturing of
medical consumable products. The operation of injection molding
machines is identified as the major gas-emitting source in the
operation site.

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions performance is
summarised as below:

AEENEIEXRBREH BT EHER
FERS - tEARTRER (TOEM]) &
ETEEMMBERRERM - BIETE
BERERKL 5T ZREBHERK
R e

BEHRR  BERBHEMIBERAOTAT

Indicators Unit FY2024 FY2023
fei= By 2024 B E PAPRRIEGTE
GHG Emissions’

RS HER

Scope 1 Direct emissions tCOze 678.39 549.03
HE BEEREREHNR WE—RfbE S

Scope 2 Indirect emissions tCOze 16,496.50 17,204.37
HE2: HERAERBEEN WA tiE S

Scope 3 Other indirect emissions? tCO2e L44.76 390.00
HE3 HEREREIHER’ WA tiE S

Total GHG emissions tCO2e 17,619.65 18,143.40
REREHRES WE—RfEiE S

Intensity? tCOze./million HKD revenue 32.63 25.99

BERBREE

WS L EE BB BT
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1: Emissions (Continued)
GHG Emissions (Continued)

Note:

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “"How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the HKEX, the latest released
average carbon dioxide emission factor for national electricity in China,
published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment on December,
2024 and the "CLP 2023 Sustainability Report” published by CLP
Holdings Ltd.

2. Scope 3 GHG emissions comprise emissions from waste disposed of
landfills, air travel, and energy used for processing fresh water.

3. As of 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue was HKD540 million (2023:
HKD698 million). This data is also used for calculating the intensity of
other data.

The direct GHG emissions in Scope 1 increased as the use of
diesel and LPG went up. However, due to a lower carbon dioxide
emission factor published this year compared to last year, the
indirect GHG emissions in Scope 2 decreased. However, there has
been an increase in paper usage, waste disposal in landfills and
air travel, leading to an increase in COz2e emissions in Scope 3. The
Group has set a target of reducing carbon emissions. To achieve
this target, we implemented various environmental measures
effectively to reduce GHG emission:

° Regularly checks on the motor vehicles and production
facilities are conducted to ensure their energy efficiencies,
and the exhaust emissions comply with the national
standard.

° Raise employees’ awareness on energy saving, for instance,
employees are encouraged to turn off the unnecessary
electrical equipment (e.g. lighting and air conditioning) after
work, take public transportation and stop the car engine
while idling.

° The Group chooses the one with high energy efficiency
certification and power-saving modes.

. Gas emission data is obtained quarterly to assess the GHG
emission level and monitor the progress of the reduction
target. If any irregularities are found, the ISO department
will investigate the reasons for the fluctuation and suggest
appropriate measures to relevant department.

. The Group closely monitors the GHG emission levels and
strives to alleviate the environmental impact.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1: Emissions (Continued)
Waste Management

The Group has implemented a comprehensive waste management
system, encompassing both hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
The disposal practices for waste within the operational sites
strictly adhere to the relevant laws and regulations, including the
Law of the People's Republic of China (PRC) on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes, the
Measures for the Administration of Permits for the Operation of
Hazardous Wastes, and the National Hazardous Waste List. These
measures ensure compliance and responsible handling of waste
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Non-hazardous Waste

. Non-hazardous waste emitted from the Group included
domestic waste, construction waste, plastic waste, scrap
metal and office paper. Regarding non-hazardous waste,
the Group implements separate collection and management
procedures for recyclable items like toner cartridges
and batteries, which are handled by external recycling
partners. General waste is stored in designated refuse
areas and collected by the local environmental and hygiene
department. These measures ensure proper disposal and
minimise the risk of contamination to underground water
sources. The Group is committed to taking proactive steps
to prevent any potential harm to the environment and
safeguard the integrity of underground water resources.

Hazardous Waste

. Our hazardous waste included: Ink sludge, waste cigarette
oil, cutting oil, waste thinner, activated carbon, waste
packaging drums, rags and gloves. The Group has
implemented the "Procedures for Waste Management”,
which provides clear guidelines for employees on the proper
disposal of both hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste.
In the case of hazardous waste, all chemical waste is stored
appropriately in a designated indoor warehouse on-site,
equipped with secondary containment measures to prevent
any potential leakage. Any spills or contamination on the
ground are promptly addressed using specific materials
such as absorbent cloth or sawdust. Furthermore, all
hazardous waste is collected and handled by authorised
collectors, ensuring compliance with proper disposal
protocols and regulatory requirements.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) A:RBE@)

A1: Emissions (Continued) A1 BERR ()

Hazardous Waste (Continued) BHEEZY : (4#)

Indicators Unit FY2024 FY2023
yer= -tva 2024 B E EAPRRIIEGTE
Hazardous waste Tonnes 8.31 11.96
BEBEY i

Intensity® Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.02 0.02
mE3 [T = Ry Tl ey

Non-hazardous waste Tonnes 238.59 287.77
BEBEY Mg

Intensity? Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.44 0.41
CHER MR, B EE TS

Throughout the year, as part of our commitment to sustainability
and environmental responsibility, we actively promote and practice

the recycling of plastic and paper materials. We have implemented

comprehensive recycling programs that encourage employees and
stakeholders to participate in the responsible disposal and reuse
of these resources, the performance is below:

EREFES  (ERYUABERRNIRER
BENAGEN—H5D  HPBEEEEMNME
B BRI B EWAA - HFIEE
TEREOHLKEE - SBEIMFHESR
BEENRBIBNAELER  HRRN
™

Indicators Units FY2024 FY2023
1 s 2024 BB E PIVRRIE G
- Plastic Recycling Tonnes 88
—ZRBmEk g
— Paper Recycling Tonnes 54 49
— #RSRmE U 0]
Total Tonnes 148 137
#Et 7]

The Group has established a waste reduction target, aiming
to demonstrate the Group's dedication to sustainability and
responsible waste management, as it strives to minimise its

environmental impact and promote a more sustainable future.

AEEERETRIVBERYHBEE  BX
BRAAEEHAHERRNATEEEY
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' ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTINUED)
A1: Emissions (Continued)
Hazardous Waste (Continued)

The Group implemented the following measures to reduce wastes:

. Encourage green office to minimise the use of office copiers
and printers to reduce paper consumption.

° Recycling bins are placed in the office and the factories to
encourage staff to develop proper waste sorting habits.

. Monthly waste data at our factories will be obtained to keep
track of our waste reduction and recycling performance and
to oversee the progress of the reduction target.

° If any irregularities are found, the ISO department will
investigate the reasons for the fluctuation and suggest
appropriate measures to relevant department. Meanwhile,
the I1SO department will report the issues to the Board
immediately.

Wastewater Discharge

In line with our commitment to environmental responsibility, the
Group strictly adheres to the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution, the Urban Sewage Treatment
Plant Pollutant Discharge Standard, and other relevant laws and
regulations. These measures ensure that our operations comply
with the necessary environmental standards and regulations
related to water management.

The Group has implemented stringent regulations for the
management of water discharge during operations. All sewage
is directed to the government sewage pipeline and subsequently
transferred to the local sewage treatment plant, ensuring
compliance with proper wastewater treatment procedures.
Additionally, the Group conducts annual monitoring of wastewater
quality to ensure compliance with relevant standards and
regulations. These measures affirm the Group’'s commitment to
responsible water management and sustainable practices.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A: ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2: Use of Resources

To mitigate the environmental risks associated with our business
operations, the Group actively promotes resource efficiency
through the implementation of “Procedures for reducing resource
and energy usage.” We prioritise the engagement of professional
and certified electricians to maintain the on-site electricity system,
ensuring its optimal functionality. Monthly records are maintained
to monitor electricity consumption.

Furthermore, we encourage our employees to actively participate
in resource conservation efforts. We emphasise the importance
of reducing resource usage and provide guidance on practical
ways to achieve this goal. By fostering a culture of resource
consciousness, we aim to collectively contribute to the reduction
of resource consumption within our organisation.

Energy Management

Energy consumption is the primary driver of GHG emissions
from the Group, we take a proactive approach to identify and
implement strategies for systematic energy management and
optimisation. Among our operations, electricity, petrol, and natural
gas are the primary sources of energy consumption within our
premises and office. To mitigate our environmental impact and
reduce our energy footprint, we prioritise close monitoring of
energy usage across our facilities. This enables us to identify
areas of inefficiency and implement measures to minimise energy
consumption. By leveraging advanced monitoring systems and
energy-efficient technologies, we strive to continuously optimise
our energy usage and reduce our carbon emissions.

Additionally, we actively seek opportunities to enhance energy
efficiency through initiatives such as upgrading equipment,
improving insulation, and implementing energy-saving practices.
We also promote employee awareness and engagement by
providing training on energy conservation and encouraging
behavioral changes that contribute to energy efficiency.

Through these efforts, we aim to not only reduce our environmental
impact but also achieve long-term cost savings. By optimising
energy usage and minimising GHG emissions, we are committed to
promoting sustainability and contributing to a greener future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

A: ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) A:REm

26

A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Energy Management (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, energy consumption by the Group
was as follows:

A2 - BRER
BEREHE ()

EREHRN - AEBEORRERB RN
™

Indicators Units FY2024 FY2023
IR B 2024 R FE EAVEL GRS
Total Direct energy consumption MWh 638.69 828.72
HERERER JKFLEF
— Diesel oil MWh 102.25 98.14
— 25 S
-Petrol MWh 202.74 396.66
— T KEH
-LPG MWh 40.92 34.56
—RILARR JEELBS
-Natural gas MWh 292.79 299.36
—RAR KBS
Total indirect energy consumption MWh 30,750.83 30,177.08
MERRERAS JKFLEF
— Purchased electricity MWh 30,750.83 30,177.08
—HNEEE ] JKFL B
Total Energy consumption MWh 31,389.52 31,005.80
BLIRHFREEE JK LB
- Intensity? MWh/million HKD revenue 58.13 44,42

—BERHRTE

KRR, BEBTHRE

Water Resources

To minimise water usage in our manufacturing process, the Group
places a strong emphasis on employing waterless techniques,
such as injection molding, which reduces the need for water
as a primary component. Nonetheless, we remain dedicated to
implementing measures that effectively reduce water consumption
in both operational and domestic aspects of our operations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any
issue in sourcing water that was fit for purpose due to its
geographical location of its operational facilities. The Group has
implemented various strategies to achieve this target, particularly
focusing on our cooling water system. This system incorporates
recycling and reuse mechanisms, allowing us to minimise water
consumption by maximising the utilisation of available water
resources. Additionally, our cooling water system undergoes daily
monitoring to promptly detect and address any potential leaks or
inefficiencies, ensuring optimal water usage.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024

IKENR

AT ERFIRERRE T & AR E D
KHER - NEBESERERRAEKE
i FAREETERRTEHSLHEME
IKEETR - ARE—EBEAKHRAKE
Bt > DAL A A EE R AR FOK

EHREHA ARAREZE IR
B ARERABREMARBUERKELE
EVE(IEIRE - NEE D KRR T B
KRERE—BE HAIHZAIKRLGER
R B RiEE - & AR E M A A8
BIKER - fem{E FFIATERER AR/
b "EEBRKRBERZRLG - AL
EADRIR -+ BB AR M AROR (] AT BE HOJR
IR RE - BERKH BRI -



¥/

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A: ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2: Use of Resources (Continued)

Through these initiatives, we aim to not only reduce our environmental
impact but also contribute to the conservation of water resources. By
actively managing and optimising our water consumption, we strive
to operate in a more sustainable and responsible manner.

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

A:REm

A2 - BRER

BRELRE  RAWBEFENMERRD Y
BRIENPE  ERREKERBHER -
BMeBEBEEMEBIAKE - AEMA
FENAREENTRES -

Indicators Units FY2024 FY2023
1T Efivi PP IRINESE 2023 B E
Water Consumption m3 143,124.80 157,686.20
IKERERE SHAK

- Intensity? m3/million HKD revenue 265.05 225.91

—HRETE® MK/ BB TS

Packing Materials

The primary packaging material utilised by the Group are
paper carton boxes and plastic. As part of our commitment to
environmental sustainability, we are dedicated to sourcing and
using eco-friendly raw materials to minimise our impact on
nature. In the future, we will actively seek out and adopt packaging
materials that are sustainable, renewable, and have a reduced
environmental footprint. By prioritising the use of environmentally
friendly materials, we aim to contribute to the preservation of the
natural environment and promote a more sustainable future.

B

TEEFTZEFANBEMBEHEAE RS
B AERABRMEIRSBREEN—HH
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HMBERS TXTU%FH—JFZ* AIBAHR
HIRBEZES ) WREME - BBELFE
RARERME - BME T RREE AREN
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Indicators Units FY2024 FY2023
e By IR EES M 2023 TR E
— Paper Carton Box Tonnes 743.81 1,048.00
] 7
- Plastic Tonnes 157.68 160.46
— 5B Mg
Total Tonnes 901.49 1,208.46
wEt 0]

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group's policy promotes the adoption of innovative
environmental practices to minimise our impact on the
environment and natural resources. We are dedicated to
implementing a range of initiatives to reduce the negative
environmental effects of our daily operations. We continuously
enhance our environmental awareness and foster a sense of
responsibility both at work and personal lives. Furthermore, we
integrate the principles of environmental and natural resource
protection into our internal management and operational activities,
striving towards sustainable development goals.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

A: ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A4: Combating Climate Change

The Group is aware of the threat posed by climate change and
actively contributes to offsetting its carbon footprint. The Group
recognises the importance of identifying and responding to major
climate issues, so it closely monitors the potential impact of
climate change on its business and operations and is committed
to managing potential climate risks that may affect the Group's

business activities.

According to the reporting framework developed by the latest
climate disclosure requirements, there are two types of climate-
related risks, namely physical risks and transition risks, and the
Group has thoroughly evaluated the associated risks and their

impact on the Group's business.
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Physical Risks
ERER

Transition Risks

ERER

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and
extreme cold or heat pose acute and chronic physical
risks to the Group's business. The Group's capacity and
productivity will be reduced under extreme weather
events as the safety of our employees is threatened, and
the operational sites might be damaged, which leads to a
direct negative impact on the Group’s revenue.

We have established mitigation plans to minimise potential
risks and hazards, including flexible work arrangements
and precautionary measures during bad weather
conditions such as typhoons, floods and black rainstorms.
The Group will improve emergency plans to reduce the
vulnerability of its business to extreme weather events.
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To achieve the global vision of carbon neutrality, the Group
expects the evolution of the regulatory, technological
and market landscape due to climate change, including
the tightening of national policies, the emergence of
environmentally related taxes and the shifting of customer
preference to an eco-friendlier operation.

In response to transition risks, we constantly monitor
the updates of environmental regulations and global
trends on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines or reputational risks due to the violation
of laws. In addition, we have been taking comprehensive
environmental protection measures, including energy
saving, water conserving and GHG emissions reduction.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL
B1: Employment

We place great importance on the growth and well-being of
our employees. To create an appealing work environment and
attract the best talents, we offer competitive compensation and
benefits packages, along with clear career development paths. By
providing these advantages, we aim to build a workplace that is
both rewarding and fulfilling, encouraging employees to excel and
remain with the Group in the long term.

Our commitment to employee development and welfare reflects
our belief in the value of human capital as a key driver of success.
Through continuous learning and support, we empower our
employees to reach their full potential and contribute to the
ongoing growth and prosperity of the Group.

To ensure the Group's performance continuity and minimise
turnover, we actively conduct exit interviews with employees who
have resigned. These interviews allow us to gain insights into
the reasons behind their departure and address any concerns or
issues that may exist among current employees. By understanding
the factors contributing to resignations, we can take appropriate
measures to improve employee satisfaction and retention.

Furthermore, we have implemented a management system to
promote a fair working environment and employment practices.
This system includes a comprehensive evaluation process
for salary reviews and promotions. It assesses employees’
performance, capabilities, and contributions to the company. By
objectively evaluating these factors, we strive to make informed
decisions that reward and recognise employees based on their
merits and achievements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, that
would have a significant impact on the Group.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1: Employment (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group's breakdown of employee

profile was as below:

&)
B1: EfE(®)

HZE2024F 124318 NEEEITHR

W -

FY2024 FY2023
2024 B E IR GIES
Total number of employees ETHAY 917 936
By Gender BRI S8
Male B 558 544
Female g 359 392
By Age RERDE
30 or below 30FEAT 142 147
31-50 3152 5075% 640 680
51 or above 51 pREA 135 109
By Geographic Area B BEE S E
Mainland China Hp B K e 900 920
Hong Kong B 17 16
By Employment Type ZEBERSE
Management EEE 130 127
Other staff HiTEAB 787 809
The table below shows the average monthly employee turnover TRETRMER - F e 48 B A 3P &= 5 7
rate categorised by gender, age group and geographical region: EMFHIERAEIRAEK
Average monthly employee
turnover rate (%) B¥HEE T RENE (%) FY2024 FY2023
2024 BIUE [ VAR G IS
Overall BIHAH 4.0% 5.3%
By Gender BRI D E
Male S 41% 5.1%
Female it 3.7% 5.6%
By Age RFRDE
30 or below 30BREIA T 8.7% 11.2%
31-50 31 BRE 505 3.5% 4.6%
51 or above 51mRE A E 1.0% 1.4%
By Geographic Area RiIEEE S E
Mainland China B K 4.0% 5.3%
Hong Kong B 1.0% 2.6%
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2: Health and Safety

The employees’ health and safety are one of the Group's top
priorities, therefore, the Group implements "Management
Procedures on Health and Safety” to eliminate all potential safety
hazards and ensure a safe working environment to protect

employees from occupational injuries.

The management procedures cover all manufacturing operations
in the factories and highlight the safety requirements for the

suppliers.

The

B: &
B2 : REHEZS

xBE-

1F - Wi T HHERNLEEK -

committee

conducts risk assessment
of the factories and identify

all potential
safety hazards.

representatives of the
committee tailor a health and
safety educational and training
program to all employees.

AP M EES
) A [ T ARG BE IERERR

All

departments are responsible for
monitoring the workers to prevent
accidents and providing training
on the proper  operating
procedures to workers.

and

machineries, workers have to
report to their supervisors. All
passages along the working
area are strictly prohibited for
storage and workers are not
allowed to leave the machines
running while away.

If there are any operating
procedures that may endanger
the workers”™  safety, supervisors
shall immediately report to their
seniors and carry out
remediation process to reduce
all potential hazards.

AEREEIERER AR
202LFF 3R

BETMRFERAZ2EAEENERERKZ
— Bt AEEERET(REELZE2E
BRENX) WEBRMAEBENZZRE
VHRZENITIERE  REEIRXRE

ZEEBEXRET IRAMEHRER
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SOCIAL (CoNTINUED)
B2: Health and Safety (Continued)

Apart from our internal management procedures, the Group also
complies with relevant local laws and regulations, including Cap.
509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and the Measures for the Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries. To prevent the outbreak of fire within the operational
areas, the security guards must patrol the building site daily, such
as dormitories, factories, garages, lavatories and kitchen. They
will also ensure all equipped fire extinguishers are functioning
properly. The Human Resources Department will guide the fire
safety committee to carry out one to two fire drill practices
annually.

During the Reporting Period, the Group faced a tragic incident
where an employee passed away in the dormitory on November
6, 2024, due to a sudden illness. The Group is deeply saddened by
this event and will enhance its efforts to manage employee health
and safety to prevent such incidents in the future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

&)
B2 : BREEZ 2 ()

BT REBE IR SN - ANER B TR B AR
SEMBBARES  BRBEBEMNE
509 B(ME L 2 MR FIEA) - (hEA
REMBELEE)  (PEARKMBEED
E) (PEARAMBBERY &E) R
(ITEREE) - B THIETIFRERE
ERE - REBRBSHEREETITR
L MEE - WE - EE - RAMER -
TEABSBRMBABANSZLETET - A
HERBPEIEHEEh Z2ZEeTFE
T—RIMIOBER -

RBEHE - ~RERE—MHERABGTS
e —ZBTHEENE  R2024F N1
B6BEBEEREHRRTELM o Hitt -
AREBRKER  WiE—FINBE TR
REZ2EE - A IEEUSHREA -

WEHEA - AREYEZRIAERRR
BN 2EENEATETERERNTT
RMEAEEELEARE -

Health & Safety Indicators Unit FY2024 FY2023 FY2022
REEZZER B AN ES M 2023 TR 2022 R
Work-related fatalities Casel(s) 1 0 0
EI%T =01(4)

Fatality rate % 0.1 0 0
T X %

Lost days due to work injury Days 148 230.5 41.8
BAIBELTIER X

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3: Training and Development

The Group has established the "Management Procedures on
Development and Training” to govern in-house training and
work distribution. These procedures outline the requirements
and performance indicators aimed at enhancing employees’
occupational skills and overall quality. Additionally, the Group has
strengthened its development and training systems to ensure the
smooth and continuous implementation of all training programs.

The Human Resources Department plays a key role in providing
instructions for job duties in each position and formulating an
annual training development plan. This plan serves as a roadmap
for identifying the training needs of employees and designing
appropriate training initiatives to address those needs. The Group
believes that the vocational training practices will allow us to
create a better, sustainable working environment and learning
atmosphere for employees.

To the new employees

#ER

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

&)
B3 : 1ZHEEE R

AEBESE TENNEREETFM] - AR
EABEIFINAN TIEDRS - 5% T MEARESIH
TERMBRIER - LWIESEENOBER
BEMZEE - AFMIR T AEE ) EREM
BRI R RR - FELRAT A AT &1 EBIE A A0
Fr BT o

ANERAIBEREBMAIEH TIEFRE RS
MEIE FEEIE R E T EDRZ RS
AE - MMERBEE THFIIFR - LH
FHEEMEIITR - REERE - BRE
I EBRSERFIEMBTREL - AIREN
THERRNEBBERE  ER/RET -

Comprehensive pre-job trainings and orientation programmes are provided to the new employees to introduce the company's

background, culture, regulations and safety requirements.

. AMETREZENARBBIMFE TERE  NARRNESR Ut - REFENR2ER -

New employees are also subject to on-job trainings offered by their reporting departments.

HEE b HEE AR APR R -

To newly promoted employees
HMETET

. The Group invites external institutions to organise training courses to the employees regularly.

. SEEHBREIERE AR TABIRIIRE -

Human Resources Department will revise the annual training programmes in accordance with the reviews and feedbacks of each

department.

ANEREBPIFARIEE S PINFEME RS FEIEIE S -

AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R
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B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &
B3: Training and Development (Continued) B3 : IR ()

Conducting occupational safety training Training for handling hazardous waste

FRBEZ 2% BRI fa b BE R MIE I

Conducting occupational training

PR B AR
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B: SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &)
B3: Training and Development (Continued) B3 : AR )

Conducting comprehensive emergency drill Conducting comprehensive fire drill
BRGSESER RS HBEEAR
/ /
During the Reporting Period, the Group provided training to 7,032 REHHEAR AEBREFIZE7032
(2023: 7,369) participants. Total training hours were 14,474 hours (2023 © 7,369) NIR o #BIEFIREUR 14,474
(2023: 16,699 hours). Average training hours per employee were WNEF(20239F 16,699/ 5 ) o T
15.78 hours (2023: 17.82 hours). 8 T o E IR 8 R15.78 N (2023 F -

17.82/)\fF) »

FY2024 FY2023
2024 B B 2023 T E
Average Average
Percentage Training Hours Percentage  Training Hours
of Employee per Employee of Employee per Employee
Categories Al Trained (%) (hours) Trained (%) (hours)
g BUEIFHY I BLZEITH
BT HHI(%) 35RFR (/) BTERI (%) $EFI8F R (/MBS )
By Gender BRI D8
Male S 56% 15.4 51% 16.5
Female g 44% 16.4 49% 19.7
By Employment Type BRERENSE
Other staff Hi TIEAR 86% 16.2 88% 19.1
Top management EEE 14% 13.1 12% 9.9

AEREEIERER AR 35
202LFF 3R
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SOCIAL (CoNTINUED)
B4: Labour Standards
Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group is fully committed to upholding labor-related laws and
regulations and has established the "Management Procedures
on the Prohibition of Child Labour” to ensure compliance. In
accordance with these procedures, the Human Resources
Department strictly prohibits the hiring of child labour, which
refers to individuals under the age of 16.

During the recruitment process, the Group conducts identification
checks, particularly for junior workers aged between 16 and 17,
to ensure their eligibility for employment. If any instance of child
labour is identified, employees are instructed to report it directly
to the Human Resources Department and senior management
for immediate verification. The Group takes immediate action to
address the situation and promptly reports it to the local Labour
Department.

The working hours of employees have been specified in the
employment contract. Upon the approval of the Human Resources
Department, the employees can be arranged to work overtime
with a maximum of 3 hours per day and should not exceed a total
working hour of 60 hours per week. The Group also states the off-
work periods of employees and provides them with paid leave as
remuneration benefits and welfare. Trainings are also provided
to all employees, please refer to the “Training and Development”
section above.

The Group is deeply committed to protecting human rights,
prohibiting forced labor, and fostering a workplace characterised
by respect and fairness for all employees. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with child and forced labour-related laws and regulations, that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

We strictly abide by all labour-related laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the PRC, including Cap. 57 Employment Ordinance,
Cap. 485 Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 509
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Cap. 608 Minimum
Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor and the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B4: Labour Standards (Continued)
Inclusion and Diversity

To promote diversity in our workplace, the Group’s "Management
Procedures on Anti-Discrimination” endorsed by the Human
Resources Department provides a clear structure on a fair
employment practice during recruitment. The policy clearly states
that any discrimination on race, gender, religion, national origin,
physical or mental disability, age, sexual orientation and gender
identity are strictly prohibited during the employment process. The
procedure also clearly sets out the standard operation procedures
when discrimination practices are detected in the workplace.
Training is provided to eliminate any discrimination practices
among employees. If any discrimination or harassment reports are
received, the Group will establish a working group to investigate
the incident. The Group is honored to receive the SA8000:2014
Social Accountability Certification that recognises our socially
acceptable practices in the workplace. The Group tries their best
to provide a better working environment for employees.

Holistic Wellbeing

The scope of the Group's management approach to occupational
health and safety is expanding to incorporate broader aspects
of wellbeing. Besides providing free housing and meals to the
employees in Huizhou, the Group also adopts a wholesome
perspective of employees’ social, emotional and mental health.
On this point, the Group has organised company events and
recreational activities for employees and their families.

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

&)
B4 : BT REE ()
B REZ T

BIREZTTENTESAT  AEBEHA
NERIPIEREREFEHELAFERED
[RERERER ] ZBURBRERT
EREBRPERESEIEEER - 4R R
2 B4 HREsEERR - Tk - R
BB REE B E AT FEEAF - %2
NINBE R GIRE - 7E T1ES P8 IR BT
BITERZEEERERRN - REETRE
Z SN LARS LE B B ;R IS8 1T A& o iR
B R o ER R - AEBALT
BB - BEERAE W EN - REB RS
SA8000:2014 2 EERE + ZRFHER
BMEIES T HOE WAL RA] « NEH
HE N ABEBRMEEFHNIERE -

2 EIEF A

AEEYHRERFRLENERAHE
BEFREZNETREMN -BTAEMNET
RHEBEEFNERI  AEBEEZERH
EBTAHR - BRERMOIERE - HES
H AEBERETMNERAMAET ARIE
BMIREEEH) -

2024 Dongjiang Technology Park Employee
Basketball Tournament

2024 FUTRI BB TEEBRE

Employee Pool Tournament

ETARE

J

AEREEZERER AR
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B: SOCIAL (conTINUED)

B4: Labour Standards (Continued)

Holistic Wellbeing (Continued)

' ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B: &

FE I FREH ()

Employee wellness activities

Organising a “Trash Run” activity for all employees

BEIRETEH HBRETHETHRIED
/ /
FEREE E A SR
BE20245EHms
2024 Spring Gathering Evening Party
2024 BEHE
/
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5: Supply Chain Management

Building enduring collaborative partnerships with diverse suppliers
is fundamental to our achievements. Through close cooperation
with our suppliers, we actively monitor the quality of their goods
and services, as well as their overall performance, thereby
ensuring the reliability of our supply chain. We strive to foster
a supply chain that aligns with our shared vision of sustainable
development. By establishing these long-term relationships, we
enhance our ability to deliver exceptional products and services
while promoting responsible business practices throughout our
supply chain.

Group policies have clearly outlined the procurement standards
and procedures, as well as the assessment of supplier
performance. Suppliers should conduct business ethically, and
refrain from providing or accepting bribes and other improper
benefits. At the tender stage, suppliers are selected and rated
based on a set of criteria, including product price and quality,
delivery time, and payment terms. A background check (including
permits, licenses, and certificates of suppliers) is conducted
to ensure compliance with all relevant laws and regulations.
If non-conformities are identified, suppliers must rectify them
immediately. Supplier performance will be evaluated based on
the marking scheme outlined in the Management Procedures
on Supply Chain. Those who violate laws and regulations, fail to
meet tender requirements, or commit misconduct, may have their
contract terminated or penalised.

Green Procurement

The Group adopts sustainable and responsible selection
criteria to promote environmentally preferrable products. The
procedure grades all suppliers by relevant rating systems:
outstanding suppliers are rating from 90 to 100 and suppliers
with rating from 65 to 89 are classified as pass, while the rest
are considered failed, during the year, 36 suppliers passed our
assessment through an on-site audit. The purchasing department
is responsible for managing all production and nonproduction
services suppliers. The ISO department is responsible for the
assessment of suppliers. Apart from this, the Group will visit the
suppliers regularly to ensure that the suppliers comply with the
environment, health, and safety standards.

RIE ~ HHBREIGIRS
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SOCIAL (CoNTINUED)
B5: Supply Chain Management (Continued)
Green Procurement (Continued)

During the engagement process, the Group will assess all potential
suppliers based on their certification of management systems,
company profile, manufacturing procedures, status of production
and inspection equipment, environmental control and the
applicable operation or production license of certain hazardous
chemicals. Besides, the Group will select the suppliers who have
attained certification of 1ISO09001:2015 or other related documents.
All samples and products have undergone applicable quality tests
on-site. Inspection is carried out bi-annually for suppliers rated as
outstanding, while annual inspection is carried out for suppliers
rated as pass.

&)
B5 : EHEEIE (4)
AR IREE (%)

EZEBRRES  AEEBREBEEHERR
g RAEIEN - BERE C AEMRBE
BN RIBESIAEACE R EES T
BEEYRNHF A ESERERTEE
BIERIER - LI AEESREDES
1S09001:2015 FR7E 3k H A AR B S (04 pE
i ARESEHMARRIERETRS
mE A o R REFHHER -
MFEET—NRE  MERETBEREL
HpEn - ASFET—RARE -

The table below shows our number of suppliers by geographical TRERTAFERMZHE RS EN
region during the Year: HEmEE -
No. of major
Location of Suppliers i FERS P 7E b Suppliers
TEHEFHE
Mainland China R K B 379
Hong Kong BB 20
Others Hith 6

Bé6: Product Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group places great importance on adhering to national laws
and regulations concerning product safety. We are committed to
providing products of the highest quality, and to achieve this, we
conduct regular inspections and checks to ensure compliance.

In addition, we prioritise responsible advertising and labeling
practices to minimise any potential customer dissatisfaction.
We believe in transparent and accurate information exchange,
ensuring that our customers have the necessary details to make
informed decisions about our products. To further enhance
product quality and safety, we have implemented the "Procedures
on Information Exchange.” This procedure designates the
Operations Department as responsible for overseeing product
quality and safety, ensuring that rigorous standards are followed
throughout the production and distribution processes.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
Bé6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
Quality Assurance (Continued)

By following these measures, we aim to instill trust and confidence
in our customers by consistently delivering products that meet or
exceed their expectations in terms of quality, safety, and reliability.

Protecting data privacy

To protect consumer data privacy and other confidential
documents, the Group strictly follows Cap. 528 Copyright
Ordinance, Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and
Interests and has established clear instructions on how to prevent
leakage of confidential documents and effective management
of documents. The "Management of Confidential Documents”
classifies all documents into three broad categories: A, B or C
grade, based on the extent of sensitivity of the documents. The ISO
Department is responsible for the classification, management and
distribution of documents. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not have any personal data breach or leakage case.

Intellectual Properties Rights

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual
property rights. The Group will not plagiarise the design of
other organisations. The employees are required to maintain
confidentiality in the Group's technology and trade secrets,
considering all such properties belong to assets of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
complaints or non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
regarding intellectual property rights.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
Bé6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
Procedures on Handling Complaints and Products Recalls

The Group recognises the significance of customer feedback
and values the opinions of our customers. To better understand
their needs and exceed their expectations, we have established
various communication channels to collect their feedback. These
channels include telephone, email, and regular interactions with
customers. The responsibility for handling customer feedback and
complaints lies with our dedicated quality control department.
They are equipped to address and resolve any concerns raised by
customers, ensuring that their feedback is taken seriously, and
appropriate actions are taken.

The Group is committed to improving customer satisfaction and
maintaining a long-term relationship with them. When any product
quality issues are identified, the quality control department will
carry out follow-up action on a timely basis. Proper measures will
also be adopted to prevent the issue from happening again. If there
are any issues with product recalls, the relevant departments in
the Group will take timely action to properly handle the recalled
products.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with related laws and regulations
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress that would have a significant impact on the Group.
Additionally, there were no product recalls due to safety and
health concerns.

B7: Anti-Corruption

The Group embraces responsible business practices, and we
expect high moral standards and integrity from the employees
and business partners. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations, including Cap. 201 Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Cap. 615 Anti-Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist
Financing Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the PRC
and its Judicial interpretation, the Criminal Procedure Law and
its Judicial interpretation, the Interpretation on Several Issues
Concerning the Applicable Laws to Handling Criminal Cases of
Embezzlement and Bribery, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the PRC. In addition, the Group's "Management Procedures on
Anti-Bribery” applies to all entities among the Group to regulate all
business activities.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B7: Anti-Corruption (Continued)
Anti-corruption Training

The Group places a strong emphasis on responsible and ethical
conduct from its employees. We strive to prevent any actions
that could jeopardise the Group's interests and reputation, we
regularly remind our employees to comply with the code of
practices. To foster a culture of integrity and combat corruption,
we provide anti-corruption training 13 times during the Reporting
Period to both directors and employees, totaling 113 hours. This
training aims to raise awareness about ethical practices and equip
individuals with the knowledge and skills to identify and prevent
corrupt activities.

By promoting a strong ethical framework and providing necessary
training, the Group actively encourages employees to uphold the
highest standards of professionalism, honesty, and integrity. These
efforts safeguard the Group's interests, reputation, and long-term
success.

Whistleblowing Policy

Any forms of bribery, extortion, fraud, money-laundering and
embezzlement are strictly forbidden, employees are allowed to
report on any suspicious misbehavior of unethical businesses to
the senior management directly. The Group has implemented its
whistleblowing policy, which shall be reviewed periodically by
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and approved by the
Board, with proper mechanisms in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters, as well as for appropriate follow
up action. All whistle-blowing procedures are conducted in a
confidential manner and the Group will ensure all measures are
undertaken to protect the privacy and identity of the whistleblower.
The Group accepts zero tolerance of any dishonesty and unethical
business behaviors. If any violation is found, the Group will report
to the government authorities in accordance with the law and the
employee involved will be penalised immediately.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with related laws and regulations of
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that would have
a significant impact on the Group. No concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices have been brought against the Group
or its employees during the Year.
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B: SOCIAL (conTINUED)
B8: Community Involvement

The group firmly believes in the interdependent relationship
between businesses and communities. Therefore, we are
committed to supporting community development through various
forms of social participation and actively fostering a positive
corporate culture. We have established a volunteer team that
focuses on coordinating community service activities centered on
social and environmental protection, aiming to enhance the quality
of life in the community and promote environmental awareness.

During the Reporting Period, the community and charitable
activities participated in by the group also received numerous
awards and recognitions from various organizations, including:
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“Learn from Lei Feng” Activity Month (Civilised Trash Run Volunteer Event)

BEERETDASHRESEETD (XHRESEEE)

Period: January 1, 2024 - Organisation: Volunteer Service of Tian Chang Group

December 31, 2024

Location: Public areas within the jurisdiction of the Committee

Content: Volunteer service for the Civilised Trash Run activity 3 times during the Year

The total duration of volunteer service for this event is 117 hours.

HARS 0 1/1/2024-31/12/2024 48 © KRREEEREE RS

ik HEEESEANN QKRS

AR FAXARBEREEH =X

FEBHEEEREAFR 117/
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED) B: &

B8: Community Involvement (Continued) B8 : ttEZE(4)

Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Federation’s Special Donation to the
“Caring for Mothers and Children in Difficulties Fund”.
PIEESHELAERS BERRIRAELS [HEEH
Date: September 2, 2024 Organisation: Huizhou Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Association

Location: Zhongkai High-tech Zone Charity Federation

Content: Special Donation to the “Caring for Mothers and Children in Difficulties Fund”.
Special donation for the District Disabled Persons Care Fund

HER:2/9/2024 B B EeREERS
it lESHRASEAS

RE FAERFEERAEESFRER  RERAABEESEHBRE

“Excellence Award” for the Date: December 1, 2024
2024 Dongjiang Technology Park
“Building Dreams in a New Era, Issuing Organisation: Comprehensive Party Committee of Dongjiang

Welcoming the New Spring” 6th Technology Park, Huizhou Zhongkai High-tech Zone

Party-Mass Choir Competition
Content: 2024 Dongjiang Technology Park “Building Dreams in a New Era,
Welcoming the New Spring” 6th Party-Mass Choir Competition

2024 FRIRIEE HEA : 2024-12-1

[E2HEBRBRTLHE]
BEREEHSBLEEFE] BREE  BENPESHERINKEGERE

R 2024 FRINEE REHFRBRBPLHF I EAERFHSBLE

By actively engaging with local communities, the Group can build MBBEBRSHEZ TR  NEBEHEL
trust, enhance our reputation, and foster long-term sustainability. FttE 2 FMEE - EaAEEEE W
Community involvement in ESG initiatives contributes to the RERPAFERE - £1R% - 2 RE
broader goal of creating a positive and inclusive society while REEFPLEMEEYADNEREIERE
aligning with the values and expectations of all stakeholders of BANBEANTENERZEE - FRER
the Group. In the future,the Group will continue to devote more SENFBNEEEENEERMEBER
resources to contribute the community. B8 ERR rEEHEERHTES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 64, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Chan is an
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for formulating corporate strategies,
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of the
Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of all of the Company's subsidiaries.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited
("Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole
proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the Company, and
Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company. He
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Chan is also
the director of the holding company of the Company, namely, Oceanic
Green Group Limited ("Oceanic Green"), New Strength Ventures Limited
("New Strength”), Gold Alliance Ventures Limited ("Gold Alliance”) and
Treasure Line Holdings Limited ("Treasure Line").

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa, aged 62, is an executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Poon is primarily
responsible for financial planning and management and overseeing
the accounting department of the Group. Ms. Poon has over 20 years of
experience in financial management, accounting and taxation working
in professional and commercial accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from The University of Hull
in the United Kingdom, and a Master’s degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an
associate of The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Poon joined the
Group in May 2008 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary in April 2017 and executive Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 35, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group and
responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part of the business
and developing the Group's customer base and is the key personnel in
developing the Group's e-cigarette business. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's
degree in Commerce from Curtin University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr.
Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NG Chi Wai, aged 46, is an independent non-executive Director. He
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate
management. He has worked at the audit department of two international
accounting firms and he has held senior management positions in
different listed companies. He is currently a practising director of CN CPA
Limited. Mr. Ng holds a bachelor of art degree in accounting and finance
from Leeds Metropolitan University, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Ng has joined our Group since May 2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 58, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a
consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner of Messrs.
Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016. Mr. Hung has
over 29 years of experience in handling legal matters in the areas of
conveyancing, mortgage finance transactions, commercial contracts,
acquisition of shares, matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate
agents disciplinary inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group
since February 2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree
with honours and Postgraduate Certificate in Law from The University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 78, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 50 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder of a
company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive line of audio
and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking or accessories and
other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM customers. Mr. Chan has
joined our Group since February 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 52, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to joining
the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 20 years of experience
in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in
Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and Master of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 30, joined the Group in October 2016, is the
vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for the
development and marketing of new products of the Group. Mr. Chan
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business & Management from
The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is the son of
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an
executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure that
the Company's business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
(as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's corporate
governance practices, which will be further illustrated in this corporate
governance report for shareholders’ evaluation. The Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save
and except for the code provision C.2.1. Details of the deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules (the "Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company's senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company's securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Year. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Company during the Year.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, none of
the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the
practice under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, where it provides
that the two positions should be held by two different individuals, as
Mr. Chan has considerable experience in the enterprise operation and
management of the Company, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to continue
to have Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board so that it can benefit from
his experience and capability in leading the Board in the long-term
development of the Company. From a corporate governance point of
view, the decisions of the Board are made collectively by way of voting
and therefore the chairman should not be able to monopolise the
decision-making of the Board. The Board considers that the balance
of power between the Board and management can still be maintained
under the current structure. The Board shall review the structure from
time to time to ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one third of
the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board and they are invited to serve on the board committees of the
Company. Through active participation at board meeting, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

The Company has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive Director
is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
three months’ written notice. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of three years, which
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than one
month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
board composition, monitoring the appointment of directors and
assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
In addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
after appointment, and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for
re-election by the shareholders at the respective general meetings.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa and Mr. Ng Chi Wai will retire at the AGM pursuant
to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing paragraph. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their
re-appointment. The Company's circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of the above retiring Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and financial
performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their proper duties
and act in the best interests of the Group and hold discussions on
various important and proper businesses of the Company in a timely
manner. All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters
that should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda of
the board meeting. When the Board delegates different aspects of its
management and administrative functions to the senior management, it
has given clear directions in relation to the scope of powers of the senior
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances, the senior
management maintains regular communications and report of progress
to the Board. The management shall provide members of the Board and
specialised committees under the Board with appropriate and sufficient
information in a timely manner so as to update them with the latest
developments of the Group and to better facilitate the discharge of their
duties. The management team is accountable to the Board, executing
the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions
in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group. The management
reports monthly to the Board on the operation and financial performance
of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include:

(a)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
the directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIGIRS

EE®w
EERAHTESENZTEMNERE®)

RARBEERRBFAS(RRBFAE))
£ BRERLLRREREEHRE LR
ZHANEX M IR ERBFE RS LRE - FTA Lt
REEENAERIBERNRRBFASLE
BEE EFESRRERZEEHBEENZE -
BRAFHRT R ZARFBNEE LTRAR
E2 BREEREZFHMER -

HESSNEEBTENEE

EX0REASEERBYR  HEMRERELE
B BRERBE M EERREHZEER
MBRR BREFETEABE  UFAXR
SESEMNENTATE  IRSHEEZRE
BEOARAREBETERNN® - FIEESH
ERELEMLEARREZTEENERIAS
AEFERE EEFERETREERTR
BEERSLEERER EXgcCiafEE
EMENHEELR TEWES - LESREERE
EHBERTREEMHEBYNEEFERETER
B - EEENEFEMNEEMZEENEE
RITHIREMTREMN  BEANTZAKENFK
MERAMBEBETEY - EEEERHES
CRE WITHEFSHENBR LTS - X
EFEASBEAENEERK BEEREEA
AEFEMEARENLERYBREA

EETAREEARANEEERRE &
S

(@ BIERBEAABNEEELSBRRLE
I

(b) M MEZEEERSREEENFIIKEF
BEEER

(€ I MEENAZEREREEREZIARNT

BREER
(d) #HIE - RS RETERREFRERZE
SRR R

() MINETEEEARTRIZEBAREEER
WMEZHWE -
AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R

51




Y

52

MM

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Training, induction and continuing development of Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials and attended a training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest in the Group.
Such induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange
and fund the training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code.

All directors have provided to the Company a record of the training they
received during the Year. Participation of continuous training of the
Directors and the nature of training are set out below:

EFEFgEwm
EEMNEI -  MERSERE

Era - 2REEHCEIERAMESER
WRMBFI - ATREFEREFTZBAENRE
T ERANES ZHERED KRG KA B
BREBEEE - TEEEEZERESR T8
REHAEEZSZABENRER  0WEF
2 ARAFBREELRHFELRMEEESR
& o ARREREARE QTR ZTRRNE
C.14 RFHER U I M RIFIIRMES -

EREFCAARARABERAFERZIE
FIMREER - EE 2 BFEEIINER MIEINE
gET

Reading journals,
publications and/or
other materials and

participating seminars
on various topics

(Note 1)
MERNRSELTE
WET - HERERR,
Httm B RS EMAE
(e 1)
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIGM I £ (L&) v
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EBEM LT 4
Ms. Chan Yin Yan FRAEfR 2T+ 4

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REELE v
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE v
Mr. Chan Bing Kai el v

Note 1: Topics include without limitation the Company’s business and corporate
governance matters.
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PEEIGRS
THE BOARD (CONTINUED) EFgwm
Board Meeting EEEER
During the Year, four board meetings were held and the attendance RAFE  ERTHUAEFTEEH  SEFH
records of individual Directors are set out below: fERERETINT
Annual General
Meeting held
Attendance/ on 30 May 2024
Number of 20245
Board Meetings 5H30H
HE B8 BITHRR
BRAH BERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) PRIZMICHE (£ /E) Lk 1/1
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EERL T A 11
Ms. Chan Yin Yan BRAERZ 44 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITESE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REERE Lk 171
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEBRETE 414 1/1
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PRI ST 44 1/1
Board committees EExXEE
Nomination committee BEZEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; (b) to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for directorship;
(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.

AAFNR2018FE2A8HKTIRZEZE ([
ZZE®|) UREBELCEEARTANZTANEX
FEBIKHFTESEBESE -

REAZESNBESFEEIRNQEIESF
BAEEENRE A @AEKEZ T
(BREETRRER - F&  UEEBEER -
Tk EX&R - XL MERRBEH) -
YHERREEARRNEERBMHEEES
SELNEHRLEZ O ERBEFHR
R VEARBABEERAIETEZTENENA
T BERRERALHEES  (OFFRBIFE
HITEFNELE R EERNRABNDER
BN HigHERREE - A &REZTied
& BREFRAAEBNZEUNLREST(LERE
FRERATERIAINEFSREES

AEREEZERER AR
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam; and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met once to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and other related matters of
the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
industry and regional experience and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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EEECEMEEFTEXRRETBR(E
EEHESTABE])  FIFHERARAAF
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors that
are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference. The
Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure
that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

4 Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board,;

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination process
Appointment of new directors

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(iii)  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Re-election of directors at general meeting (Continued)

(iii)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Year are set out as follows:
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EFgwm
EEZEE®)
BEZEEE(HE)
REERFE

RRFRA G LEEEE(B)

(i) REZEGR REFGEANKRAE
IERERNRRABRRLHEESR -

FEEERNBERAGLRERZRESRRE
BRREARES  BHBRARRASBREN
BRRBEE, RFHARGET SRR LETR
AR/ SAEBER AR RERBEBRIREANSE

RAZRERENASELERAEER SR
PRI

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

HFE SRR

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REELE
Audit committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 February 2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and code provision D.3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Audit committee include, without limitation, (a) to
review and supervise the financial reporting and financial controls; (b)
to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (c) to
review and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; and (d) to discuss the risk management and internal
control system, including the whistleblowing policies and systems for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Group, with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems.

FRIEMAE(ERE) 1/1

171
1/1

FREEE

RATR2018F2 A8 HR I EREZES
B EMRAEI2NERCEE AT ZTRHE
XEDIEHIFI EmBERE -

BERZEBENBEREETRN ) EMRE
BUBHRE LVWBES O EBRERERE
EHNZENEBIIBZBMAESTSRLESR
RALESNS L BT O & B R ES 15R3K - A KR BE
BEMARBEREENREE - R MER
SNEERZ B H B LM R R B A KRR B E A
BREROZBREFNELME R REERE
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REG  #EEREMEREEEERERR
ECZESROABASEETMNEENAED
BTR HREEECETREERLBMNE

AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R

57




58

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

The Audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun Leung
and Mr. Chan Bing Kai, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of the audit committee.

During the Year, the Audit committee met four times to review the
half yearly financial statements made up to 30 June 2024 and annual
financial statements made up to 31 December 2024 of the Company and
the effectiveness of the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems.

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the Audit committee
held during the Year are set out as follows:

EETw
BEEZEFSH)
BRESEH)

ENERECHMRATRELLE  AERTEMRR
PBESTAEMR  WEARBUFNTEST - RE
BEERBERZBEIR

RAFE  BRZESCBTEAEEAEH
NABEE2024F 6 A30 HHFEFEHBHRR
REZE2024F 12 A3 BNFEMBEHRER LA
NEIEES - APEERRREEZFRK
R o

ERLZBENBRAFELFERZES SR
BT -

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEGRRH

Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman) REBRE(EE) 414
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER S 414
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PRI S = 414

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph E.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

The duties of the Remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, pursuant to
E.1.2(c) of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules; (c)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (d) to assess
performance of executive directors; (e) to approve the terms of executive
directors’ service contracts; and (f) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED) EEE
Board committees (Continued) BEEZEE )
Remuneration committee (Continued) FHESZ5)

The Remuneration committee consists of two independent non- ¥ EHEZEShM BB IEHNTITE BRI L L
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Bing Kai and Mr. Ng Chi Wai; and NREELEER —BRTTEEREMLAEE
one executive Director Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the X ° REEE4LAHIEE SN TE -
chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration committee met two times to review RAEE » FMEZE D BITMA S HIUNEH
the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management. Details 2 REZLSAETEEBZ HMEE - HEE
of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration committee @K ERAFELEFMEZESSZEMNFBN

held during the Year are set out as follows: N
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HEEERE
Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PRERPE (L) 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam FRIZEM S HE 2/2
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REREE 2/2
DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD EFgs i
Among the six Directors of the Group, two of them are female, AEBAZEEF MEALTHL HFEEER
accounting for 33.3% of the Board. 33.3% °
Gender diversity of the Board: g=gMiEal
As of
31 December
2024
HE2024 5
12A31H
Percentage of
total number of
Directors (%)
HEBEAE
Bo L (%)
Female pegs 33.3%
Male Eelia 66.7%
Total FEEn 100%
AREEZERARAR 59
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DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD (cONTINUED)

The Board targets to maintain at least 25% of the directors being women.
As of 31 December 2024, the Board comprises 2 female members, the
Board considers its diversity of gender is appropriate. The Nomination
Policy can ensure that there will be a pipeline of potential successors to
the Board which continues the existing gender diversity in the Board.

The Group remains committed to meritocracy in the Board, which
requires a diverse and inclusive culture where Directors believe that
their views are heard, their concerns are attended to and they serve
in an environment where bias, discrimination and harassment on any
matter are not tolerated. Where necessary, the Board will work with
external agency to identify and approach suitable candidates that would
enhance its composition and diversity, with a view to expanding the
competencies, experience and perspectives of the Board as a whole.

GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE

Gender diversity of all employees (including senior management) of the
Group:

EFgS Tt

BEECHEZARBEL 29N LEES - HE
2024F 12 A3 H EEGRRE 2B MK E -
EEeRAHURZETIBEE - IRBER
AEREESEABTHETE  NHMEEES
SHAMRZ T -

AEBRBEBHNRBESTEAZIAT » EXY
—BETRBEAEX BT EFH
ERFERFIRE  REMBUNEHEE
=i YAR—ABIERREMNEEFER
BBEREBREBEZRET I BEFR BEX
S EINEEB A1 - BRI REIAEE RE
A s B R Z T EREBAREE
EEMEEN  KBNEH -

EBhiES Tt

rAEEzRER(BESAEEE) WM ZT
1t

As of

31 December
2024
BZ2024F
12A31H
Percentage of
total number of
employees (%)
(approximate)

HEEBAH

Bt (%)

(BHE)

Female pega 39%
Male B 61%
Total e 100%

As of 31 December 2024, the female representation of the Group was
around 39%, which is slightly below the Board's aspirational target of a
minimum of 40% female representation. The Board remains committed
to maintain gender diversity in respect of the workforce level through
continuous review of the gender ratio and recommend measures to
allow more females to participate in various levels of employment of the
Group.

We strive to adopt a stringent recruitment process that allows us
to engage and develop staff. Our selection criteria include required
academic qualifications, personality, experience and skills. In addition,
we perform background checks and use interviews to determine an
applicant’s suitability prior to making recruitment decisions.
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GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE (cONTINUED)

Qur Directors confirmed that the Group was in full compliance with the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong during the Year. In particular, the
Group's policy relating to compensation and dismissal of its employees
adheres to the relevant provisions in the Employment Ordinance.

The Group advocates a fair and open workplace and ensure that
employees are protected from all forms of discrimination against
gender, age, race, nationality, marital status, religion, etc. In 2025, the
Group will continue to sustain its inclusive culture where everyone has
the opportunity to grow and achieve their career objectives in the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under "Directors and Senior
Management” section in this annual report. The company secretary
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 76 to 85 of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, the Company's
auditors, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are analysed below:
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FHHHENS Tt @
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Fees paid/
payable
Types of services provided by the external auditors IR BUEMIR Y RIS TE SR e ENER
HK$'000
FER

Audit services fee for the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F12 A31 BIEFERN
ZERTSE H 1,180

*

The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$239,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not Forvis Mazars CPA Limited).
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with
relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with
reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that the internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. The purpose is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.

Upon the Board's annual review, the Board considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programme
and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Group's ESG performance
and reporting. The Board identified and evaluated the internal control
systems in respect of the Group's financial, operational and compliance
control. The Board will review annually the nature and extend of
significant risks, and the Group's ability to responds to changes in its
business and the external environment. Unless authorized by the Board,
the Group shall not disseminate inside information relating to the Group
to any external parties.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the size of
the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. The Group will
review annually the need for an internal audit function. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, through its Audit Committee
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems. The Board will review annually on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company’s external auditor in respect
of the Group's internal controls and risk management and discussed
findings and actions or measures taken in addressing those findings.
The Company considers the internal control and risk management
system is effective and adequate during the year under review. No
material issues on the Group's internal control and risk management
system have been identified during the year ended 31 December 2024
which required significant rectification works.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed "Procedures for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”, may follow
the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early
as practicable to enable the company secretary to make necessary
arrangement.

Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as

follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial
Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Groups’ business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”’), which sets out the channels
for shareholders to communicate their views on matters affecting the
Company and for the Company to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular,
through AGM and other general meetings. At the forthcoming AGM,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent board committee are available to answer
guestions at the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company's business operations and development, financial
information and other information are available to public access.

The Board will review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy at least
annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having reviewed the different
channels of communication with shareholders, the Board is satisfied
that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented during the Year and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 30 May 2022, the Company adopted the amended and restated
Articles of Association to conform to the core standards for shareholder
protections set out in the updated Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules, and
to incorporate certain housekeeping amendments. An up-to-date version
of the Articles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to our
sustainable development. We are committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with our employees, providing high quality products
and services to our customers and maintaining cooperation with our
suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity, and provide
competitive remuneration packages and career development
opportunities for our employees based on their performance and
experience. The Group also provides regular training and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include market
and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks. While
we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price quotations
accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any increase in the
price of raw materials to our customers in time or at all, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTINUED)
Financial Risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and
has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection in order
to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group's development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance report” on pages 12 to 45 of this
annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 187 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of the final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (37 December 2023: HK1.5 cents per
ordinary share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to be held
on 29 May 2025, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 26 May 2025 to 29 May 2025, both dates inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of the Company should ensure
that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 23 May 2025.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past
five financial years are set out on page 188 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company's share capital during the Year
are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 90 and Note 35(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
and Mr. Ng Chi Wai will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years, unless
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one month’'s
notice in writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Related Party Transactions”
in this report and Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At the end of the Year, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinances (the "SFQ")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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Number of
Number of underlying
ordinary ordinary Approximate
shares of shares of Total percentage of
the Company the Company interests shareholding
Name of Director Capacity RAF ¥ NNV L B RERE AT
EEnE 14 ZERHE ZRRHE B Batk
(Note 2)
(Kiet 2)
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled 373,395,000 - 409,871,000 66.1%
corporation (Note 1)
BRI 5T 4 Rt EE kR (Mt 1)
Beneficial interest 35,856,000 620,000
Emiges
ChanYin Yan Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
G BEmigm
Poon Po Han Lisa Beneficial interest 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
BB BEan
Hung Chun Leung Beneficial interest 500,000 500,000 0.08%
HER Emiges
Chan Bing Kai Beneficial interest 500,000 500,000 0.08%
PoR SR BEmigm

Note 1: These shares are held by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and
Treasure Line, all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line.
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Note 2: These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, at the end of the Year, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At the end of the Year, the following persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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REQFRECRITEBERNER

Number

of underlying

Number of ordinary Approximate

ordinary shares of  shares of the percentage of

Name of shareholder(s) Capacity the Company held Company held?® Total  shareholding

FrigA AT

FREEARDH HEEER fR e

RERER R 27) EEREE HA© #it BRESH
Oceanic Green'" Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
/R ERBEA 127,100,000 A% 1 - 127,100,0008%8% 1% 20.5%
New Strength™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
FHo EREBA 127,100,000 A% 17 - 127,100,0008% %5 20.5%
Gold Alliance™ Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 shares - 94,395,000 shares 15.2%
o ERFEEA 94,395,000A %1% - 94,395,000/%R% 15 15.2%
Treasure Line™ Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 shares - 24,800,000 shares 4.0%
Treasure Line! ERBEA 24,800,000 /% 1 - 24,800,0008%% 10 4.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May? Interest of Spouse 409,871,000 shares - 409,871,000 shares 66.1%
SR L2 FoiBiEss 409,871,000 % A7 ~ 409,871,0000% %5 66.1%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (cOoNTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

(3) These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, at the end of the Year, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
other members of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders
whose interests or short positions were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 May 2019, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing reward to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Option Scheme include, without limitation, employees, executive
directors, non-executive directors, shareholders, advisers and
consultants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has the following & ZE2024F 12 A31 BItFE » KA R D IRIE
share options granted to the eligible participants under the Option Scheme:  BERSAET B MA ISR EE R H A TEERLHE ¢
Options Options
outstanding Options outstanding Exercisable
as at forfeited as at as at
1 January during 31 December 31 December
2024 the year 2024 2024
R2024F 2024 F
1818 12A318 M2024 F
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price HARITHE FRRUK e RATHE 128318
AEEA BB TEE YRS R YR R HO BB AR 1 AFTE
(HK$)
(Br)
Directors, chief executives
and substantial shareholders
EE  TETBAE
REERR
Chan Tsan Lam 13 May 2020 0.355 620,000 — 620,000 620,000
BRI 202045 A 13 H
ChanYin Yan 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 — 6,200,000 6,200,000
BRAEAR 20205 A 138
Poon Po Han Lisa 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 — 6,200,000 6,200,000
EER 202045138
Hung Chun Leung 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 — 500,000 500,000
HER 202045 4130
Chan Bing Kai 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 — 500,000 500,000
PR SR BE 20205 A 138
Employees and senior management 13 May 2020 0.355 16,750,000 (750,000) 16,000,000 16,000,000
BEREREERE 20205 A13H
Service providers” 13 May 2020 0.355 2,000,000 — 2,000,000 2,000,000
B 7 44t pE R 202045 4130
32,770,000 (750,000) 32,020,000 32,020,000

Note 1: The terms of the share options granted and the rationale for making the

grants to service providers were disclosed in the circulars dated 25 April 2019
and 10 May 2019, which were approved at the annual general meeting on 28
May 2019, relating to the Adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Option Scheme and/or any other share option scheme of the
Company is 62,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of adoption of the Option Scheme and 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

None of the options granted to any employee participants would result
in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to
such person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant to represent in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue.

None of the options granted to any service provider would result in the
shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to such
person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant to represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and remained
outstanding under the Option Scheme was 32,020,000, representing
approximately 5.16% of the issued shares of the Company. The number
of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e.
the total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
options to be granted under the Option Scheme) as of 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 are 29,230,000 and 29,980,000 respectively,
representing approximately 4.71% and 4.84% of the issued shares of the
Company, respectively.

There is no sublimit on the total number of shares that may be issued in
respect of options to be granted to service providers under the existing
Option Scheme.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their compliance with
the non-competition undertaking provided in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the said
undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line have complied with the
non-competition undertaking since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions had either been discontinued before the
Company was listed on the Stock Exchange or constitute fully-exempted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Year is as follows:

Lok )

AEBHE2024F 12831 HIEFEFIVNE
B X 5 IEBERERE M IEREW 29 - AR
S HH - ZERXRHERARRNEE R TR
RIESIRIE ETHARABK 2 EREF BB ER
% °

FEERRMER

RAFE  BRAXTEEFPRHERSEEHARE
B e S SREEEREVE BT

Percentage of the Group's total

EAREEUATRENE I

Revenue Purchases

Wi HigsE

The largest customer BAEF 23% N/A i A
The five largest customers in aggregate AARRFAR 63% N/A i A
The largest supplier BAHER N/A i A 18%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate AARHEEER N/A i 38%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) had any beneficial interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$22,000.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

There has been no significant event affecting the Group after 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur by the
execution of his/her duty, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Forvis Mazars
CPA Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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forvss
mazars

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the "Group”) set out on pages 86 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2024, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
EEGEENMEEMERAA

42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
%/ /%21 /%/gﬁ185ﬁ¢1&r1%42%
Tel EFE : +852 2909 5555

Fax f8& : +852 2810 0032

Email S : info.hk@forvismazars.com
Website 484t: forvismazars.com/hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HAREESEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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FREEFER

MRBTFHERERMANERAE - ReY
AEEEAMBERERNBIAR/EENFIE -
ZEFHRERMENBRBEAMBRER L
ARRRETREN - RATSERFTFAEIRE
HEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNNEERREASE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

W¥ - BERRERIBETE

Refer to Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements

2R I HHANE 2K 14

At 31 December 2024, the Group has property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$561,735,000, which
approximated 60.8% of the Group's total assets. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, since there was a significant
drop of revenue arising from both e-cigarettes products
segment and integrated plastic solutions segment, the
management of the Group concluded there was an indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on the prepaid land leases payments, leased properties,
buildings and machinery and equipment in respect of
the e-cigarettes products segment and integrated plastic
solutions segment.

M2026F12A31H EEEMNYE BMEERRED
561,735,000/ 70 © #4918 BESEREEM08% - B E
2024F 12 AN ALFE  AREFEERSBR B
EBBAFRSHFWEBR - EEEEEERAGTERE
TR THEMIHHAER  HEnE EFREEE
BERDE R —BTBERA D AN M B ETT
B -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
BMMEREEFRE(HPEE) -

— evaluating the independent professional valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AHEE EERMGEMNER - BN RFEM

— understanding the methodologies used by the
independent professional valuer to estimate the
recoverable amounts;

TR BELERM TR AR EEET A kB &
2B

AEREEIERER AR 77
202LFF 3R



78

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
& N7 % EX Bl ¥k 25

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARESEE

W¥ - BERRERBE TG (6

Refer to Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

SRk AN L 2 K 14 ()

The recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases
payments and buildings in respective of the e-cigarettes
products segment and integrated plastic solutions segment
owned by the Group have been determined based on their fair
value less costs of disposal using direct comparison method
and depreciated replacement cost. The recoverable amounts
of machinery and equipment and leased properties in respect
of the e-cigarettes products segment and integrated plastic
solutions segment have been determined with reference to
the value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections
of e-cigarettes products segment and integrated plastic
solutions segment, respectively.

BEEREFEERD AR —RIOTBRRT R BHEA
WIEN LHEREBFORAIKESECERNKRFRIE
MO EXNNERERLBEZRETETEEXNANLZETE - A
BEFEERD BN —BIOTLHRTT R D B KR
BARHEMENAROSRENFH2EERRASRER
A EEFREERD AR —BOTRRRT RN B ES

EBEET -

The management of the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to provide assistance in estimating the
recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases payments,
leased properties, buildings and machinery and equipment in
respect of the e-cigarettes products segment and integrated
plastic solutions segment following the aforementioned
valuation methodologies. Based on the valuations, no
impairment loss on relevant assets was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2024 because the recoverable
amounts of relevant assets are higher than the carrying
amounts of relevant assets at the end of the reporting period.

EEENERECZEBYEEGEME LlHES AR
HEtEM L HEER  AEVE  EFREMETEER
DES R — BRI ER R R B MR I AR B A AT Uk Bl
IR E) c ENEE - HE2024F 1283 BULEFE
MERERATMAEBEENRERSE  RRAHEBEENA
el BERFE RN EEEENERAE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNNEERARENSE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (Continued)

communicating with the management of the Group
about the valuation techniques adopted by the
independent professional valuer, and assessing
the relevance and reasonableness of the valuation
techniques used by the independent professional
valuer;

B BEEEETEEMREIHEEGEMERANMGLELE
TBm - ARG E 7 FE A ER AN G EEE
At REE N

assessing the appropriateness of the values used in
the comparison, adjustments and assumptions adopted

by the independent professional valuer based on our
knowledge of the business and industry;

RBBRMBEHRITENT R FHEBLEXGER
RELE - AR RBRTPARBEERNER K

evaluating the reasonableness of the underlying data
adopted in the valuations;

AHEHERBOERER SN

evaluating the sensitivity of impairment assessment to
changes in key assumptions; and

FHA R R RREFREN AR - &

assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

FHESR A MR BRENEEE
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Key audit matters
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HARESEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment for trade receivables

ESEUS BN BAEEER ([ BAEEER])FE

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements

RS EREN E 2% 17

The assessment of the recoverable amounts is inherently
subjective as it involves the exercise of significant
management’s judgement and estimation.

AE BN EAE CABTENE  BAR S METE
RE IR HI R fhEt -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter
because of its significance of balance and the involvement of
significant management’s judgement and estimation in the
assessment.

B L FEHN S —BERET TR REASGEHRE
R R ME B A ERAE KA -

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$126,432,000
(after the loss allowance for ECL of approximately
HK$6,790,000), which approximated 13.7% of the Group's
total assets.

MR20246F12A31H ESRRARENEEREBELY B
126,432,000/8 0 (BT IRTEERE EE1E R 547 6,790,000
gT) iy BEEEBEEML13.7% °

EMWETNNEERARENSE

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

HPWERET EFRE(HHRE)

—  obtaining an understanding of the Group's credit risk
management and practices and the management's
ECL assessment of trade receivables and assessing
the reasonableness of the key underlying information
referenced by the management of the Group;

TR BEEENEERREELEENEEEHES
ERRIBENEHERERETHNG - XFE BF

BEREM2ENERAMENZEEAIE

— in respect of trade receivables of which were identified
by the management of the Group for individually
assessment, discussing with the management of the
Group about the status of significant individual debtors’
specific profiles and risks, reviewing their current
repayment ability and challenging the management’s
assumptions used to determine the ECL provision;

o BEERBEEEERN AERNHE 285 RN
5B BREEEENWABENESAERER
ZARS R EHE TS AMERIAR R R EBR 2 Z B - B AP
BRMERENREREEEAREERBESEEE
BEORR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARESEE

REEFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNNEERARENSE

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment for trade receivables (Continued)

EGEUS BN BREEER ([ BHEEER )L (&)

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

RS EREN 2R 17 (48)

The management of the Group performed credit evaluations
for the Group’'s customers and assessed ECL of trade
receivables. The assessments on credit-impaired debtors and
debtors with significant balances are separately assessed
based on the individual customer’s settlement record, their
current repayment ability, and taking into account information
specific to respective customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the debtors operated.
In addition, the assessment on the remaining debtors are
established with a provision matrix with loss rates based on
ageing of debtors, as well as the Group's historical default
rates and forward-looking information.

EEEEEEY BEBMNBRFETEEFHIIEE
EWGRIEMTEEEEE - REBEENBEFPM&FE L m
MERMMNERENDEHEEEEERENESANLESR

BABBHEBAETHE  PEBEHRBEFPUREBA
EEMEAERENAEER o I - HEHBEB AN
HEBERBREBEESARRIAL S£EFTENLERR
RIE M ER T E /BB R E B Rk o

Most of these assessments involved significant judgements
of the management of the Group.

RER&EFEHEY BEEEEERENERFE -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter

because of its significance of balance and the involvement
of significant management’s judgement in the assessment.

TP R EIERER A AR ET F R RESEHREARE
NS AL E R BNEALE
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for those trade receivables whose credit loss were
assessed using provision matrix, checking and
assessing whether the loss allowance for ECL was
properly supported by considering the debtors’ ageing
analysis and settlement records, history of bad debt
and available forward-looking information on a sample
basis; and

FLE AR ERE TG EEERNZEE SR UEGIRM
E o EWMEEERELGMERBEEERNBERE
EEEEREHAREDN - BHELE  BRELK
ASAEEERMZSER &

puj

considering the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
regarding the estimation uncertainty involved in
determining the ECL provision.
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REEABHREELORE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARESEE

Allowance for inventories

FEREE

Refer to Notes 2 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements

BRJFE I BHRENF 2R 16

At 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of inventories
amounted to approximately HK$71,421,000, accounting
for approximately 7.7% of the total assets. There was a
decrease in net realisable value of certain raw materials,
work-in-progress and finished goods due to obsolescence
and/or diminishing marketability as a result of changes in
market condition. As a result, a write-down of inventories of
approximately HK$3,589,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

ﬁézozzﬁnﬂ NE FEREFELY AT1,421,000%

WEBEENTI%  HTEMRA  ERE KK RGN
""""" BIRER D AN TS ER ISR N RE
E it REZE2024F 1283 BIEFE  FEMRY
3,589,000 8 L E RIS ER o

The allowance for inventories was assessed on the
management’s review of the condition of inventories at the
end of the reporting period, and allowances were made
for inventories that were identified as damaged, slow-
moving and obsolete or no longer recoverable. The inventory
review was carried out by the management of the Group on
a product-by-product basis. Allowances were made with
reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions, including incremental cost directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental cost which must incur to
make the sale which involves the management's usage of
significant accounting estimates and judgements.

FEREDHEEEFENRERROFEMRRIELFF
BUREESTE BHEIBRATAREKENFEE
o BEREEEERZEERERHUFEETEE. B
SEL2ERHTEIBMTR(BEHEEXBEIEEN
ARBEHHE (S REREERERNSHEF RAE) T
EERIHEERAN)FHEE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWETNNEERARENSE

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
BABRETEFEE(HReR)

— understanding the management’'s policy on
identification of damaged, slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and critically assessed whether appropriate
allowances had been made;

Tﬁ@aﬁ)ﬁfﬂ REBHIZE - BHMREFEHNBR
WERFERECEHEE#E

—  observing in the stocktaking process to understand the
damaged, slow-moving and obsolete inventories as

identified,;
REFERHAEPERUNTREHENNZE - FHEK

REFRE

—  evaluating the key assumptions, such as latest market
prices and current market conditions including
incremental cost directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental cost which must incur to make the
sale on a sampling basis;

BMEEEFEERER  OsxFHELRBRTR
(BREEERBRERERANRBELHEERELN
IHIBERA) -

AEEEERERAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
& N7 % EX Bl ¥k 25

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (coNTINUED)

Key audit matters

REEFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HARESEE

Allowance for inventories (Continued)

FEREE(E)

Refer to Notes 2 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Bk AN L2 8 16 ()

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter —
because of its significance of balance and the involvement of
significant management’s judgement and estimation in the
assessment.

B L FEHA A —BERET TR RESGEHE
REAZEHES REXNE R A R AE -

R

EMNETNNEERARENSE

checking the utilisation of inventories across the
subsequent sales, on a sampling basis; and

AEEREERTFENERBN - &

— assessing the sufficiency of allowances and related
disclosures on inventories made by the management of

the Group.

Aty BEREEEEMFFERENIEERERTS R

5 -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in 2024
annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’'s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1 37 1% SX Bl 3k 25
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Lam Kwok Sun

Practising Certificate number: P08281
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' CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

iRl

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 BIEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE F#&T FET
Revenue e 4 539,611 697,514
Cost of goods sold 75 n 38 B AR (429,488) (561,600)
Gross profit E 110,123 135,914
Other income Hib A 5 8,495 16,082
Other losses, net H g8 %5 b (2,427) (1,825)
(Provision for) Reversal of loss allowance B 5 & IE (E1EEE)
on trade receivables Es i8R 31 (1,854) 570
Selling and distribution costs SHE Koy SRR (5,606) (4,604)
Administrative and other TR EMEERT
operating expenses (116,719) (114,780)
Finance costs B RS RAR 7 (2,802) (5,436)
(Loss)Profit before tax MRBE AT (&5 18) S F (10,790) 25,921
Income tax expenses FrigBiF sz 10 (2,875) (2,464)
(Loss)Profit for the year attributable RATEZIZTEAEN
to equity holders of the Company FREER)EF (13,665) 23,457
(Loss)Earnings per share attributableto AT EIZIFE AL
equity holders of the Company BR(EE)ER
(expressed in Hong Kong cents) (AL SIR)
Basic AR 12 (2.20) 3.78
Diluted e 12 (2.20) 3.75
86 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
S ES LR ES

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
(Loss)Profit for the year FR(EHER)&EF (13,665) 23,457
Other comprehensive loss: Hitt 2 mEEE
Item that may be reclassified A ENIIA R 2 EE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising BEEIMCEEENER 258
on translation of foreign operations (14,856) (10,019)
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the A FEREEABLER
year attributable to equity holders of 2E(EEB)W=EE
the Company (28,521) 13,438

AEREEIERER AR 87
202LFF 3R
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At 31 December 2024 22024412 A31H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NMERE 14 561,735 612,489
Financial assets at fair BAREFABENSREE
value through profit or loss (“FVPL") ([BAARBEFAERE]) 15 25,981 32,626
Rental deposits Heke 551 309
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 24 2,707 1,829
590,974 647,253
Current assets RBEE
Inventories "FE 16 71,421 78,213
Trade and other receivables g5 Rk H A K GRTE 17 132,435 113,301
Income tax recoverable AR B PT1S AR 29 3,024
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMNRSEEY 18 129,454 132,590
333,339 327,128
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 REMERNFIR 19 118,571 104,728
Payables for construction in progress JEREETRERIE 20 101 906
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEMER 21 31,221 61,939
Deferred income PRI 25 22 1,449 1,480
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 2,153 2,393
Income tax payables FERT RS HE 2,686 2,240
156,181 173,686
Net current assets REEEFE 177,158 153,442
Total assets less current liabilities HEEBRBERS 768,132 800,695

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
in e E IR ER

At 31 December 2024 #2024 12 A 31 H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE FHT T
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Payables for construction in progress JEEE TR RIE 20 2,248 2,190
Deferred income IRIE W 25 22 6,966 8,594
Lease liabilities HEBaE 23 6,146 1,425
Deferred tax liabilities I E 24 7,829 5,722
23,189 17,931
NET ASSETS EEFE 744,943 782,764
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital A& 25 62,000 62,000
Reserves (=] 26 682,943 720,764
TOTAL EQUITY SR 744,943 782,764

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 187 were approved 586 B £ 187 B RGE A M MK N 2025 E 3 A
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and 28 AE E e E RIS - WHUTES

signed on its behalf by REFEL
CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan

FeR 4R K PR & iR

Director Director

EE Ea

AEEEZERERAT 89
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
inoiEmE2EE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 BIEFE

G

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AP REE AER

Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

(% R ME -ENE LERE BERE BRERE 252 st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR T THL TR T THL TR THT
(Note 25)  (Note 26(a))  (Note 26(b))  (Note 26(c))  (Note 26(d))  (Note 26(e))
(MizE25) (MisE26(a)) (BRE26(b) (FfaE26(c)) (MtaE2s(d)) (FitaE26(e))

At 1 January 2023 M2023E1R1A 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (19,255) 2,435 589,459 781,726
Profit for the year FRREF - - - - - - 23,457 23,457
Other comprehensive loss: Hiv2EEE :
Exchange differences arisingon B RIMTEELH

translation of foreign operations (B X E% - - - - (10,019) - - (10,019)
Total comprehensive (loss) FR2E(EE)

income for the year Wz teE - - - - (10,019) - 23,457 13,438
Transactions with owners: BREEANRS
Contributions and distributions &R
Forfeit of share options (Note 27) ~ BERKERU (A5 27) - - - - - (234) 234 -
Dividends (Note 77/ BB H11) - - - - - - (12,400) (12,400)

- - - - - (234) (12,166) (12,400)

At 31 December 2023 #2023 128310 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (29,274) 2,201 600,750 782,764
At 1 January 2024 M2024F1R18 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (29,274) 2,201 600,750 782,764
Loss for the year FRABE - - - - - - (13,665) (13,665)
Other comprehensive loss: Ht2EEE
Exchange differences arisingon B EIMTEEAH

translation of foreign operations [ X %% - - - - (14,856) - - (14,856)
Total comprehensive loss FREEFHBER

for the year - - - = (14,856) = (13,665) (28,521)
Transactions with owners: BREAEANRS :
Contributions and distributions A& R
Forfeit of share options (Note 27) ~ BBRRIERU (A5 27) - - - - - (42) 42 -
Dividends (Note 71) BB (HrzE11) - - - - - - (9,300) (9,300)

_ - = = - (42) (9,258) (9,300)

At 31 December 2024 R2024F128318 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (44,130) 2,159 577,827 744,943

20 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

imalREREER

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024F12 A31 BILFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BT
Cash generated from operations KEFTSRE 28 33,396 102,038
Income tax refunded (paid) RE(BER)ATER 2,212 (5,774)
Net cash from operating activities RETEISHSFE 35,608 96,264
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Acquisition of a subsidiary W EgE— MM B AR = 70
Interest received BUFE 3,037 2,933
Receipt of finance lease receivables LT ER i s B FE E SR IE = 1,617
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - FE &K
plant and equipment FrfS k18 104 28
Proceeds from disposal of HERAETABTZH
financial assets at FVPL TREEMMSENIE 7,156 -
Receipt of government grants in relation  YWEREREUREE W2 -
to acquisitions of property, R M SR AR R BUR # B
plant and equipment - 247
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEWZ - &= K& (4,460) (5,215)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities REFB G (FTA) REFHE 5,837 (320)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
Dividends paid AR E 1 (9,300) (12,400)
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings  ¥TI&&T B &K 30(b) 27,894 48,675
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings {&i&at B &R 30(b) (57,824) (114,432)
Repayment of payables for BEERNTEEIENRIE
construction in progress 30(b) (1,555) (6,848)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaRE 30(b) (2,885) (2,549)
Interest paid ERFE 30(b) (2,701) (5,231)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEITEMARSFE (46,371) (92,785)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and ReRRESEEYWORD)
cash equivalents EHNFEE (4,926) 3,159
Cash and cash equivalents at FUESRESESEY
beginning of the year 132,590 128,368
Effect on exchange rate changes EXEHHTE 1,790 1,063
Cash and cash equivalents at end of EXRESRBESEEY
the year, represented by bank RTHESREES
balances and cash 129,454 132,590

AEREEZERER AR
202LFF 3R
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries referred to as the "Group”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
26 April 2017 and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) on
8 March 2018. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam (the “Ultimate Controlling Party”), who is also the
chairman and executive director of the Company. The registered
office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company's principal place of business is situated at Unit 6, 13/F,
Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales
of electronic cigarettes products (“e-cigarettes products”’) and
medical consumable products, and providing integrated plastic
solutions in Hong Kong and in the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The details of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective
term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange ("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2023
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
following new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
relevant to the Group and effective from the current year as set
out below.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 Bl 55 ¥ 2% B 5

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE2024F 12 A31 BIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEBGERE 157 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 1
BABGERZE 158, 2185]
Amendments to HK Interpretation 5

FESHBE®

RANFET RIETE BB REER
SR

AEE B RERAATEAEB BB
SNSRI BB R E RSl

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
BERESBEARENSIERE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
MSRAENIERBDEE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BEREBE LR ZER]
EHEFH O
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
ARG ENETRRES
SRS R 7 9% 2 185]
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB BIRE LR
F165R2EFT

HIER R E 2B

ERMEENHEERE

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the
statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an
uncertain settlement date should be classified as current (due or
potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current. The
amendments include clarifying the classification requirements for
debt a company might settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1. Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with after
the reporting date do not affect the classification of debt as current
or non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the amendments
require a company to disclose information about these covenants
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

MBHmEZ 2 - ERAHSHRERERIGKZ

Supplier finance arrangements

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
(Continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5. Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of @ Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

This interpretation is revised as a consequence of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants to align the corresponding
wordings with no change in conclusion.

The adoption of the amendments on this interpretation does
not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7. Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments require to enhance the transparency of supplier
finance arrangements (SFA) and their effects on an entity's
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk in response
to investors' concerns that some entities’ SFA are not sufficiently
visible, hindering investors’ analysis.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback in a
way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements do not
prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss any gain
or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), which
are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners
of the Company, in the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially
either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS Accounting
Standards.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest even if
this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in ownership interest (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the
date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts
owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a
financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the elements of control. In the Company's statement of financial
position which is presented in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investments is
reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to the profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as set
out below from the date on which they are available for use and
after taking into account their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Right-of-use assets
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Motor vehicles 3 years
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Computer 5-10 years
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Construction in progress represents buildings, leasehold
improvements, furniture and fixtures and machinery and
equipment under construction. It is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when the
construction is completed and the asset is available for use.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Research and development cost

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in
development activities, which involve the application of research
findings to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and processes, are capitalised
if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete
the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost
of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit
or loss as an expense as incurred.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments
and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain
control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured
at their transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured
at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income ("Mandatory FVOCI");
(iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("Designated FVOCI”); or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the Group’'s business model for managing the financial assets
and the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period,
following the change in the business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include rental
deposits, trade and other receivables and bank balances and
cash.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

2)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend
or interest income is presented separately from fair value
gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group's financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include the unlisted investments — key management
insurance contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings, payables for construction in progress
and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
(including interest expenses) recognised in profit or loss, except for
the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities
which is presented in other comprehensive income unless such
treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive
income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the
near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(iii)  a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL
only if:

(i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases;

(i) they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or

(iii)  they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those
of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
("ECL") on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with
HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as detailed before, at
each reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a
financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit
risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to an
entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects
to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of Mandatory FVOCI, the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial instrument
that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In particular, the following information is taken into account in the
assessment:

° the debtor's failure to make payments of principal or interest
on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

All financial assets, except for trade receivables, are determined
to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on the historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For
classification in the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash equivalents represent assets similar in nature to cash and
which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue recognition

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when
the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date and subsequently adjusted when such index
or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on
the straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease
payments are recognised as income in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired
financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products;

(i) manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic products;
and

(i) manufacturing and sales of medical consumable products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a
performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both
of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable
of being distinct); and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations (Continued)

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in
the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service
is distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
(i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as)
the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products and
medical consumable products are recognised at a point in time
at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e.
the customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in
determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The
effect of the significant financing component is recognised as an
interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from
contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with
the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and its customer at contract inception by
reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the
contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price
of the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears),
the prevailing market interest rates, the Group's borrowing rates
and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer
of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of
the significant financing component if the period of financing is
one year or less.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a
net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

For the business of manufacturing and sales of moulds and
plastic products, it is common for the Group to receive from the
customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before
the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for
such transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until
it is recognised as revenue. During such period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be accounted for as
the contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation. Contract liabilities in
relation to advances from customers are recognised under “Trade
and other payables”.

For the business of manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes
products and medical consumable products, the Group's billings
to its customer which are largely in line with the timing of revenue
recognition and no significant contract assets or contract liabilities
are recognised.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC
whose functional currency is Renmenbi ("RMB”), the functional
currency of the Company and its other subsidiaries is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency
("foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented, are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

° income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rate;
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

° all resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a
monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised as a separate
component of equity;

° on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation
and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation
that is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised;

° on the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation which does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
recognised in the separate component of equity is re-
attributed to the non-controlling interests in that foreign
operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

° on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that its property, plant and equipment (including the
right-of-use assets) and the Company's investments in subsidiaries
may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest
group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs
that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and
is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases
and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration
that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received,;

(c)  anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use
asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

(e)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and

there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease

liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease,
the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or operating
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the
contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — finance lease

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases. The Group applies
the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the
net investment in the finance lease.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a
separate lease if both:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024

FESHBE®
HEw
TEAHTENA

AEBENHEMGERBHKEZEEE
DEABMEHERELEME - HHE/H
B E S RPN B9 4B K0 0 L K [l ¥R
g AIZEESBARENE - TAH
HEHPBAEEHE -

EAKEATEEEA ~EESKRE
ERDBERMIBE LA LA  HRHE
ERNKBECREAERN e EHHEE
QDN BARKEHE  TRINDHEZER
MEEL 2 ERAREESERBERKES
HE -

AEEBAEARNANSHENDIER—A
MEHRAHZIFHEEBI DR - A%
BiZAEBYERBARNRENKEESH

AE 37
=

BH#m -

(ERLEA—BEHE

RIE R E TH & YRR A RIB IR A K E
EHEFHFRERCHAEKIR - £
BMEERADEZ G HIRE - URBRAE
EEREERNRERFRENEEEHR
mE o NEE K E BB REERNE 9
BUBER LRERTEAREREEFKR
BE -

ARBRRENERE L —HEBHE
ETETRE(WRREHR)

(a) ERIEBIEIN—IANIA LHBEEE
ZEREENEERE K&

b) MERENENBESBERES
TRMARRABESDBERZEM
EE BB ERREEREEIE -



vr‘/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessor — finance lease (Continued)

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the modification as follows:

(a) if the lease would have been classified as an operating lease
had the modification been in effect at the inception date, the
Group:

(i) accounts for the lease modification as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification; and

(i) measures the carrying amount of the underlying asset
as the net investment in the lease immediately before
the effective date of the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 9.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements
in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance ("MPF Ordinance”) for all of its employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries,
subject to a cap in accordance with the MPF Ordinance.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the reporting period. The
Group's obligations under the MPF Scheme are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme are fully and immediately vested in the employees once
the contributions are made. There are no contributions forfeited by
the Group on behalf of its employees who leave the MPF Scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contribution. Hence, there is no such
an issue whether forfeited contributions may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in
paragraph 26(2) of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods. The obligation is
calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted
to its present value and after deducting the fair value of any
related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’'s employees, including directors of the Company,
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost of such
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value of
share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity.
The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking into
account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024

FESHBE®
EBETF (@)
EBEHEF AT E %)

MR EBRHERE 2 MEHARIBRET
WRANY AEERBESHEI T 2R
FERNENZEEEDHLHR - RS
FHEMERE A HRER B BH R AEFB
REES - F"EBSERREREEEES
B R AT B AT B B B )8 YT 5K ©
H - BEE E TR AR D2 5 26(2) R FT
MERWM R AT AREBEE A - LURD
WAMFUKE o

RIBFBDEPISOER » NEER BB
MEBNEEESEM BN ZHNE
BEFURKGETE - MR Fat EIELAERK
REEBRBRETXHE - MEZESAH
O AEEBELSEEB X RKET
FREMEMEE

RARE T

AEERBEERERGOHRARE SR
BEEFET R ENAHE KB T HFE MR
IR PRI R KB 8 - BEEET
ERBEREMEEENE  LHRERR
BERENREABREE(REZZRA
srEIwADHARE -

RGBT RS
KU mia B A

AEENEE (BEARTEE) BB
BERNMRZ S 2 X BRBH - Hep
1R BUA SR AR RS DU ERIR 15 23 R AR5
HEF) - HERERETNRINATEE
BHABOBEATANRAENE - BT
1B B BB R S ER A B TR -
RS R TR - DA E TR
R AE 7745 (R 2 JE 08 6 6 14 U I8
KB -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the entitlement of relevant employees to the award is no
longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting
conditions ("vesting date”). During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for
the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred
tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill, or other asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
undistributed dividend, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured at the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree (if applicable) and the fair value
of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed of the acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate
asset and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not
reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts
of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business over the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if
applicable) and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED) 2. EEEHEE®
Goodwill (Continued) B o)
Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the previously BUHE B B A A EE T E TR UEE
held equity interests in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair FRA 2R R E £ 2 R P EIER ok
value is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive BERESNEMAEERE(ER)E
income, as appropriate. e
Related parties 2]
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. Bl S AR AL B B A TR ERE -
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is (a) M—BATHEUTEL  ZEA
related to the Group if that person: ok ER R A A EL AN K (B B B
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; ()  HAREEEZEHIRESKLRIES
1
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAREBBERTES %
(ili) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) ARNEEIAEEZEERARN
Group or of a holding company of the Group. FEEEAB o
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) M—HEBFEUTEYE  HAlA
conditions applies: AR &R [H 5 R
() the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREAAEEAR—S£EH
group (which means that each holding company, MERBI(BD IR AT~ K
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the BRARKERNEB ARG
others). BRAEE) -
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) HP—HEREAS HEEZ
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of BEARReERrEEAES
a group of which the other entity is a member). —MEEMBEEEKXE QRN

(il both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (i) MEEBHYAR—F=ZFME
B o
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (v, Hf—HERAE—HFE=-FN
other entity is an associate of the third entity. EEE ME—HEERAZ
FE-HEERT] o
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZEEBAARSESHEAEEHEBF
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity PR EEMEE BN MR
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, BIREMNEE - WAKERS
the sponsoring employers are also related to the RETE - RHERHEED
Group. PR ER [H 5 R o

AEREEZERER AR 123
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"NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)  that person's children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the executive
directors of the Company for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Segment reporting (Continued)

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker ("CODM"). The Company’s executive directors and the chief
executive officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have been
identified as the CODM that make strategic decisions.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management of the Group in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application
of the Group's accounting policies, reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They
are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where
appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives of the Group's property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions.
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result
of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

2,

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (including

right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment are impaired
when an indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment, which is based on the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. Where appropriate,
the fair value less costs of disposal was determined by the
management of the Group using the cost approach and/or
direct comparison method. Fair value which is determined
by using cost approach requires an estimation of new
or current replacement cost of the assets from which
deductions are then made to allow for physical deterioration
and all forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The fair
value using direct comparison method is based on available
data from observable market with respect to similar assets
together with certain estimations. In determining the value
in use, expected cash flows generated by the assets are
discounted to their present values, which requires estimation
relating to the sales volume, selling prices and amount of

operating costs.

Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

such a reversal takes place.

Fair value of financial assets at FVPL

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial assets at FVPL are related to
the unlisted investments in key management insurance
contracts and the fair values at the end of the reporting
period were determined with reference to the respective
surrender cash value of each insurance contract, which
is primarily based on the performance of the underlying
investment portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum

returns, reported by the bank on a regular basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined by
reference to the surrender cash value. The inputs are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss
allowance for trade receivables by using various inputs
and assumptions including but not limited to risk of default.
The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is
based on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the actual outcome is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
profit or loss and the carrying amount of trade receivables.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. If the ECL rates of the trade receivables between
1 and 90 days past due had been 1% higher (lower) at the
end of the reporting period, with other assumptions held
constant, the loss allowance would have been approximately
HK$133,000 (2023: HK$69,000) higher (lower).

Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for inventories that are identified as obsolete,
slow-moving or no longer recoverable based on estimations.
The management of the Group carries out the inventory
review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances
by reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions.

&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)
(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities — as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit
in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the
discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that
is readily observable as the starting point and then applies
judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

Future changes in HKFRS Accounting Standards

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are not yet effective for current year,
which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21

FEGRTERE 21 R ERT BRZ Al

N

Lack of Exchangeability 1"

FESHBE®
BRI AT R Y EH e

(i)

BRUBHREEAS
g

1aaT THEE 1EAYE B (4)
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Tian

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BRUBIMELERE 95N
FREMBREEAFE 7R EFT

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments 2
SBTESFRGHEZ BT

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Volume 11 @
Accounting Standards
ERV GRS ER G ER 2 FEUIE ERRE

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
BB EEREERNE 95 R BB
HAERNE 752185

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity 2

WRKBEAREREEENNAHY

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements ©!

HKFRS 18
BAMBRELRAE 185 FBHRER 25| R RE D
HKFRS 19

BB R EERIFE 1957
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

FEMHHRELEE 105K
FEGRTERE 28R ZEFT
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Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures @

FARZERAMBATNEED

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

=i

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

1l The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the adoption
of the new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in future periods
will have any material impact on the Group's consolidation
financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being identified as the chief operating decision makers ("“CODM"),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of goods delivered. No
operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacturing and
sales of moulds and plastic products.

3) Medical consumable products segment: manufacturing and
sales of medical consumable products.

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from manufacturing
and sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs, provision for/reversal of loss allowance on
trade receivables, write-off of property, plant and equipment and
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment incurred by
each segment without allocation of other income, other losses,
net, administrative and other operating expenses, finance costs
and income tax expenses. This is the information reported to the
CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° segment assets include certain property, plant and
equipment, inventories and trade receivables. Other assets
are not allocated to operating segments as these assets are
managed on a group basis; and

o segment liabilities include trade payables and contract
liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating
segments as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (coNTINUED) 3.
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results by
reportable and operating segments:

PEEFE )
DENE R EE )

AT AAEE R R E REE D e das M
ES RN

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total
—B1xE
ETEER BRAR BEHEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T F#& T FHET FHET
Year ended HZE2024%F12831H8
31 December 2024 LEE
Segment revenue ARl 90,989 445,558 3,064 539,611
Gross profit ESVY 11,132 98,546 445 110,123
Provision for loss allowance & 5 fEURFIE
on trade receivables sty (154) (1,700) - (1,854)
Write-off of property, VI~ BB KRS
plant and equipment - (17) = (17)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - HE K&
plant and equipment RIEBE (62) (60) - (122)
Selling and distribution costs  $5%5 &7 $#5ACAR (56) (5,550) - (5,606)
Segment results DEBEELE 10,860 91,219 445 102,524
Unallocated income RDACWA R
and expenses
Other income H WA 8,495
Other losses, net EthEs i FER (2,288)
Administrative and TR REMEERS
other operating expenses (116,719)
Finance costs B T AR R (2,802)
Loss before tax bREIRIEE (10,790)
Income tax expenses FrigBiFsZ (2,875)
Loss for the year FABE (13,665)
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. SEE#Ee
Segment revenue and results (Continued) oI R R A ()
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total
—E b2
EFEEM AR BEEED @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHEIT FHEIT T
Year ended BZE 2023124311
31 December 2023 FFE
Segment revenue 7 Ef U 122,726 572,400 2,388 697,514
Gross profit (loss) EN(ER) 15,176 122,913 (2,175) 135,914
Reversal of loss allowance B S EURFIA
on trade receivables =gicbedi=Ee el - 570 - 570
Write-off of property, plant Y% ~ BB M & H
and equipment - (191) - (191)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - HE K&
plant and equipment RIEBE - (27) - (27)
Selling and distribution costs  $5% &5 $#HACAR - (4,604) - (4,604)
Segment results DEBHELE 15,176 118,661 (2,175) 131,662
Unallocated income RSAWA R
and expenses
Other income H WA 16,082
Other losses, net EhEsiEFEs (1,607)
Administrative and TR REMEERS
other operating expenses (114,780)
Finance costs EURGID RN (5,436)
Profit before tax R A& A 25,921
Income tax expenses Frigfif sz (2,464)
Profit for the year F N A 23,457

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. 9EEHE®
Segment assets and liabilities THEERARE

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic  consumable
products solutions products  Unallocated Total
—fbxE
ETEER BARR BEREEER RAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET THET TET TET
At 31 December R2024F
2024/Year ended 12A318/
31 December 2024 BZE2024F
12A31HILEE
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets  A] e D &4 & 29,822 371,927 6,047 516,517 924,313
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment ARENHEE
liabilities 8,898 76,972 - 93,500 179,370
Other information Hipgp
Capital expenditure EwNGET 142 1,079 - 12,735 13,956
Depreciation nE 2,876 39,150 1,673 7,200 50,899
Write-down of inventories  TF &R - 3,589 - - 3,589
Research and MRS
development expenses 3,332 14,466 - - 17,798
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic ~ consumable
products solutions products Unallocated Total
—BBE
B EEMR AR  BEEES RO mmEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FAT FHL FAT FAL
At 31 December 2023 4F
2023/Year ended 124318/
31 December 2023 EHE2023F
12ANBLEFE
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets  AJ 3R D2 & & 35,625 388,403 6,918 543,435 974,381
Liabilities =N
Reportable segment AmESIaRE
liabilities 11,967 53,223 - 126,427 191,617
Other information HihEn
Capital expenditure EwNGET 140 1616 84 7,978 9818
Depreciation nE 2,978 39,470 1,688 6,572 50,708
Write-down of inventories  TF &R 626 3,193 2,281 - 6,100
Research and RS
development expenses 7,397 22,094 = = 29,491
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

G

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 3. #BEH
Geographical information & & R
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREJEBEAEEYE  BMENMRE
location of the Group's property, plant and equipment (“Specified (EEFRBEE DMIBLENER - 15
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the Specified TFIETRBEEMNMIBANEIANEENER
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets. 8 RERE
Specified non-current assets IEEHTEEE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Hong Kong BE 4,149 6,210
The PRC a2 557,586 606,279
561,735 612,489
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is BEAAREERBIINBE P WEHERTIIR
presented based on the location of customers. BEFOMEZT -

2024 2023
2024 F 20235
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FE T T

Revenue from external customers REMFEF WG
The United States of America EFERE RE 102,227 101,421
The PRC A EY 321,393 251,574
The United Kingdom HE 21,919 21,153
Hong Kong B 583 91,033
Netherlands Gl 60,333 181,093
Brasil B 4,149 730
India ENE 25,048 40,208
Germany = - 6,237
Others HAh 3,959 4,065
539,611 697,514
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. SEE#E®

Information about major customers EBXEEFNESR

Revenue from customers of the corresponding periods R RE E PG A EE RS
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as MFRIBI0% BT

follows:

Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total

—R{LiEE
ETEEM RRTTR #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT TR FTERT

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE 2024512831 H

IHFE

Customer A and BEPAREBBAT

its affiliated companies - Note Note
Customer B and EFEBMEBEB AR

its affiliated companies 87,195 46 87,241
Customer C and EFPCRHEBB AR

its affiliated companies - 123,631 123,631
Customer D ®FD - Note Note
Customer E and BEENMEBEB AR

its affiliated companies - 58,723 58,723

87,195 182,400 269,595
Year ended 31 December 2023 ~ &(ZE 202312 A31H
LLFE

Customer A and BEFEAREEBAR

its affiliated companies - 143,509 143,509
Customer B and BEBLHEEB AR

its affiliated companies 116,041 - 116,041
Customer C and BEPCREBBAF

its affiliated companies - 93,762 93,762
Customer D EPD - 88,581 88,581
Customer E and HPERHEBE AT

its affiliated companies - Note Note

116,041 325,852 441,893

Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more P 7 R 7 (54RO M 5 3 K5 7 SR L e

. . % 9\13 °
of the total revenue of the Group during the respective year. 10% S
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

4. REVENUE 4.

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers FB M FREZERFE 15 EEHER

within the scope of HKFRS 15 REEFENRE
Sales of e-cigarettes products HEETEER 90,989 122,726
Sales of moulds and plastic products HERARBRBR M 445,558 572,400
Sales of medical consumable products  $5%6 & HFE M 3,064 2,388
539,611 697514
The revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of BB REEE 1S RBERNRERF
HKFRS 15 is recognised at a point in time. BRI TR — R B ER -
5. OTHER INCOME 5. HfhlrA
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Bank interest income HRITFEWA 2,727
Finance lease interest income BEMEER WA - 206
Government grants (Note a) ERAT R RL (Mt a) 1,523 1,761
Management service income B ARFS A = 814
Rental and utilities recharge income e MKEBREBUWA 4 3,149
Sales of scrap materials FERIEYE 465 999
Sundry income HMETEUA 1,159 1,418
Gain from early termination of lease R IEE AW (R HEA)
(as lessor) - 5,008
Gain on termination of leased properties 4% |FTHEWE MW (EAEEA)
(as lessee) 103 -
Write-back of other tax payables (Note b) HE[E1H 4th B R TE (154 b) 2,204 -
8,495 16,082
136 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

OTHER INCOME (conTINUED)

Note:

(a)

Included in the amount is the amortisation of deferred government grant
of approximately HK$1,469,000 (2023: HK$1,456,000) in relation to the
acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the remaining government grants recognised
directly in profit or loss have no unfulfilled condition or contingency
relating to the government grants.

Hbx A (&)

Byet

(a)

FefEeErllEETYE  BE LR
#HE ERRIE TR SH4Y 1,469,000 8
TC(2023 4 : 1,456,000 ) - NEBEIR
BRA - HEEREB=MERA RS BT ML
8% 45 B IR AT 47 B 75 B B R IE A IR sk A
HIF -

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group negotiated and (b) EHZE2024F12A31HLEFE  AEBK
reached an agreement with the PRC tax authority, resulting in the waiver ERrEPERBSEEER R  RReE
of related tax liabilities attributable to intra-company transactions ARAMBARTRBEFEHETRARIAR
conducted between the Company's subsidiaries in prior years. This SMERNHEBAREEE - LEEHEE
led to a write-back of other tax payables amounting to approximately H A FEFIELY 2,204,000 87T ©
HK$2,204,000.

OTHER LOSSES, NET ABRAR

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Exchange loss, net M B8 558 (1,551) (2,560)
Changes in fair value of BAREFABRNCRIEE
financial assets at FVPL (Note 15) NABEEE)(HiE15) 809 953
Realised gain from the disposal of HERQAEFT AR
financial assets at FVPL CRMEED SR NE 48 -
Write-off of property, M - B kR EMEE
plant and equipment (17) (191)
Write-off of other receivable Hif 5 EL A M ER IR (1,594) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - HER&EEE
plant and equipment (122) (27)
(2,427) (1,825)
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

7.

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

7.

BRIZAT (&SR )& F

It EFNER T FIFIEDIR

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Finance costs 95 %:N
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 5T B &5 & 2,428 5,052
Interest on payables for EREREIERENTE
construction in progress 101 205
Interest on lease liabilities HESHEFE 273 179
2,802 5,436
Staff costs, including BIEAK
directors’ emoluments (BEESHMSE)
Salaries, allowances and e R RHAMEYET

other benefits in kinds 138,555 136,628
Discretionary bonus BB TEAT 2,129 5,806
Contributions to defined )RR KA B3R

contribution plans 11,119 9,410
Total staff costs BT BEGIAI g RIEE

(charged to “cost of goods sold”, BRAR] -~ AT R E A A & X2 |

“administrative and ks |(tk@Em))

other operating expenses”

and “inventories”, as appropriate) 151,803 151,844
Other items Hihma
Cost of inventories FEKAR 429,488 561,600
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B Bl 35 A 1,419 1,566
Depreciation WEGIAI g mIEEAE]

(charged to “cost of goods sold” RI1TE R HAn e & A |

and “administrative and (fwiEm))

other operating expenses”,

as appropriate) 50,899 50,708
Write-down of inventories GFEMRGIAIEREERA])

(charged to “cost of goods sold”) 3,589 6,100
Write-off of other receivable H A SR TE 8 1,594 -
Short-term lease payments G HAIF &30 73 -
Research and development expenses MM 17,798 29,491
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8.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or
receivable by the directors of the Company are set out

below.

Year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

8. HBREZEIREF
EEHH
ARBEFCDHHERFM 2B

(a)

RSN o

BZE2024F 1231 BILEE

Salaries, Contributions
allowances and to defined
Directors’ other benefits  Discretionary  contribution
fees in kinds bonus plans Total
e 2ER ERHES
Bz HtBEYWEA MERA TR o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TET TAR THR THET
Executive directors ' HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRIEAR - 8,089 - 18 8,107
Chan Yin Yan BRAM - 4,160 - 18 4,178
Poon Po Han Lisa EER - 3,445 - 18 3,463
Independent non-executive BUFNTEE
directors’
Chan Bing Kai R 180 - - - 180
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 180
Ng Chi Wai REE 180 = = = 180
540 15,694 - 54 16,288
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS 8. BREZERH#l(»
(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) EEHFM

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12A31 HILEE

Salaries, Contributions
allowances and to defined
Directors’  other benefits  Discretionary contribution
fees inkinds bonus plans Total
o RHR ERMR
EZWE EnEWET BETEAL HELS et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FEL TAL TET
Executive directors ' HTEE
Chan Tsan Lam gz - 8,093 - 18 8,111
Chan Yin Yan PR - 4,160 - 18 4,178
Poon Po Han Lisa AR - 3,445 - 18 3463
Independent non-executive BUHHITEE
directors?
Chan Bing Kai Br R P 180 = - - 180
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 180
Ng Chi Wai RER 180 - - - 180
540 15,698 - bl 16,292

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their 1 YRR ITESM S AR S
BRARRRAEENEHERHME

R -

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

2 EXFRARZ BT ERME )Y
REEEERRFESR 2R -

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

REMELENMBSARAEFEATT
B HEREXHABEEZMEERERK
HEBFRTE 2B -

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included those for
services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

HZE 2026 F K% 202312 A31 BIEE
B AEERERAQREMES
S SREMNME - EARSIEEM
A BRI A 7N 52 [ B Y 4 B o B B 4
8o B £2024%F 2023512 A 31
HIEFE BEEEREXRER
(TR H IR ZHE -

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its
employees based on their performance, qualifications and
the Group's operational results. The Group also reimburses
its directors of the Company and senior management of the
Company for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the operations of the
Group.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or payable by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company in respect services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors of the Company, their controlled
companies or entities connected with such directors entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Group was a party and in which a director of
the Company, or an entity connected with the director, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

8.

BRESEEHN»

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BEEHM )

AEENFHBERSREEENEK
B BEREAKENEEREHH
R - NREBMRHEARRE
ERRREEERAAEERHER
B ETHEEAREESABOR
RRMEANLEZESENER -

EERAKERN

HE 20245 K 2023F 12 A31 8 1E
FE - AEERERARBEMNE
EYfiskEAEAQARNEMNER
AIEKERBBEMNRE S EAERK
&F

LESERZH/ACER - BEX
REMR S

HE2024F % 20235 12H318
HFE BMEUNARTES  #5F
MIER AR EZEEEEHEN
ERASTZANF VS GFEZHMBE
o BERSEMZS -

EENRS  RESEHNEFH
EXER

BRIFE M BmERMT2OMB RS
Sh BEEAEB AT AEXRR
EENHZESEEHNERENE
PEEIEEEBEE AR BH A
SEEXEBBEANEMR S - T8
RAEHRFRYEZE 2024 F 2023
FNRANBLEFENEAREET

=]
g °
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9.

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

LEREHMAL

HE2024F R 2023F 12 A3 BIEEE
HEZZSHMALHOIFNT

Number of individuals

N
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
Director == 3 3
Non-director FEE 2 2
5 5

Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2023: two)
highest paid individuals who are not a director of the Company are

EormR(2023F : A )IERRNREEZ
SEHMA T ZHBFEBOT

as follows:
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and other e R REMAEMEF
benefits in kinds 5,868 3,893
Discretionary bonus BIETE4L 6 1,006
Contributions to defined TE R KA IR
contribution plans 60 70
5,934 4,969

The number of the highest paid individuals, who are not the
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within the
following emoluments band is as follows:

WHARBEEBHFMN FUATHEN R
SEMA LT AT

Number of individuals

A

2023
20234

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 87T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

1,000,001 /87 CE 1,500,0008 7T
1,500,001 /87T E 2,000,0008 7T
2,000,001 7T = 2,500,000 87T
2,500,001 72 3,000,000 47T
3,000,001 772 3,500,000 47T

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (conTINUED)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of these
highest paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which any of these highest
paid non-director individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X

Year ended 31 December 2024 #EZE 202412 A31 BILFE

IggeFMALe

HE2024F K 2023F 12 A31BIEFE -
REBBEMNTNZERSHMIEESA
TS EMA I - (EARSIEEMASK
MAREERNRESBBRGEE - BHE
2024F ] 2023F 12 A3 HILFE » e
AMZERERFHEEEALIHERRE
WET A SR ZHE -

TAXATION 10. R\
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current tax BPEA T 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BAENEFH
Current year KEE - 102
Over provision in prior year BEFEEERE (79) (657)
(79) (555)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EFTSHL
Current year KEE 3,827 1,559
Over provision in prior years BEFEBBREE (2,467) (258)
1,360 1,301
Deferred tax (Note 24) EERLIE (M 24)
Origination and reversal of ERy AR A A K]
temporary differences (73) 598
Utilisation of tax losses recognised BERHIEEEZEA 1,667 1,120
1,594 1,718
Total income tax expenses for the year SN FT15H: 50 % 4458 2,875 2,464

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax under these jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profits tax rates regime
by the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong from the year
of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the assessable profits of a
Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group (as elected by
the management of the Group) is subject to the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
will be taxed at 8.25% (the “graduated tax rate”), and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5% (the “standard
tax rate”).

REASHEMNABEZHES((HBEX
BB DARRNAED - NEEBEAZRZ
FERVERERNEAER

RIEBBHBEHE 2018/19 51 FE 5
HEF SR MRS - AEBEHTETMK
YHBRAR(MMAEEEREREE)WN
JERBOREFBETHESHMAG - BlE2
AEBTTHERT G #51%28.25% ([ RiE
BR OB EAT LBR2EEETHE
RFLE IR 16.5% T RGRR ([BER
£])o
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

10.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Hong Kong Profits Tax
has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for taxation

purposes in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one of the Group's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, was a qualifying entity under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits will
be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The Hong Kong Profits Tax of other Group's
entities which established in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands
is calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their respective
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") at a statutory rate of 25%, except
for Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial Company Limited (English
translation of BN RREZEABRRAF for identification purpose
only), which was approved to be a "New and High Technology
Enterprise” since December 2022 with a valid period of 3
years. The “New and High Technology Enterprise” is subject
to a preferential rate of 15% during the valid period. The State
Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in March 2021
that enterprises engaging in research and development activities
would be entitled to claim at maximum 200% of their research and
development expenses as “Super Deduction” and the directors of

the Company considered Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial Company
Limited was eligible to enjoy the Super Deduction until year 2023.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

3 ACTE))

HE2024F12A31BILFE » WETIR
EENEHEE  REAAEEREBE
EEE(HREMS)

HE200F12A3BILEE A&EH
H—REEHNB AR AFISHMATIET
MAEBREER 82888 TNHEMBIZ
8.25% E MR B 2 A BB T FE R B &R
FIKIZ165% T - XEBREARAE
HERUMEMEEBOEENEHLES
BREBEENMEFEREE IR 16.5%
RIIRER T E -

NEEN R B HE 8 EIE25% 8%
EREHNPBEPEESH(IEERMS
B HEEMNTAREEZEBRAR B
2022F 12 RS E Bl SR ZE]
BHERIF o [T E IR ESHAR
L15% BB RN - PRBIRE KR
BR2021 3 AEMH - HEHZEHHD
¥R EMEE AR R 200% B[ I0E
HMBRIAREARREERABNTRREE
EBRADFTEERZZMETIR EE
20234 ©

FR8BRA YR

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

(Loss) Profit before tax BREEAT (B &F (10,790) 25,921
Income tax at applicable tax rate HEAREGTENMER (1,957) 4,123
Effect on graduated tax rate REMENTE - (79)
Non-deductible expenses DA NFL B 432 250

Additional deduction allowance 2SR AR RO BB SNTR O B

for research and development costs - (3,782)
Tax exempt revenue = (392) (436)
Tax concession TR - (12)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERHIBEHEZREFE 7,338 379
Others Hb - 5
Over provision in prior years BEFEEERE (2,546) (915)
Write-down of deferred tax assets TEREFIE & EHUR, - 2,931
Income tax expenses for the year FRFEBIFRYZ 2,875 2,464
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

10. TAXATION (cONTINUED) 10. MEA®)
Reconciliation of income tax expenses (Continued) BBk
The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates BRABEERASENESLCEMEMER
prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities operate. TTRIINREF TR -
11. DIVIDENDS 1. R
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T
Final dividend in respect of 2023 FARHR EEFR LB
2023 of HK1.5 cents per 1.5 802022 F < 2.0 &)
ordinary share (2022: HK2.0 cents) 9,300 12,400
Not recognised final dividend - RERKRERE —RNEE
Final dividend declared after the BEXAMETIRAREBARE
balance sheet date of HKnil cents B BERZT A
per ordinary share (2023 4F : 1.58M) (H15F)
(2023: HK1.5 cents) (Note) - 9,300
Note: The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of a final Met - RAREREETIRA K ,H,ﬁ\& '%*(202.3
dividend (2023: final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share totaling F 3\:/‘%&1? SR EER .58 - BT
HK$9,300,000). 9,300,000/7T) °
12. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. HE(GR)AT

BREARNEE) B TDER A DG #H
BAEARMGER) ST REZ2024F K
2023F 12 AT HIEFEBEBITEBRM

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is based on
(loss) profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

T el
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: T IRGHE -
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss) Earnings for the purpose of A B IRE AR REE (15 ) & T
calculating basic and diluted (B8 ) & F -

(loss) earnings per share:
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to ~ ANRABEZIFA A BN
equity holders of the Company FRBEE) R (13,665) 23,457

AEREEIERER AR 145
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

12. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 12. BSR(GE)&8# o)
'000 ‘000
TR iR
Number of shares: Vg 4=

Weighted average number of ordinary  FAETESRER(EE) BFIH
shares for the purpose of calculating AR I T B

basic (loss) earnings per share 620,000 620,000
Effect of dilutive potential BEHELBRTE
ordinary shares:
— Share options of the Company —RNREIERE (K ita kb)
(Note a and b) - 6,184

Weighted average number of ordinary it E FREEE (E1E) BFIH
shares for the purpose of calculating TR hnE T B

diluted (loss) earnings per share 620,000 626,184
Basic (loss) earnings per share BIRER(EE) 2 BL)
(HK cents) (2.20) 3.78
Diluted (loss) earnings per share SR EESE (B518) BRI GBI
(HK cents) (2.20) 3.75
Note a:  For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company's share option Htita: BEBE2024F12831BIEEE - AAFIH
scheme had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per share BERET 2 A E A Bt E BB
calculation. The conversion of the above dilutive potential shares is ERE o NEE2024F12831 HIEFE
not assumed in the computation of diluted loss per share for the year B E RIS E P W EERGR H iR Fit
ended 31 December 2024. Therefore, the basic and diluted loss per EEEERD - Bt - 8E2024F 124
share for the year ended 31 December 2024 are the same. 31 B IEFEEREARBESEEHER -
Note b:  For the year ended 31 December 2023, the computation of diluted Fiztb - BE2023%F 12831 BIEFEE » ARA
earnings per share assumed the exercise of the first and second NERE R E - R E B AR A (T
tranche of share options (Note 27) granted by the Company because H27)MITEERRAARRGHFES
the exercise price of these share options was lower than the average TE - WETESRBERTEDBR
market price of the Company's shares. SEBRERITE -
146 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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13. SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

13. BT

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Place of

incorporation/
establishment
HMERL/
R

Name of subsidiary

WELRAER

Directly held by the Company
FLAERRE

Tian Chang Investments Limited The BVI
Tian Chang Investments Limited EERNHE
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI
Sun Leader Holdings Limited RERUEE
Indirectly held by the Company

AR AFERE

Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong
ARBRERAA Bl
Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong
AREXARRA Bl
Tian Chang Industrial The PRCUI

(Shenzhen) Limited*
AREZ(RY)BRAA G

Date of
incorporation/
establishment

K B

20 April 2017

017F4A208
20 April 2017

017F4A208

16 May 2006

2006F5A 168
13 June 2006

2006564138

26 September 2006

2006F9A 28

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital/
paid-up capital
BRIRE/
HMER/
BRETHREER

United States Dollar
('US§")1
[EZ(ESA)
USS1

0

HK$10,000

1000077
HK$10,000

10,0007

Registered capital:
HK$100,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$100,000,000
EMER -
100,000,000757C
BRER:
100,000,000/57C

R E R B R AT

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
KRR ENELES

2024 2023
ANE

2024

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Principal activities/
place of operation

TERY/REn

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

RERR/BE

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

RaBk /&%

Investment holding/
Hong Kong

RERR/BE

Sales of e-cigarettes products,
medical consumable products
and providing integrated
plastic solutions/Hong Kong

HEBTEEM
BRERmIRE B
ABRANE/BE

Manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products and
providing integrated plastics
solutions/The PRC

RERHETTEERR
Rft—BICT 2R
PR/ HE

AEREEIERER AR
202LFF 3R
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

ARk

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Directly held by the Company

(Continued)
FLAFERE )
BEMTAREZERAA The PRC!
Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial

Company Limited*
BENTAREXERAA g i
Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited Hong Kong
FHERAEEERAR 6
FHEER (RN ERAA The PRCU
Sun Leader Mould

Industrial (Shenzhen)

Limited*
SHERE(RIBRAR ] i
MHERAEEEMBRAT The PRC!
Sun Leader Mould Industrial

(Huizhou) Limited*
FHBEEAEZ(EMERAA s

27 September 2000

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

13. BB »®

Nominal value

of issued

share capital/
registered capital/
paid-up capital
BRIKRE/
EMER/
BREANEEER

Date of

incorporation/

establishment
MR,/
K B

22March 2011 Registered capital:
Renminbi ('RMB’)
50,000,000
Paid-up capital:
RMB50,000,000
AR -
ARE(ARE])
50,000,0007T
BREK:
AK#50,000,0007C
HK$1,000,000

WI1EIANE

200049 3278 1,000,000 7T

17 June 2011 Registered capital:
HK$56,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$56,000,000

AR -
56,000,000 7T
BREK:
56,000,000 37T

Registered capital:
HK$80,000,000
Paid-up capital:
HK$80,000,000

AR -
80,000,000 7T
BRER:
80,000,000 77T

W11EGA17H

27 June 2011

011F6A278

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
AARENELES

2024 2023
035

2024

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEER/ /ey

Manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products, medical
consumable products and
providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

WERRESTEER
BREERERREG B
ABERAR/HE

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/Hong Kong

RE-BIOTERARE/
BE

Providing integrated
plastic solutions/The PRC

RE-BLIZRARR/
B

Providing integrated
plastic solutions/The PRC

RE-BLIERAFR/
T

148
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

13. BEBAB @)

Nominal value

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

of issued
share capital/
Place of Dateof  registered capital/ Attributable equity interest
N E] incorporation/ paid-up capital held by the Company Principal activities/
establishment establishment BRTRE/ ARARENELRR place of operation
Name of subsidiary AL/ ML/ HmEx/ 2024 2023 EERETIES L
WEARER K RIAH HREANREEE 2024 2023F
Indirectly held by the Company
(Continued)
FRFEEREE)
KREFVHERERAT Hong Kong 10 October 2019 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of medical consumable
Tian Hong New Materials products, e-cigarettes
Technology Limited products and polyester fibre
("PET") products/Hong Kong
REMERRARAT &% 2019108108 100007 HEBRHRD ETEEM
JFeAir:
([PET)ER /B
REFVHER(EMNERAF The PRCI 4 December  Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
Tian Hao New Materials 2019 HK$5,000,000 PET products/The PRC
Technology (Hui Zhou) Limited* Paid-up capital:
("Tian Hao’) HK$800,000%
REFIRE (EM)BRAR EN 019512848 AR - BERHEPETER,/TE
(X&) 5,000,000/
HRER:
800,000& L™
ERXTETREERAR The PRCY 25 October 2022 Registered capital: 100% 100%  Sales of e-cigarettes
Guang Dong Tian Yuan RMBB,000,000 products/The PRC
Electronic Technology Paid-up capital
Limited* ("Tian Yuen’) RMB600,000 (2023:
RMB400,000)"
BRATEFREARLA( X)) BB 20226105258 HEA HEETEER/TE
AE#5,0000007
BRER:
AR 6000007
(20035 -
A&#4000007)"
. . BT -

(i) Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

For identification purpose only.

(ii) Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC.

(iii) Limited liability company registered in the PRC.

(iv)  The registered capital of Tian Hao is HK$5,000,000. At 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group had injected HK$800,000 capital to Tian Hao
and the remaining amount shall be injected prior to 30 December 2029.

(v) The registered capital of Tian Yuen is RMB5,000,000. At 31 December 2024,
the Group had injected RMB600,000 (2023: RMB400,000) capital to Tian
Yuen and the remaining amount shall be injected prior to 24 October 2027.

(iii)

BFIBEREREK -
RFERHREN2EDRE -
RABEEMOEREEAT

FEHFEMME A% 5,000,0008 7T © 7 2024
F 2023128318 AEBRAKETE
& 800,000 7T+ AR RER N 2029F 12
A30BEFNEE

KK FMELR B AR S5000,0007T © A
2026F12A31H " AEBRKXKITEEA
R 600,000 7T(2023F © A £ # 400,000
) RS KR 2027410 B 24 BAE
ﬁ °

AEREEIERER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conTINUED)

(c)

The recoverable amounts of the prepaid land leases payments and
buildings from the e-cigarettes products segment and integrated plastic
solutions segment (2023: e-cigarettes products segment) have been
determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal using direct
comparison method and depreciated replacement cost method. The
fair value using direct comparison method is based on available data
from observable market prices of similar assets. The fair value using
depreciated replacement cost method requires an estimation of current
replacement cost of the assets from which deductions are then made
to allow for physical deterioration and all forms of obsolescence and
optimisation. The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3
fair value hierarchy. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets
was higher than its carrying amount and thus no impairment loss was
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amounts of machinery and equipment and leased
properties in respect of the e-cigarettes products segment have been
determined with reference to the value-in-use (the “VIU") calculations
using cash flow projections. The calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period. Cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period
have been extrapolated using a 2.0% long-term growth rate (2023:
2.5% long-term growth rate). This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the impairment review performed by the management of the
Group with reference to the VIU calculation conducted by an independent
professional valuer, BonVision International Appraisals Limited
(“BonVision”), the recoverable amounts of relevant assets were higher
than its carrying amount at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, no
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Key assumptions used in the VIU calculation are as follows:

14. 93k - BERRW @

(c)

ETEERO DR —BIBHIATED
B(2023F : EFMEE AR5 #5) B L0
HERKEFOHATRESEEEREEAR
AREREEXAERAEEZELBRERKTE
EERALET FAHAEELREET
AREDRBEEEUEEAHEMERS
WEE - FHCIMEEERAEZ ANE
R BEEEZEAEERA - BitF
ER IR - At REBICRFABR X ORE
NEL - ARENESEEE=-BANE
EBR - HEAEEMNTRECESNERET
B EILEZE2024%F 20234128318
IEFE B ERRERIE -

FHREFEEMD O R ZEN LA
E%%Wﬂ%@ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%@ﬁﬁﬁim;
BAGENEAEE(EREEDEE
FEFEDERARBERAEEETEENE L
RMENFHHEMBHEERE RERE
TER - AFERN LIRS REFEH2.0%
(20234 : 2.5% ) RAIERF) M RPIER
KIGH o ZIBRETDERERITHIERTE
B ETHBEBTENTHRAGRE -

BEAEEEEELEBYEEGERNE
REBRFHERARER]DETHER
BETEELORETG  R2024F R
202312 A31H  HEEEMNATRE S
EeRERERE - Bt BE204F K
2023F 12 A3 BIEFE - MEEREM
B -

FTEREBIEE TR ERIT

Budgeted average gross profit margin FEETHEME
Average growth rate TR =
Long-term growth rate REERX
Discount rate BRIR &

2023

20234
11.7% 12.2%
1.5% 10.0%
2.0% 2.5%
17.8% 18.0%

The management of the Group determined the budgeted average gross
profit margin and average growth rate based on past performance and
the expectation of market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific market risks relating to the e-cigarettes products
segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

Sensitivity of key assumptions

The management of the Group considered that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions used in the VIU calculation on the
machinery and equipment and leased properties in respect of the
e-cigarettes products segment would not cause an impairment loss at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amounts of machinery and equipment and leased
properties in respect of the integrated plastic solutions segment
have been determined with reference to the value-in-use (the "VIU")
calculations using cash flow projections of integrated plastic solutions
segment. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a 5-year
period. Cash flow beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using
a 2% long-term growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry.

Based on the impairment review performed by the management of the
Group with reference to the VIU calculation conducted by an independent
professional valuer, BonVision, the recoverable amounts of relevant
assets were higher than its carrying amount at 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, no impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Key assumptions used in the VIU calculation are as follows:

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

14. % - BERERW 2

(d)

(8)

AR (B AR A SRR 1

AEBEEEERANEERETEERD
BRI M R E AR TR EMENFERER
RETABRE SN TN E R fEZesT
SEHN 2024 F X 2023F 12 A31 BHEAE
A EE ©

B —RIOTBEART RO ABE M MR
BUAREEMEN TR SEE2EER
Reng8mlFE —BIBBRITED
MmuEREE(EREEDEE - FES
ETERRBEARBRESHEZRERSF
HRMBRERREZASRERD -
FHEAELNRSREEM 29 RIIER
RIFA - ZEEXDENBEBITEERR
A BRI RN T RMIERE -

REACEEEELEBLEEMGEME
BETHEREETEIELNRETE -
MH2024F12A31 8 - HEEEMTRE
SEaNERAE - Bt - #E2024F 12
A3 ALEFE - #EEREARERE -

FEEBEENBERERUT

2024

2024

Budgeted average gross profit margin FEHEFHERE 20.0%
Average growth rate TR = 2.8%
Long-term growth rate REPERE 2.0%
Discount rate ALIR = 16.1%

The management of the Group determined the budgeted average gross
profit margin and average growth rate based on past performance and
the expectation of market development. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects specific market risks relating to the integrated plastic
solutions segment.

Sensitivity of key assumptions

The management of the Group considered that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions used in the VIU calculation on the
machinery and equipment and leased properties in respect of the
integrated plastic solutions segment would not cause an impairment
loss at 31 December 2024.

AEBERERBEBERRLTIHERE
HETRETHENETRFEEEE -
FREREBRHATRIRE - RIR—8(0F
BRI R D AR E IS AR o

AR R AR A SRR 1

AEBEEEERATEER —BLTEMR
RAERDBEEM KRB EAREEWER
fFAEERTARREBRNTMAEE]
HEHY TS ENA2024F12 831 BEE
AR ©

AEREEZERER AR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

BOREHARSHNEMEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Unlisted investments - key FELMEE-FTEERERRE L

management insurance contracts

25,981 32,626

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the respective surrender cash value of
each insurance contract at the end of the reporting period, which is
primarily based on the performance of the underlying investment
portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum returns, ranging
from 2% to 3.9% per annum (2023: ranging from 2% to 3.9% per
annum) and are denominated in US$.

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is
analysed as follows:

FTEEEERREONAANENIZERE
BHARERBRAEVNEARRASEETR
NETTEHE DEEEREBRELEAS
NERUEKRBZEERRE SENT
2% Z3.9% ZE(20234F : FENF2% 2
3.9% 2 f) -

TREEERRAONEHOMIT

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period R ¥R ER¥] 32,626 31,633
Changes in fair value NAEEE) 809 953
Disposal & (7,108) -
Exchange realignments & H AR (346) 40
At the end of the reporting period REREEIR 25,981 32,626

At 31 December 2023, certain key management insurance
contracts with amount of approximately HK$32,626,000 are
pledged as collateral for the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
of approximately HK$5,773,000. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the related interest-bearing borrowings are fully
repaid, certain key management insurance contracts with amount
of approximately HK$13,937,000 are pledged as collateral for the
unutilised loan facilities.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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R2023F 12831 BT T EE
BEABRERE LS4 32626,000
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5,773,000 B TLHV IR @R o B ZE 2024
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BA 4 & T 13,937,0008 TIEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

INVENTORIES 16. K
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FHET
Raw materials JRAT R 25,082 20,903
Work-in-progress & m 9,366 18,063
Finished goods X 0 36,973 39,247
71,421 78,213
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was a provision HE2024F12A3BIEFE AR ™
for inventories in respect of write-down to net realisable value RELERTHLBABEN SRR B
of certain raw materials, work-in-progress inventories and BETRME - T2MTFERKM(2023
finished goods (2023: raw materials, work in progress inventories F D BH FRGFERKD)NEFES
and finished goods) due to obsolescence and/or diminishing AT FEMURELEE - Bt - BED
marketability as a result of changes in market condition. Therefore, 3,589,000 JT(2023 4F < 6,100,000,% 7T )
a provision of approximately HK$3,589,000 (2023: HK$6,100,000) BEEETER -
has been recognised in profit or loss.
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. BB REMEKRFRIT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE F#&T FHT
Trade receivables g 5 EWRRIE
From third parties EWE=7 17(a) 133,222 107,788
Loss allowance for ECL TERE BB 31 (6,790) (5,026)
17(b) 126,432 102,762
Other receivables Hth E W IR
Deposits By 535 432
Prepayment for suppliers HER TR FIE 549 A
Prepayment for insurance REETETFRIR 1,783 2,890
Other receivables H A SR IE 82 2,777
Value-added tax recoverable AR B E R 1,514 2,704
Prepaid expenses FERAX 1,540 1,292
6,003 10,639
132,435 113,301

AEREEIERER AR 155
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (coNTINUED) 17. BHRAMEWHRIE =)
17(a)Trade receivables from third parties 17(a) REE=ZFNEZEWRFE
The Group grants credit period up to 90 days to its AEFRRNHAZEZREMEZRPED
customers upon the issuance of invoices. &m0 HM{EEHR -
17(b)The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of loss 17(b) RREBRZEZHHES»NE S
allowance, by invoice date at the end of the reporting period W FIE(FREERE) MREKE D
is as follows: manr -
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within 30 days 308N 84,288 68,745
31 to 60 days 312 60H 28,977 20,266
61 to 90 days 612 90H 11,370 10,178
Over 90 days 90 HEA E 1,797 3,573
126,432 102,762
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of loss RERE R E 5 UGB (B Nk E
allowance, by due date at the end of the reporting period is BB A 2R DT T ¢
as follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Not yet due i A EI HR 107,918 87,775
Past due: B 288
Within 30 days 30BN 15,653 12,495
31 to 60 days 312 60H 2,442 2,034
61 to 90 days 61290H 28 191
Over 90 days 90 B 391 267
18,514 14,987
126,432 102,762
Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and EBEAEEMEREERBRURLE
loss allowance for trade and other receivables is included in SNEMEWFRIBEBRENER
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. B A TS HmERMIFEST -
156 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

18. & RHALEFED

R2024F 128318 REEUAR
BAENRSRASEEMHNARE
53,014,000 7T(2023 % = A & # 77,901,000
) FERRA R BEIRIRIT - RPEELSE
© /BB ERNE 2 BB R RIFE

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At 31 December 2024, the Group has cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounting to approximately RMB53,014,000
(2023: RMB77,901,000) and were placed with banks in the PRC.
The remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to relevant rules
and regulations imposed by the PRC government.

/T:_ °
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. B RHEMEMRR

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B RE FTHExT FHT

Trade payables B S EMARE
To third parties JENE=7 19(a) 73,066 55,512

Other payables H fth FE S FRE
Contract liabilities AHEaE 19(b) 12,804 9,678
Salaries and bonus payables [ E & RIELL 16,238 17,962
Accruals and other creditors JEETE R R HE AR 16,463 21576
45,505 49,216
118,571 104,728

19() EZENFE

REHRRZEZBHREOINE S
FER IR ARER D AT AN TS

19(a)Trade payables

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T T

Within 30 days 30BR 33,849 19,723
31 to 60 days 31E60H 23,255 23,403
61 to 90 days 61E290H 12,321 7,925
Over 90 days 90 BIA E 3,641 4,467
73,066 55,512

The normal credit term on trade payables is up to 90 days.

BEIRNRENEREEHTEBE

90 H -

AEREEIERER AR
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milk 3

19.

Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED)
19(b)Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

19. ESRHEMEMARE )

19(b) BN EE

H E 20245 K 2023F12 A31 8 1
FEFAEEBMBREERNE 155
MNEFAEHNNEHNEEEY (TR
B F AR D ATE LR ES)) a0
T

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

At the beginning of the REEHY
reporting period 9,678 18,101
Receipts in advances B IR 12,804 9,678
Recognised as revenue R AW (9,678) (18,101)
At the end of the reporting period RERE IR 12,804 9,678

The increase in contract liabilities at 31 December 2024 was
mainly due to the increase in the overall contract activities in
the integrated plastic solutions segment.

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of one year
or less.

20. PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

20.

R2024F 12 A3 BEHNBBEEMNHEE
AR — (LT ERAREDINEESD
SEENIE AN -

AEEFRBIERTHIR » ARERR
ATRHHIR A —FH—FATHRBED
EBHRBOER -

EfEEIRERE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Current portion MENEL 101 906
Non-current portion FEMENEL 2,248 2,190
2,349 3,096

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of the
production plants located in the PRC which the amounts due are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable from one to five years
since its inception. The carrying amount is determined based on
the present value of the total payable consideration discounted
using the effective interest rate of 4.75% (2023 4.75%) per annum.
At 31 December 2024, the amount of approximately HK$101,000
(2023: HK$205,000) represents the imputed interest charged to
profit or loss.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 21. BHERER
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured ETEEH - BEF 31,221 61,939
2023
20234
HK$'000
FHT
The carrying amounts of the W BB B EREEER
interest-bearing borrowings that do ZEH B EREREE
not contain a repayable on AR EEE
demand clause are repayable:
Within one year —FR - 222
The carrying amounts of the interest- BAEBERERERKRZ
bearing borrowings that contain FTEEREEE
a repayable on demand clause (RRBBEYIR)
(shown under current liabilities) BTN EEE
but repayable:
Within one year —FR 16,182 51,331
In the second year B 15,039 8,436
In the third to fifth year F=FRF - 1,950
31,221 61,717
31,221 61,939
Less: Amounts due within one year B R EEIRZ
shown under current liabilities —F RIS (31,221) (61,939)
Amounts shown under RIERBBEIN R &5

non-current liabilities

The interest-bearing borrowings from banks and a financial
institution are wholly repayable within five years since its
inception. At 31 December 2024, the interest-bearing borrowings
carried weighted average effective interest rate of approximately
3.76% (2023: 3.91%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, the interest-bearing borrowings are
secured by:

(i) certain buildings and certain right-of-use assets in respect
of the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$168,063,000 (2023:
HK$374,666,000), as set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements;

RERITE—HeREENT BERER
AERBRAAFTFAZHER - R 2024
F12R318  AFEEFIRNEFHER
FERRE)3.76% (20234 : 3.91% )58,

R2024F 128318 stEEZTIENLT
FIEIIH -

(i) HAVBHREMFLMHEEEE
SEEE A H#9168,063,000 7£(2023
F : 374,666,000 ) HE FTHEF
MEBEMLEERNERES
=

AEEEERERAR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

21. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 21. HERERE

NE#13,937,0008 L2023 F -
32,626,000 )M — T BERE
ABRBAE (LR E BTSRRI+
T5ATELD &

(i) a key management insurance contract with fair value of (ii)
approximately HK$13,937,000 (2023: HK$32,626,000), as set
out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements; and

(iii)  corporate guarantees provided by the Company (2023: (i) ANARHREADEIER(2023F - &K
corporate guarantees provided by the Company). INEJREREI L AHEIR)

22. DEFERRED INCOME 22. BEES

R2024F 12 A31H - AREBERBTE
B |9 3 JE Uy 35 49 48,415,000 JT(2023
F 1 10,074,0008) - FARUBEEYIZE -
BREE - ZEHAERAREENAE
BEPRNEBERNER ARG - REFTH
BEEVIEE IS » 49 6,966,0007870(2023
F : 8,594,000, 0 )IETEHAT @7 2024 F
12A31AZ%& 12 A NEIR BB
A ARIERBBERZ7 -

At 31 December 2024, the Group recognised deferred income on
government grants amounting to approximately HK$8,415,000
(2023: HK$10,074,000) which are used for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. These grants are to be realised to income in
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets. Included
in the deferred income on government grants, approximately
HK$6,966,000 (2023: HK$8,5694,000) represented the income that
is not expected to be realised to profit or loss within 12 months
subsequent to 31 December 2024 and therefore is presented
under non-current liabilities.

23.

Tian

LEASE LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets

(included in the property,

plant and equipment)

(Note 14)
Reconciliation of carrying

amount - year ended

EREEE(BEYE -
BB = R 548 (Mat 14)

REEHER-BZ
2023%F12831H

23. HEA®R

Prepaid
land lease
payments

Leased
properties Total

HEM* st
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

B L
HEM
HK$'000
TRz

31 December 2023 IHEE
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1H1H 39,923 3,686 43,609
Additions NE - 2,686 2,686
Acquisition of a subsidiary - SN - 69 69
Termination =k - (74) (74)
Depreciation e (1,015) (2,650) (3,665)
Exchange realignments R e (687) (35) (722)
At 31 December 2023 2023512 H31H 38,221 3,682 41,903
Reconciliation of carrying RHEZHE-EZE

amount - year ended 2024%12831H

31 December 2024 ILFE
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 A1 H 38,221 3,682 41,903
Additions NE - 8,738 8,738
Termination Feql - (1,214) (1,214)
Depreciation e (1,001) (3,423) (4,424)
Exchange realignments & H AR (782) (109) (891)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12H831H 36,438 7,674 44,112

Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (coNTINUED)

At 31 December 2023 A 2023%F12H31H

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

23. HBE&AE®

Prepaid
land lease
payments

Leased

properties Total

ALt
HER
HK$'000
FET

mct
HK$'000
FTERT

HEM=E
HK$°000
TR

Cost RS 50,430 6,993 57,423

Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (12,209) (3,311) (15,520)
38,221 3,682 41,903

At 31 December 2024 MA2024%12831H

Cost R AR 49,380 10,587 59,967

Accumulated depreciation RitineE (12,942) (2,913) (15,855)
36,438 7,674 44,112

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all lease contracts for
leased properties contain an termination option, in which the total
lease payment made amounted to approximately HK$3,231,000
(2023: HK$2,728,000), representing the total cash outflows for
lease during the reporting period. Most of the leases impose a
restriction that, unless approval is obtained from the lessor, the
right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group and the Group
is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying assets. The
Group is also required to keep those leased assets in a good state
of repair and return the leased assets in their original condition at
the end of the lease.

The Group leases various lands and properties for its daily
operations with initial lease terms ranging from 2 to 50 years
(2023: 2 to 50 years).

HZE2024F 12 A3 HIEFE  FrEHE
MENAESNHBESRIERERE - Hh
B MHEEERIBLN A3,231,0008 7T
(20234 : 2,728,000;87C) * HHERRE
HAEERSmHAE - RZHHE M
MR&| - MIEESEHEANIE - TANER
HEERAAERFER AR EAEET
EXNEHFHEBEE - 2EENARFZS
HEEERTHEEKE - WHRBERR
1SS B EME R RIAARAS o

AEEGREAEEERAS THIRED
¥ B HEBN F2E50F(2023F 2
ESE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Lease payments: MERK
Expenses relating to short-term leases R HEEARBEMAS 73 -
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML AR 3,231 2,728

AEREEIERER AR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (coNTINUED)

24,

23. HBEARE®

Present value of
lease payments

HESRWERE
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Amounts payable: EREEE
Within one year —FNRA 2,153 2,393
More than one year but HBi—F -
within two years BEMELAA 1,845 903
More than two years but FBAME
within five years BERFUA 4,301 522
Total lease liabilities HEBFEESE 8,299 3818
Less: Amount due for settlement within  J& : FREBIEE T 7R
12 months shown under Z12@ARE
current liabilities B E RIE (2,153) (2,393)
Amount shown under RIERBBE TR 28
non-current liabilities 6,146 1,425

The Group uses the lessee's incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in the
leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discount
rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that is readily
observable as the starting point and then applies judgement
and adjusts such observable rate to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

24,

HREENRENETZETE - BA%KE
BRAAME A Z 18 8 & 5N R EH AR KA E
FETRHR - RETHERREE - A%
E2ETERER A RIERELE &
BRUZABRNRERHEG LAERETE

HERRRIE -

il JE ¥R IR

2 EMBMREKRME - & TEEH
HEENBBECDEE - TRARMBHRS
B WL R ERIAAE R -

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deferred tax assets RIETRIBEE 2,707 1,829
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBEE (7,829) (5,722)
(5,122) (3,893)

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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The movement in net deferred tax position during the years ended

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (cONTINUED)

31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

=N\
il 3
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

24, BRERIEA )

HE2024F K 2023F 12 A3 BIEFE &
IEFRIEF AR ST

Temporary
differences
on income

and expenses

(including
depreciation)
Tax losses recognised
ERERBA
EABAR 1Y
ERER
BB EE (BfEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET F#ET F#ET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 8,725 (11,115) (2,390)
Charged to profit of loss RiBmA R (1,120) (598) (1,718)
Exchange realignments b (126) 341 215
At 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H 7,479 (11,372) (3,893)
Offsetting Eiic! (5,650) 5,650 -
Net deferred tax assets FRERIBEE(BE)FE
(liabilities) 1,829 (5,722) (3,893)
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 A1 H 7,479 (11,372) (3,893)
(Charged) Credited to REZEA (IR ETA
profit of loss (1,667) 73 (1,594)
Exchange realignments EH AR (52) 417 365
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 5,760 (10,882) (5,122)
Offsetting A (3,053) 3,053 -
Net deferred tax assets EEHEESE(AE)FHE
(liabilities) 2,707 (7,829) (5,122)

AREEEZERERAR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (cONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$77,179,000 (2023: HK$41,987,000)
available for offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the amount of approximately
HK$44,681,000 (2023: HK$6,589,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The tax losses reflected in above deferred
tax assets arising at the end of the reporting period which can be
offset against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries
will expire as follows:

24, BRIERBRA =)

REREBR - NEB A AREHER K G
FIEARE AR IEEE L A77,179,000%8
TC(20234F : 41,987,000/ 7T ) » &8 7 &
el O T e I S O 2 3
44,681,000 7T(2023 F - 6,589,000, 7T )
BRECHIEEE - FMEEHBEERN
RN BERREENATFESHER A
RRERBRFIE BN BEBEBRUAT
BHAZIE

2023
2023 4F
HK$'000
FET

Year of expiry B HF 17
2024 2024 F - 457
2025 2025 4F - 107
2026 2026 4F = 48
2027 2027 4F 3,669 17,628
2028 2028 4F 1,017 1,039
4,686 19,279
No expiry BRI R 27,812 16,119
32,498 35,398

Included in the unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$44,681,000 (2023: HK$6,589,000), approximately
HK$31,904,000 (2023: HK$6,200,000) was derived from Hong Kong
which has no expiry date under current tax legislation.

At 31 December 2024, the estimated withholding tax effects on
the distribution of PRC subsidiaries’ accumulated profits were
approximately HK$47,556,000 (2023: HK$46,281,000) which would
become payable when they are distributed. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, these accumulated profits are required
for financing the continuing operations of these entities and no
distribution would be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
no provisions for additional deferred taxation have been made.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

25. lg=®

2024 2023

25. SHARE CAPITAL

2024 F 2023
No. No.
of shares of shares
B8 AH A& 15 28
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000
T B Fh& FHT
Authorised: ZEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each #AREE0.1,57T
o=
At the beginning and end of R ER Y R BAR
the reporting period 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHME -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each #AZE{E 0.1,& T
) Z R
At the beginning and end of RS B R AR
the reporting period 620,000 62,000 620,000 62,000
26. RESERVES 26. fEfl

26(a) PR 1P E

26(a)Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain certain
statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up for losses, expand the existing operation and
convert to additional capital.

B EBEETARRBRNESRZ
FIERRFEEREEECER -
REFSHEERARFAEE
RAR ZELEANKTALQF
BRR - ARAARBIAARENZN
BEEBIET R HEMN 2 E -

26(b)Capital reserve 26(b) EXRREE
The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount due BEARFEBENBEFERFKIER
from the Group granted by the Ultimate Controlling Party FEONERAEBZERL &
in prior years and the aggregate amount of the nominal BEEKNASE 2 BERBHE T
value of the issued/registered capital of the entities now 1 AR 7S A AR T 4B (B R U0 A A A
comprising the Group less consideration paid to acquire the mHRE(E) -
relevant interests (if any).

26(c) Statutory reserve 26(c) SEEfRAME

RIBAABA AR LN P B MK
MR Z REMRE  AEER
B E M B A R AR E TOAER
e AEREBAANBMER &
RABRERBICRBRINEA
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

26. RESERVES (conTINUED)
26(d)Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign operations
in consolidation.

26(e)Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted to employees and non-employees and is
dealt with the accounting policy as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “"Option
Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2019. The
major terms of the Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(@) The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
for eligible participants to work with commitment towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the shares for the
benefit of the shareholders of the Company to retain and
attract persons whose contribution are or may be beneficial
to the growth and development of the Group.

(b)  The eligible participants of the Option Scheme include: (a)
any executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Group or any entity in which the Group holding
any equity interest (“Invested Entity"); (b) any non-executive
director (including independent non-executive directors) of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and (c) any non-employees
(including but not limited to supplier, customer, consultant,
adviser, contractor, business partner or service provider of
the Group or any Invested Entity) in the absolute discretion
of the board of directors in the determination of who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

(c)  The maximum number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

(d)

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any twelve-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

There is no minimum period required for the holding of a
share option before it can be exercised.

A share option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined by the directors, the period may commence
on a day after the date upon which the offer for the grant of
share options is made but shall not be later than ten years
from the date of grant of the share option subject to any
provisions for early termination thereof.

Upon acceptance, the eligible participant shall remit
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be made
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
share option.

The exercise price of a share option shall not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations on the date of
the offer of the grant;

(i) the average closing price of the share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant; and

(i) the nominal value of the share of the Company.

The Option Scheme will expire on 27 May 2029.
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27. BBERERTE &)

(d)

RIBE AR 8 AN & BE T E b
BERETEREMNAME BERERETT
FRF AR RETHROBE - T
SHEBEMERETS B EE T
f& I 10% ©

Bu2EFXNEA+T _EAHERA
TTERIERERE 8 R AKEEMA
HipfB st 8 (BECTTREE A
IR Z B MER ZBREME
BITRAREETZIRNDBE  TF
BBAAREREHITRAN1% °

EITERBRERN  TERAEHAEE
i) Ax A2 HARR

BhENEEZEMRENHEABE
RETTE - ez B AT R BB A ) 2
HWEEBHR—-BRGE BTEE
REBRER L ARES 4 B4
R BRRR P LEHESFTRR -

AERZMENRESER  BARARA
AIEF1.00BTTIEAR THNRE -
MEEREEE S - AEREZEHE T
FERREE BRRET 21 RE -

ERENTEETNSENRUTEHE
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i) ARFIAROABFLEHERE
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 27. MERREHE o)
On 13 May 2020, options to subscribe 37,840,000 ordinary shares 202095 A13 8 @ IRIEEREEIRS
were granted to several eligible participants including directors, TEERL2BEEBRES  BERFEE
employees and non-employees under the Option Scheme at an 8 )% 7] 7R8E 37,840,000 A% & @M% 2 BB A%
exercise price HK$0.355 per share. The validity period of the share 1 TEEASR0.355 8T - BIRENS
options is ten years from the date of grant (i.e. from 13 May 2020 WME AR B ERET T F (B A 2020F
to 12 May 2030), of which 50% of the share option was exercisable 5A138 £2030F5H128 ) EH50%
and vested on the date of grant and the remaining 50% of the FMERENEE BB FIIERERS - m
share options shall be vested and exercisable from 13 May 2023 R 50% M RERRAE 7L 20235 A13HE
to 12 May 2030. Eligible participants are not required to complete 20305 H12BHBBRA T - &R
a specified period of service before becoming unconditionally SEEBBERRGEZEEZSEREATIA
entitled to those equity instruments. A SEAK 4 TE ) AR T% BR o
During the year ended 31 December 2024, 750,000 share options #H E 2024512 8318 Ik F E © 750,000
were forfeited (2023: 3,020,000 share options) and no share o BE RS AE (2023 9F © 3,020,000 17 5 2 12 )
options were granted and exercised. At 31 December 2024, the BEHSI  BEBIER kT E AR - I
number of shares in respect of options which had been granted 202612 A31H - EEERERBIEE
and remained outstanding under the Option Scheme was PRI B M ARITENBIRENROEE &
32,020,000 (2023: 32,770,000). 32,020,000 % (2023 4 : 32,770,000 f%) °
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE2024F12A3MBLEE
Number of share options
BRESE
Exercise price of Outstandingat  Exercisable at
Categories of Date of grant of share options  Exercise period Outstanding at Forfeited 31 December 31 December
participants share options HKS$  (both dates inclusive) FIELTER ARSI RG TR 2024 2024
BRE R2023F R 2024 5 R2024 5
R TRE TEHE 1A1H 12A310 12A318
SEEER BREBRH BT (BEEEWA) e RATE FERBEW e RATBE AT
Directors 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 14,020,000 - 14,020,000 14,020,000
= 20204658138 #2020F5A138F
203051285
GG
Employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 16,750,000 (750,000) 16,000,000 16,000,000
E& 20204658138 #2020F5A138F
203051285
GG
Non-employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
FEE 20204658138 #2020F5A138F
203051285
GG
Total 32,770,000 (750,000) 32,020,000 32,020,000
5t
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) 0.355 0.355 0.355
IETHITEECET)
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED) 27. REBRHEETEI (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12A31HILEE

Number of share options

[l d 4=
Exercise price of Outstanding at Exercisable at
Categories of Date of grant of share options  Exercise period Outstanding at Forfeited 31 December 31 December
participants share options HK$  (both dates inclusive) 1 January 2023  during the year 2023 2023
e R2023% 720235 R 2023F
e TRE TR 1A1H 12A31H 128318
SHEHER fEMRER BT (BEEEMA) W AT FRERY AT AT
Directors 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 14,020,000 - 14,020,000 14,020,000
= 20204658138 #2020F5A138F
203051285
RERTTIE
Employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 17,850,000 (1,100,000 16,750,000 16,750,000
E& 20204658138 #2020F5A138F
2030F5A 128
RERTTIE
Non-employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 3,920,000 (1,920,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
HFEE 2020655 13H #2020558138%
2030F5 A 1282
MR
Total 35,790,000 (3,020,000 32,770,000 32,770,000
2

Weighted average

exercise price (HK$) 0.355 0.355 0.355

IETFAITEECET)

The fair value of the share options on the date of grant is RETHH BERENAIALEDA

approximately HK$2,550,000. 2,550,000 7T °

The fair value of share options on the date of the grant is estimated BRENDAALEDNFA B ER G -

by using the Binomial Model with the following parameters: H280T -

Grant date 13 May 2020 & HH 202065 H13H

Exercise price HK$0.355 1T1E(E 0.35587C

Risk-free rate 1.02% 47 [ g ) 1.02%

Expected volatility* 36.206% TEHA R 0 36.206%

Expected dividend yield* 5.607% TEHARR Bl & 5.607%

* The expected volatility is with reference to historical price volatilities of * BB D2 EAR N R REBEEEUN
the share price of the Company and companies of the similar business ANRRENFESL KR WIEAWEAHE
nature, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to B BB RRERIERSEEL AR - B
publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on historical RS AESREAERN - THARE
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions would materially MR BHARERTEEEATE -

affect the fair value estimate.
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28. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 28. BEMRBLE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss) Profit before tax BREE AT (1R & F (10,790) 25,921
Depreciation of property, plant Y% - HERREITE
and equipment 50,899 50,708
Amortisation of deferred government i FE R T 17 B8R
grants (1,469) (1,456)
Write-down of inventories FEMR 3,589 6,100
Provision for (Reversal of) loss B Z e B R
allowance on trade receivables (BEEEHERD) 1,854 (570)
Interest income FLEWA (3,037) (2,933)
Changes in fair value of financial assets Z A EFT AR REEE
at FVPL NAEE (809) (953)
Finance costs B TSR N 2,802 5,436
Realised gain from the disposal HERQAEFT AR
of financial assets at FVPL TREEDZRWE (48) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEYE - HE L& EEIR
and equipment 122 27
Write-off of property, plant VI~ BB KR
and equipment 17 191
Write-off of other receivable Pl 88 EL b B LA SR IR 1,594 -
Waiver of withholding tax BB IET (2,204) -
Gain on termination of leased properties 4% 1FFHE ¥R (103) -
Exchange differences EHZERE (3,116) (1,905)
Changes in working capital: LEEEE
Inventories "rE 1,378 42,927
Trade and other receivables Z 5 REMERFIE (25,549) 121,180
Trade and other payables B 5 L E A R ROR 18,266 (142,635)
Cash generated from operations WEFSE T 33,396 102,038
170 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, further information of the related party
transactions is set out below.

(a) Transactions with related parties

The Group had entered into lease agreements with the
Ultimate Controlling Party and companies controlled by
the Ultimate Controlling Party to lease property and office
premises located in Hong Kong, respectively. In the opinion
of the management of the Group, they are under normal
commercial terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
best interests of the Group.

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

29. ABARS

Riza M BRREMMTAIEENRS
SN B E 2024 F K 2023F 128318 1F
FE - BERBB IR ZHE—ERET
N

() EHEBIzZX5

REE 7D B B A AR AR TT e S 442
BT e ER ARG L E -
EUREBEBNMENMAEDE -
AEEERERR ZERHHRK
ERBERGIET BBATAE
Y RFENEEAREN -

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
Related parties relationship Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BA 5 BB 1R REME THERT FHET
The Ultimate Controlling Party Lease payments 35
REEER T HERRK
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 5 4
HEBBENNERX
Companies controlled by the Lease payments 1,188 1,139
Ultimate Controlling Party MERK
AR T MR A B Interest expenses on lease liabilities 27 39

HEBENONEFX

(b) Balances with related parties

(b) EERARETS 2 AEER

Related parties relationship

2024
2024 F

Nature of transactions HK$'000

2023
20234
HK$'000

B 5 BB R XEME THERT FAT
The Ultimate Controlling Party Lease liabilities 48 127
BREERTT HEBE
Companies controlled by the Lease liabilities

Ultimate Controlling Party HEaE 1,012 1,027

AT MR IR A A

AREEEZERERAR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conTINUED)

(c) Remuneration for key management personnel
(including directors) of the Group:

29. EBA XS

(c) XEEXFEEBEAS(BRES)
HYHEN

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET

Salaries, allowances and other e ZARHEMEYMHIZE
benefits in kinds 20,048 19,880
Discretionary bonus BB TE4L 16 16

Contributions to defined contribution E Bt RET 2R

plans 101 101
20,165 19,997

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transaction in respect of Note 29(a) above
constitutes connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, the transaction is exempt
from the disclosure requirement in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as it is below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14 A.76(1).

30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
followings major non-cash transactions:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
transferred the share option reserve of approximately
HK$42,000 (2023: HK$234,000) to accumulated profits
as the forfeiture of share options.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the
payables for construction in progress of approximately
HK$101,000 (2023: HK$205,000), which were
not settled and were credited to the payables for
construction in progress.
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5
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42,0008 70 (20234 : 234,000
VBT )E RS MY B IR 48

ERERF ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions (Continued)
(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group incurred additional payables of approximately
HK$758,000 (2023: HK$1,917,000) to constructors for

the addition of property, plant and equipment.

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
has terminated leased properties with the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
balance of approximately HK$1,214,000 (2023:
HK$74,000) and approximately HK$1,317,000 (2023:

HK$76,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into lease arrangements in respect of leased
properties with a total capital value at the inception

of leases of approximately HK$8,738,000 (2023:

HK$2,686,000).
(vii During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the restricted bank balances of approximately
HK$7,171,000 were released by the order of the
People’'s Government of Huizhou City and consequently
paid to the sub-contractor for the settlement of
payables for construction in progress.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The movements in the Group's liabilities from financing
activities are as follows:

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

0. FHBERECHEMEHE)

FEFBRERZ @)

(i) EHZE2024F12H31HIEF

B AEERABEVE  BE

R A A FRINE AR

FRIBH) 758,000/ 7T (20234 -
1,917,0007T) °

HZE2024%F12A3181EF
B AEEDRIAEYE
FRAEEENTHEAENIE
HHRREDRI451,214,0008
TC(20234F : 74,0008 ) &
#91,317,0008 7T (20234 -
76,000,87T ) °

HE2024% 128318 15
B AREBERAEEWET LA
ETH HERHTREARE
{E498,738,000/8 7T (20234 -
2,686,000, ) °

(a)

(iv)

HE2023%12H31H8 1t
FE IXBRHIRITEHRY
7,171,000 L ERERIMT A
RERHERER  BEIM
FoOBEENEEEELIEERN
FRIE o

(vi)

(b) BMEFHRELERBENOHIR

AEERERHFAELRENED
(I

Payables for Interest-
construction bearing Lease
in progress  borrowings liabilities Total
ENER
TRERIE FTEER HEAR #Et
Year ended 31 December 2024 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2024F12ANALEE FET FTET TR FTHET
At the beginning of REEE
the reporting period 3,096 61,939 3,818 68,853
Financing cash flows MERSRE (1,555) (29,930) (2,885) (34,370)
Additions NE 758 - 8,738 9,496
Termination ik - - (1,317) (1,317)
Imputed interest expenses FEETFIB X 101 - - 101
Effect of foreign exchange fERFFH TR
rate changes (51) (788) (55) (894)
At the end of the reporting RIEHR
period 2,349 31,221 8,299 41,869
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

EFRASRECHMEZH )

(b) BMEFDRELRENHEKR@®

Payables for Interest-
construction bearing Lease
in progress  borrowings liabilities Total
e
THERIE FTREX HEBE HEt
Year ended 31 December 2023 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HZE2023F12A31BILFE FHET TET TET TET
At the beginning of RERE ER Y]
the reporting period 15,258 128,813 3,713 147,784
Financing cash flows BERERE (6,848) (65,757) (2,549) (75,154)
Acquisition of a subsidiary U i — PRI ff BB A ) - 69 69
Additions nE 1,917 - 2,686 4,603
Termination Sl - - (76) (76)
Remittance from restricted PE H 2 PR I SR 1T A5 &4
bank balance (7,177) - - (7,171)
Imputed interest expenses JEEﬂ‘ﬂ b3 205 - - 205
Effect of foreign exchange MRS E
rate changes (265) (1,117) (25) (1,407)
At the end of the reporting RIREHIR
period 3,096 61,939 3,818 68,853
31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. MERREEERRBE
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of rental

deposits, financial assets at FVPL, interest-bearing borrowings,
payables for construction in progress, lease liabilities and
bank balances and cash. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise and maintain finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial instruments
such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables,
which arise directly from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from its unlisted
investments in key management insurance contracts which are
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair value of the unlisted
investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which are at
the discretion of the issuer of the investments. Such contracts
have minimum guaranteed returns during the holding period.
The management of the Group is of the opinion that the price risk
arising from the contracts is not significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing borrowings of
approximately HK$nil (2023: HK$20,625,000) with floating interest
rate. The Group currently does not have a policy to hedge against
the interest rate risk as the management of the Group does not
expect any significant exposure from interest rate fluctuations at
the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has been
1% (2023: 1%) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's pre-tax results would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$nil (2023: HK$206,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rate had occurred throughout the year
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the
closing balance of the interest-bearing borrowings in existence
at the end of the reporting period. The stated changes represent
management’'s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the year.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the reporting period.
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31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

| 31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31. MERBREEAREBE»

' POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Foreign currency risk SMEE B B
The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in HK$, US$ and AEBORSEEUNET  ELRARE
RMB. FHE -
Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are AEENETEREERERBENASE
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of BEEREEBUIINNEREEE B\
the respective group entities and therefore exposed to foreign RN R - ZEemEERBENERER
currency risk. The carrying amounts of those financial assets and BT :

liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets Financial liabilities
TRUEE LRA R

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F 2024 £ 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T F#ET FAT

HK$ BT 5,688 3,726 126 754
us$ EIH 149,007 122,850 37,924 26,854
RMB AR 11,743 126 2 -
The following table indicates the approximate change in the TRIINEREHRET ETEARE
Group's pre-tax results if exchange rates of HK$, US$ and RMB HESBEEBHNINEEE # 5% (2023
had changed against the functional currencies of the respective F:65%) B BEMESREBENER
group entities by 5% (2023: 5%) and all other variables were held TAREERBRAIEENRNEE) -

constant at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
HK$ BT 278 149
us$ E 5,554 4,800
RMB AR 587 6
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the BN AT THRN R AR SN [ R BB AR5
changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the BHARBEEREEARAEEEAGFEENS
reporting period and had been applied to the Group's exposure to BTAMEYRKRMOBMEEMES
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, (LENER)RBREERERE -
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The stated changes represent management’'s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the reporting period.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated financial statement, which is net of loss allowances,
represents the Group's exposure to credit risk without taking
into account the value of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets, except that settlement of certain trade receivables are
backed by bills issued by reputable financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets
and other items under ECL model. Information about the Group's
credit risk management and the related impairment assessment,
if applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
determines credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed
by reputable Hong Kong or PRC banks if trade receivables are
settled by bills and therefore the management of the Group
considers the credit risk arising from the endorsed or discounted
bills is insignificant. In this regard, the management of the Group
considers that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

&m 5 Bil 75 R 2R il X
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

31.

Tian

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had a concentration of credit
risk as approximately 19.1% (2023: 24.6%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest trade debtor, and
approximately 61.4% (2023: 67.8%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's five largest trade debtors.

Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with significant
balances are assessed for ECL individually. Except for trade
debtors that are subject to individual evaluation, which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on certain common credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group's ageing of outstanding
balances.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12-month
ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12-month ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management of the Group
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management of the Group believes that there
is no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on
12-month ECL. Except for the write-off of other receivables of
approximately HK$1,594,000 due to known insolvencies from
the deregistration of the counter-party during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group assessed the ECL for the remaining
other receivables and deposits are insignificant and thus no loss
allowance is recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. MERBEERHEREER @
POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE @

Other receivables and deposits (Continued) E W IE R T (%)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the REBEHRNBEERBTRTEEEAT
following categories: Hhl

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables assets
R RS B RTAR fat B 5 BWRIE HttEmMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
i9ERE RSHFRORRE - WERE(IRHZKIE REFEDEHEEBE - 12EA7EH
FEERE EEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
but usually settles in full not credit-impaired
BERyE BEARBHEINRRRESR BEFEREHEESE - 12@AEH
BEFEIHEEEMER FEERE EEFBE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-
information developed internally or impaired
external resources
2=4 EERBRE B BAEHIMEERELA BREFEREHEERE —BEAFTENES
éﬂ%ﬂiﬁﬁauxaﬁyﬁ%tﬂ FEERE EEEE -
FEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
E1R BRBETEECHREERE REFEBEBEEEE —BEFEREL
EERE EEER—
EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no written off
realistic prospect of recovery
i sH BEBREHABARENIEREE MEEHESER Wi B RS E

AREEWK A BEFURAT S
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposure of the Group's

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

31. MERREEEEREEK &)

EERE @)

B WK RRIZE ()

TRAMAEEEETRIMEEBEN S
MEREENEERR

2024 2023
Financial assets External Internal 12-month or CILCERENRTI Gross carrying
at amortised cost credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
REBHE AR 12 {8 A REAE 2024 F 20234
HNEMEE SIS B FEAR ARBEETR FEHRBEESE FREAA{E BREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Trade receivables 17 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not 78,885 53,676
credit-impaired
B 5 e IE TEm iV BEFEBERER
EiE - JEEERE
Watch list Lifetime ECL - not 6,218 8,511
credit-impaired
BReE BREFEPERER
BE-EEERE
Watch list Lifetime ECL 43,778 41,193
(Note 2) (provision matrix)
BREE BREFERESREE
(Wit 2) 18 (B 7ERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL - 4,341 4,408
credit-impaired
&8 BEFEBEHER
EiE—-EERE
133,222 107,788
Other receivables and deposits 17 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 1,716 3,962
Hith FEUCHIE R iR & @A (Ftat1) 1218 R EE B &8
Bank balances 18  From BBB+ to A+ N/A 12-month ECL 129,454 132,590
RITAEER i BBB+ & A+ A 2 EAEBEERE
Notes: Bt
1 For other receivables and deposits, the credit risk on the balances is low 1 MEMERFERIESMES @ £#HNEER

as the counter parties have good repayment history. The amount of loss
allowance assessed by 12-month ECL is insignificant.

2 For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except
for credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with significant
balances are assessed for ECL individually, the Group assesses the loss
allowance on the remaining debtors by using a provision matrix, grouped

by past due analysis.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing

For the remaining debtors, the Group assess the impairment
for large number of small customers with certain common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to repay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix based primarily
on the debtors’ ageing profiles. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed based on provision matrix at 31 December
2024 within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). As part of the
Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit
rating for its customers.

1. BERBEREERBE»

EE R
FEEIE I — JEN AR AR

BB TEBERMNS  A5EEFHAEA
ERTHRREBRFHNNEF R AR
T BREREAREZSEFPRESY
GBS ERAEISRIENEE S - HERE
HEME ARG EREBUEBANR
B RIIE - TREYIBEMN 2026512 A
31 BIRIBBEEEREEAFTEREREER
BB (IEEERE) AT ENE 5 WK
HHEERBER - (FEAAEEEERR
BEEMN—ED  AEEHERFERAAI
EEFL -

Gross carrying amount REAE
2024 2023

2024 % 20234
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate  receivables
g5 =
EHEER AVETREN o E IR R FEU FRIE
% HK$ % HK$
BT BT
Not past due im A EI 2R 1.15% 29,366 0.50% 34,267
1 - 30 days past due BERH1E30H 5.29% 12,138 3.51% 5,164
31 - 60 days past due BRHI31E 60 H 30.69% 1,160 14.13% 1,720
61 - 90 days past due BEIEf61E90H 37.13% - 12.65% 25
Over 90 days past due BRHE BN E 100.00% 1,114 100.00% 17
43,778 41,193

ERTEIR R TSR USRS FE I F AR A
EERENFETH  URERNT LB
LA WA SR ATRE E B RHEH 38
X -BETFaAKETEE TSR -
PAREOR S 3 8115 1€ R MR SRAERE N B Y o

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by the management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing (Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, for debtors that are individually
assessed, lifetime ECL rates are assessed as insignificant based
on historical credit loss experience and forward-looking elements
and the Group determines that no loss allowance is necessary in
respect of these balances for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023. Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with
significant balances with gross carrying amounts of approximately
HK$4,341,000 (2023: HK$4,408,000) and approximately
HK$85,103,000 (2023: HK$62,187,000), respectively, at 31

December 2024 were assessed individually.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,854,000 (2023: reversed
impairment loss of HK$570,000) loss allowance for trade

receivables based on the provision matrix.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

approach.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. MERREEEEREEK &)

EERRE®
FE (BB [ — U AR L BR e ()

R 2024F K 2023F 128318 » B ERIFTE
HWEBAMES - RIBBEEEBELR
LAEMEx  BREFEMEREEBE
FEFHAETERN MASERTHZE
2024 F N 2023 F 12 AN B IEFEETZH
ZEEBITIRBIEEME - 12024512 A
JIH EEREEZBEREZRRAEBXR
BEHRNEZBWESRREDRED N A
4,341,000 T0(2023 4F - 4,408,000;% 7T ) K.
#85,103,00078 JTL(20234F © 62,187,000,%
Jr) B EERIFHSE -

HE02LE12ANBILEEE  AEFER
ER B R BRI E A 1847 1,854,000 7T
(20237 - [EI#EREEE 570,000,87T)

TRERMUREC T EERE ZEUGIR
MEEFENEMEEERNES -

Lifetime ECL
(non credit-
impaired)

EEFES

Lifetime
ECL (credit-

impaired)
REFEY

EHREEEE

(EERE)

HK$'000

FET

BHEEER
(A FAZERME)
HK$'000

FExT

met
HK$'000
FExT

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1,204 4,422 5,626
Changes due to financial M 2023%F1 A1 BRER

instruments recognised SRLTAS|IEEE) -

at 1 January 2023:
e Impairment losses reversed ® D EIBEEEE (618) - (618)
New financial assets originated ~ ¥TREE B ESTA 48 - 48
Exchange realignments R (16) (14) (30)
At 31 December 2023 R 2023F 12 A31B R

and 1 January 2024 20241 A1H 618 4,408 5,026
Changes due to financial M 20241 A1 BIER

instruments recognised SR T AS|BEE) :

at 1 January 2024:
e Impairment losses reversed ® D EIERERIE 9) - (9)
New financial assets originated ~ FTRIE B EHNTAE 1,863 - 1,863
Exchange realignments PE 5 (23) (67) (90)
At 31 December 2024 7202412 431 H 2,449 4,341 6,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over 2 years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group has taken legal action
against the debtors to recover the amount due.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of payable
for construction in progress, interest-bearing borrowings and
lease liabilities. The Group has no specific policy for managing its
liquidity. The undiscounted contractual maturity liabilities profile
of the Group's financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period,
based on contractual undiscounted payments, is categorised
below:

Total
carrying
amounts

con
undis

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

31.

Total
tractual
counted

cash flow

=] n’]

RERRE

REESE
HK$'000
TER

At 31 December 2024 R2024%12831H

iﬁasmu gE
HK$'000

TR

MERBREEEERBE

EERB @
TR GAEIE — [EW ARSI (8)

ﬁﬁéﬂ%%ﬁﬁAﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁl%
HH&@W\I—E—H' T=BTE(MEBAERRE
iEﬁA@E&V HE S EBKIED
BERMEA F(AREERE)) » KEE
M EHE 5 YRR - NEBE RZER
ABRBUERITEN LA B B B BAFIE -

B B

$EIE’JETTTJUJEEJJ%FEHE§$IF?K
CETEERREEEBEEEREREL
Eﬁi?zﬁé 12 R T o KB BIK
ﬁaﬁﬁi\mﬁﬁjﬂﬁ F\\F&%Hﬂi $%%
REHNARBBANTNAEE SR B ERE
BEHNFHaERR BT

Less than

1 year or
on demand
15

AN
REREE
HK$'000
THERT

1-2 years 2-5 years

2E55
HK$'000
FET

1826
HK$'000
FET

Trade and other payables &5 & H b &8 118,571 118,571 118,571 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 8,299 8,933 2,408 2,029 4,496
Interest-bearing SEEBRNE)
borrowings (Note) 31,221 31,221 31,221 - -
Payables for BRI RINIE
construction in progress 2,349 2,567 101 109 2,357
160,440 161,292 152,301 2,138 6,853
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318
Trade and other payables & 5 & H ftb & 38 104,728 104,728 104,728 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 3818 3978 2,501 946 531
Interest-bearing HEBRNE)
borrowings (Note) 61,939 61,941 61,941 - -
Payables for construction &R TI2FA
in progress 3,096 3,448 1,046 106 2,296
173,581 174,095 170,216 1,052 2,827
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 31. MERREREERBK &)
POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued) Th BN B B ()
Note: The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that include a Mat - ROTERMHE(BIE—IEL TRITERIK

clause that gives the banks unconditional rights to call the loans at
any time are classified under the category of “Less than 1 year or on
demand”. However, the management of the Group does not expect that
the banks would exercise such rights to demand repayment and thus
these borrowings, which include the related interest, would be repaid
according to the below schedule as set out in the loan agreements.

B & SR B R MM VRSO R T REE
WEBEED AN FUTHRERER IE
Bl o AW AKREEEFEARTIE
TR SEMENRER - Bt - ZHFEK
(BIERBERLE) BIRE SR BT Tt
B REE -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Less than 1 year or on demand TFATSIREK(EE 17,164 53,160
1-2 years 18225 15,071 9,023
2-5 years 2E54F - 2,290
32,235 64,473
32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 32. AREEE

AT TRBEMBREEMNE 13RI AR
BB IMRAEZANBE=ERERZ A
RAEERRREEEENGRE PR
REBLAABZEENREE  MARER
ENERHERAEAEAFEZRER
B ABIRFEEDE - GARBERA
M -

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair
value or required to disclose their fair value in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value
Measurement” with the fair value measurement categorized in its
entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

F-EBER(E&ESMAN)  AEBEER

EHAESHHEREERABTEE
BTS2 WECRERHE)

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active °
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within e ZE_Ef KRE-ESKMMBEEI®
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either BN BEEREBENEEXEE
directly or indirectly; RIS 2 8 ABUE

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or e ZE-EfRZERLR): EEXBE
liability. ZEFBRBARIE -

184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (cONTINUED)

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

fm 5 Bil 15 $R 2} Bl aE

Year ended 31 December 2024 #(ZE2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

32. RERE®

a) EHFBENEERAE

2023
2024 F 2023 %F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Assets measured at fair value HURAREGENEE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBERABENCREE
— Unlisted investments —JEEMRE
- key management —TZEBEAEBRBRED
insurance contracts (Note 15) (Bt 15) 25,981 32,626

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair

value measurements.

B E202469F N 2023F12 A31H IE
FE F—EH-

E_EREE=

EBRAREFEZETEEE -

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total unrealised gain recognised RIBE R AR BRI A58
in profit or loss 809 953

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the surrender cash value, which
is primarily based on the performance of the underlying

TREEEBRRANNAARELZ
ERRACEETE  ZREEIE
ZERNRITEMRSNABKREMA

investment portfolio, reported by the bank on a regular aRHE -
basis.
b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure, but b) WEAABEFRUAAEITEN
not measured at fair value EERAEE
All other financial assets and liabilities are carried at FEEMeRmEERBEHNER
amounts not materially different from their fair values at 31 2024 FF ] 2023F 12 A3THM AL
December 2024 and 2023. BYEEREZENSTEE -
33. COMMITMENTS 33. X&ifE
Capital expenditure commitments (a) EARBZEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Contracted but not provided net RAEEIRIMHERTLD
of deposits paid for construction BREBEESITEGIRIZS)
in progress = 181

AREEEZERERAR

202LFF 3R

185
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 2024 F 12 A31 HIEFE

34 SXEH

AEBMEAEEFZEENRERNER
BELENAEZEA MR HAEE
T o AEBERHEAREBWELFAE
BIEMESEEASZMRKRE - BRESH
BABEINEE N EEENREAR-
HZE2024F K% 2023F 12 A3 HILFE -
BiZ - RS2 EEL2E) -

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment of
dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from equity
owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. XAFHMBERAE

COMPANY
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries AN B AR —* —*
Current assets REBEE
Due from the subsidiaries A ENGIE L] 35(b) 99,570 100,009
Other receivables E b fE YR IE 262 226
Income tax recoverable AR B FT1S R 18 145
Bank balances RTITHE SR 389 Lbb
100,239 100,846
Current liabilities REBaE
Other payables H b EFIE 563 643
Net current assets REEEFE 99,676 100,203
NET ASSETS EEFE 99,676 100,203
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 25 62,000 62,000
Reserves 5 35(a) 37,676 38,203
TOTAL EQUITY R 99,676 100,203

* Amounts less than HK$1,000

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and signed

T 1,000,872 25

B IR R 20256 F3 28 HEEFEE
HERITIEFZEL AU T EFLRFE T

on its behalf by
CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan
Director Director
EZE EZE

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. FAFHMERAZ®

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

35(a) Movement of share capital and reserves

35(a) RARFEENEE

Share

Share option Accumulated
premium reserve profits Total
RERE BRERE ZET BT st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FET
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 818 34,203 2,435 1,386 38,024
Profit and total F R M R 2 W e R
comprehensive income
for the year - - 12,579 12,579
Forfeit of share fER R W (et 27)
options (Note 27) - (234) 234 -
Dividends (Note 71) e (HraE11) - - (12,400) (12,400)
At 31 December 2023 7R2023F12A31H 34,203 2,201 1,799 38,203
At 1 January 2024 7R2024F 1818 34,203 2,201 1,799 38,203
Profit and total FRRMEEEN=ERE
comprehensive income
for the year - - 8,773 8,773
Forfeit of share options  BERRHE QU (H7aE27)
(Note 27) - (42) 42 -
Dividends (Note 1) B (Bt 11) - - (9,300) (9,300)
At 31 December 2024 R 2024%F12831H 34,203 2,159 1,314 37,676

35(b) Due from the subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

35(b) FE UL B A RIFRIE

FEA KT B AR RIATEIER - 28

RBmEREER -
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

7h oF Bl 55 ek 3t

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, the annual report for the
years ended 31 December 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020, is set out below.

WNFEERE AFIR - HZE 20234 20224 - 2021
FR2020F12A3MBIEFENFR NEE
RBEREMBREENEEUREERBER
A e

RESULTS XiR
For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023
20204 2021 2022 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHEIT FHEIT
Revenue U 25 787,394 1,117,688 1,143,941 697,514 539,611
Cost of goads sold 725 on 38 65 AR (593,697) (863,830) (883,868) (561,600) (429,488)
Gross Profit EF 193,697 253,858 260,073 135,914 110,123
Other income E bl A 7,588 7,105 7,923 16,082 8,495
Other gains and (losses), net E S K (E518)F%58 818 1,062 (7,669) (1,825) (2,427)
Impairment losses Yz - BB & - (7,889) - - -
on property, plant B
and equipment B EE
Reversal of (Provision for) & ZEWFKIEEE (1,101 (349) 216 570 (1,854)
loss allowance on BR[O
trade receivables (E1ERHE)
Selling and distribution costs $#% & 2 $#5 2 (8,477) (7,424) (5,795) (4,604) (5,606)
Administrative and other TN EfAE &R (96,175) (126,290) (130,714) (114,780) (116,719)
operating expenses
Finance costs EURID N (8,822) (7,667) (7,208) (5,436) (2,802)
Profit (Loss) before tax BRELANER (BE) 87,528 112,406 116,826 25,921 (10,790)
Income tax expenses FrS®if (13,814) (16,142) (10,881) (2,464) (2,875)
Profit (Loss) for the year  FRFI (E518) 73,714 96,264 105,945 23,457 (13,665)
Other comprehensive HEA2m(EE) W 34,542 29,093 (66,607) (10,019) (14,856)
(loss) income
Total comprehensive 2HENE(EER) B 108,256 125,357 39,338 13,438 (28,521)
income (loss)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 2021 2022 F 2023 %F 2024 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHETT FHEIT FHEIT FHT
Total assets B EE 1,163,290 1,347,035 1,204,613 974,381 924,313
Total liabilities FEN=L 525,062 592,247 422,887 191,617 179,370
Total equity B 638,228 754,788 781,726 782,764 744,943

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2024
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